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7% 2017 12.4% 13.3%
MENA
ciIB
CIB 2018
2
GTB
22%
2018 GTB e-Channel
GCF
7% 2018 2 MENA
2018 MENA
30
2
GM ALM
2017
14%
GM 1
2018 MENA
PBG
PBG 2018
PBG
2018

UAE
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UAE Asset Manager of the Year 2018  Sukuk
Manager of the Year 2018

2018 ADNIF FAB
47 Emirati Al Awwal
Abu Dhabi Pay
2030
PBG

Payit

UAE
2017 309,317 2018

8,006
IT
IT

NBAD FGB IT IT
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2018 12 31
15
2018 12 31 UAE 79 568  ATM
2018 12 31 2,447
2018 12 31
7,388

2018 12 31
19,095
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ADX 2000
2018 12 31 10,897,545
2017 12 31
10,897,545 25 UAE
2018 12 31
10,897,545 10,897,545
2018 12 31
10,897,545 ADX
2014 12 31
430,556 4,736,112 430,556 4,736,112
2015 1231 473,611 5,209,723 473,611 5,209,723
2016 12 31
44,823 5,254,546 44,823 5,254,546
2017 12 31
5,643,000 10,897,545 5,643,000 10,897,545
2018 12 31
0 10,897,545 0 10,897,545
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2014 2015
2013
39,584 391,414
2017 2017 FGB
5,643,000,000 FGB NBAD 1.254
2018 12 31
9 911 3,716 4636
* 3,835,344,574 | 3,837,571,501 2,700,586,120 10,872,014,481
35.28 39.88 24 .84 100.00

ADX

25,530,837
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(2018 12 31 )
3,634,790 33.4
61999
401,507 3.7
15
MDC 2017 30 FGB
7.1 3.7
2018 21 UAE
ADIC
MIC ADIC  MIC
MIC MDC ADIC MIC
37.1 6CC 10.7  6CC UAE
1.1 UAE ADIC 51.1
ADIC
10 50
10

50

10
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2019 25 0.74
2017 0.70 2017
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2014 12 31 2015 12 31 2016 12 31 2017 12 31 2018 12 31

AED 15.68 12.73 10.35 11.5 14.84
AED 9.14 7.65 6.86 9.75 10.25
ADX
ADX 2019 13 ADX
2018 2018 2018 2018 10 2018 11 2018 12
AED 13.60 14.80 14.74 14.84 14.80 14.12
AED 12.10 13.50 14.10 13.80 13.60 13.60
ADX
ADX 2019 13 ADX
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(2018 12
31 )
H.H.
1968
H.H. Sheikh Tahnoon 12
Bin Zayed Al Nahyan
ETECH Mana
HE International
o 1961 Petroleum Investment Company
H.E. Nasser Ahmed 26
Alsowaidi
ADIA
ADNOC
16
H.E.
UAE
1978
H.E. Sheikh 10 19
Mohammed Bin Saif
Bin Mohammed Al
Nahyan
Mubadala Investment Company
E
HE. CEO
UAE
1976
H.E. 2007
Khaldoon Khalifa Al 27
Mubarak
UAE
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Bin Srour
H.E. ) _
Engineering
1971 1996 2009
H.E. Sheikh DSSCB
Ahmed Mohammed
Sultan Al Dhaheri
Abu Dhabi National Hotels Company
ADNH
H.E.
1966
H.E. Mohammed UAE .
Thani Al Romaithi ) Al Etihad
Credit Bureau
ADIC
H.E.
1974 ADIA
H.E.
_ 11
Khalifa Sultan Al
Suwaidi
UAE
Barakah One
Abu
Dhabi Financial Group ADFG
Abu
H.E. Dhabi Capital Group
N 1984 )
H.E. Jassim 26 Petroleum Institute
Mohammed Al
Siddiqi
Shuaa Capital
Eshraq
Properties
Abu Dhabi Fund for
H.E. Development
1968 11
H.E. Mohammed 10
Saif Al Suwaidi
Aghtia
UAE Red Cresent
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10 : )
(2017 12
31 )
Mubadala
Investment Company
Sky News Arabia
1957 Reen
) Investments
Abdulhamid 10 14 UAE
M.Saeed
35
CIB 20
2006
2017 FGB
FGB
UAE
BB+
AA_
1954
André Sayegh 11

CIB
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PBG
20
DU
1972 EIBFS
PBG FAB
Hana Al 19
Rostamani MasterCard Advisory
VISA International
Association
25
1964
Karim Karoui 16
UAE 2001 ( FGB
2008
2017
IHEC
FAB FAB
ANZ
1968 ANZ
31
James Burdett ANZ HSBC
17
HSBC
HSBC
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HSBC ANZ
ANZ Grindlays Bank
Standard Chartered
1966 Bank KPMG  PwC
Arif Shaikh UAE
2016
FGB NBAD
2017
2017
1959
) ) ) FGB
Zulf!qar Ali 3 2004
Sulaiman
FGB
35
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2017
Dubai Holding

Dubai Holding
Commercial Operations Group 2.25

FAB
1964

Fadhel A. B. Al Bank SA
Ali

FAB (Suisse) Private

Abu Dhabi Capital Group
Abu Dhabi
Financial Group
MIRA Bank

H Hotel & Resort Management

2001
2005
Dubai Holding UAE

1971 25

Peter Baker 80

Damco

EMEA
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30
1966
UAE
Nurendra Perera
CIA CFSA CRMA
ISACA CISA CRISC
CIB
INSEAD
2013
Turkiye Finans Katilim Bankasi
1968 NCB NCB
Shireesh Bhide 29 KSA
28
19

FGB

UAE
UAE
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FGB

2015 2 9

FGB

UAE
UAE SCA

70/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

BMC

BMC

BAC)

BAC

BRCC

BRCC

REMCO

REMCO

SSB
SSB

SSB
SSB

1SU

1SU
SSB

2018
IT

71/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

2018

FAB UAE

UAE
UAE

UAE

UAE UAE
UAE UAE SCA 2018
UAE

GDPR

UAE UBF
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ESG
UAE
2018
UBF UAE UAE Corporate Governance
Regulations and Standards UAE
UAE 5,369,549 975,356 6,344,905
592,478 - 1,200,107
71,278 76,210 147,488
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85,160 7,516 92,676
107,494 79,467 186,962
233,370 84,000 317,370
223,045 137,361 360,406
AlB* - - -
183,707 245,642 429,349
* 250,732 624,795 875,527
212,398 - 212,398
112,568 38,974 151,542
ADNL* 25,175 - 25,175
200,007 96,830 296,837
ADNP* 36,173 - 36,173
ADNIF* 75,128 - 75,128
FAB 247,649 - 247,649
- 159,153 159,153
25,807 - 25,807
DIFC* - - -
257,317 - 828,664
8,309,035 2,525,304 12,013,315
AED
UAE 3,819,586 1,153,094 4,972,680
715,803 149,018 864,821
166,441 48,564 215,005
107,504 151,928 259,432
106,561 - 106,561
191,914 183,824 375,739
382,063 43,052 425,115
AlIB* - - -
40,154 233,691 273,845
604,282 377 604,659
66,526 - 66,526
90,879 43,978 134,857
ADNL* 40,461 - 40,461
464,825 56,626 521,451
ADNP* 16,490 - 16,490
ADNIF* 163,351 - 163,351
FAB - - -
104,917 19,641 124,558
DIFC* - - -
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303,390 - 303,390

7,438,627 2,083,794 9,522,420

Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
100,000
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IFRS

UAE

2018 12 31

131

2019 UFJ
29.56

IFRS
IFRS

23

23 25
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38 59

AED

IFRS

103

193
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12 31
2018 2017
182,908,727 5,406,781,970 138,111,054  4,082,562,756
14,620,910 432,194,100 19,320,764 571,121,784
10 19,176,092 566,845,280 13,829,490 408,799,724
11 19,033,451 562,628,812 21,346,974 631,016,551
39 13,084,192 386,768,716 11,399,432 336,967,210
12 353,205,228 10,440,746,540 330,465,888  9,768,571,649
13 90,433,574 2,673,216,447 88,457,710  2,614,809,908
14 7,388,493 218,403,853 6,972,692 206,112,776
15 3,991,215 117,980,315 3,535,501 104,509,410
16 16,699,711 493,643,457 19,901,374 588,284,615
17 20,583,602 608,451,275 15,672,416 463,276,617
741,125,195  21,907,660,764 669,013,295  19,776,033,000
18 40,266,535 1,190,278,775 30,576,336 903,836,492
19 34,769,685 1,027,791,889 37,674,016  1,113,643,913
20 18,144,105 536,339,744 24,124,097 713,108,307
39 15,219,464 449,887,356 14,941,331 441,665,744
21 465,475,874  13,759,466,835 395,843,664  11,701,138,708
22 42,268,173 1,249,447,194 42,145,718 1,245,827,424
23 401,979 11,882,499 420,381 12,426,462
24 25,606,380 756,924,593 21,033,339 621,745,501
642,152,195  18,982,018,884 566,758,882  16,753,392,552
25 10,897,545 322,131,430 10,897,545 322,131,430
53,188,043 1,572,238,551 53,026,644  1,567,467,597
(25,530) (754,667) (42,433) (1,254,319)
9,483,238 280,324,515 7,081,074 209,316,547
25 (37,477) (1,107,820) 962,736 28,458,476
26 10,754,750 317,910,410 10,754,750 317,910,410
27 266,841 7,887,820 256,265 7,575,193
- - 108,265 3,200,313
17,083,868 504,999,138 18,677,552 552,108,437
101,611,278 3,003,629,378 101,722,398  3,006,914,085
361,722 10,692,502 487,015 14,396,163
101,973,000 3,014,321,880 102,209,413  3,021,310,248
744,125,195  21,996,340,764 668,968,295  19,774,702,800

2019 31
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48
10

78/337



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Ooooood
12 31
2018 2017
28 21,836,404 645,484,102 16,331,787 482,767,624
29 (8,810,445)  (260,436,754) (4,935,594)  (145,896,159)
13,025,959 385,047,348 11,396,193 336,871,465
4,879,988 144,252,445 4,026,061 119,010,363
(1,487,616) (43,973,929) (1,128,206) (33,349,769)
30 3,392,372 100,278,516 2,897,855 85,660,594
31 2,042,480 60,375,709 928,188 27,437,237
32 826,225 24,423,211 686,131 20,282,032
33 158,706 4,691,349 472,090 13,954,980
19,445,742 574,816,134 16,380,457 484,206,309
3 (5.328,555)  (157,512,086) (4,901,496)  (144,888,222)
14,117,187 417,304,048 11,478,961 339,318,087
35 (1,725,794) (51,014,471) (2,086,717) (61,683,355)
12,391,393 366,289,577 9,392,244 277,634,733
36 (325,004) (9,607,118) (224,989) (6,650,675)
12,066,389 356,682,459 9,167,255 270,984,058
12,010,820 355,039,839 9,132,648 269,961,075
55,569 1,642,620 34,607 1,022,983
12,066,389 356,682,459 9,167,255 270,984,058
/) a 1.06 31.33 0.91 26.90
/ 1.06 31.33 0.91 26.90
) 41
48
10
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12 31
2018 2017
12,066,389 356,682,459 9,167,255 270,984,058
(270,017) (7,981,703) 44,878 1,326,594
(
) (936,930) (27,695,651) 212,420 6,279,135
(102,223) (3,021,712) - -
(13,601) (402,046) (7,102) (209,935)
(54,750) (1,618,410) (49,000) (1,448,440)
(1,377,521) (40,719,521) 201,196 5,947,354
10,688,868 315,962,938 9,368,451 276,931,412
10,655,460 314,975,398 9,314,218 275,328,284
33,408 987,540 54,233 1,603,127
10,688,868 315,962,938 9,368,451 276,931,412
48
10
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12 31
2018 2017
12,391,393 366,289,577 9,392,244 277,634,733
15,16 437,249 12,925,080 470,574 13,910,167

14 95,764 2,830,784 (179,916) (5,318,317)
(1,551) (45,848) (35,715) (1,055,735)
(111,422) (3,293,634) (2,214) (65,446)

35 2,029,564 59,993,912 2,384,494 70,485,643
36,452 1,077,521 84,952 2,511,181
(670,603) (19,823,025) 425,056 12,564,655
10,576 312,627 20,467 605,005
14,217,422 420,266,994 12,559,942 371,271,886
7,003,387 209,680,520 (2,343,581) (69,276,254)
(9,379,910) (277,270,140) (2,286,988) (67,603,365)
2,298,167 67,933,817 1,978,416 58,481,977
(26,951,609) (796,689,562) 9,340,457 276,103,909
(5,009,629) (148,084,633) 29,166 862,147
9,690,199 286,442,282 (21,993,151) (650,117,544)
(2,904,331) (85,852,024) 17,964,674 531,035,763
69,633,766 2,058,374,123 (2,933,193) (86,705,185)
(2,308,854) (68,249,724) 645,189 19,071,787
4,086,161 120,786,919 1,580,062 46,706,633
60,464,769 1,787,338,572 14,540,993 429,831,753

24 (293,342) (8,671,190) (278,196) (8,223,474)
(49,000) (1,448,440) (51,000) (1,507,560)
60,122,427 1,777,218,942 14,211,797 420,100,719
(5,381,782) (159,085,476) (12,721,340) (376,042,810)
(270,046) (7,982,560) (553,203) (16,352,681)
20,990 620,464 263,644 7,793,317
- - 121,258,636 3,584,405,280
(885,837) (26,185,342) (430,038) (12,711,923)
(6,516,675) (192,632,913) 107,817,699 3,187,001,182

27 178,302 5,270,607 34,025 1,005,779

25 (7,578,784) (224,028,855) (4,489,524) (132,710,329)
(5,979,992) (176,768,564) 2,130,547 62,978,969
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48

22
22
26

37
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9,076,645 268,305,626 3,135,955 92,698,830
(7,735,417) (228,658,927) (11,433,020)  (337,960,071)
(495,047) (14,633,589) (381,089) (11,264,991)
(12,534,293)  (370,513,701) (11,003,106)  (325,251,813)
41,071,459 1,214,072,328 111,026,390 3,281,940,088
134,605,917 3,978,950,907 23,579,527 697,010,818
175,677,376 5,193,023,235 134,605,917 3,978,950,907
10
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2017 1 1 4,500,000 - - 11,030,110 725,064 4,000,000 - - 16,969,016 37,224,190 432,782 37,656,972
_ - - - - - - - 9,132,648 9,132,648 34,607 9,167,255
- - - - 237,672 - - - (56,102) 181,570 19,626 201,196
( ) 6,397,545 52,997,018 (46,832)  (5,775,566) - 6,754,750 235,798 108,265 - 60,670,978 - 60,670,978
a4 - - - - - - - - (659,283) (659,283) - (659,283)
- - - 1,826,530 - - - - (1,826,530) - - 61
- - - - - - - - (1,108) (1,108) - (1,108)
27 - 29,626 4,399 - - - - - - 34,025 - 34,025
2017 - - - - - - - - (4,500,000) (4,500,000) - (4,500,000)
- - - - - - 20,467 - - 20,467 - 20,467
« 26 - - - - - - - - (381,089) (381,089) - (381,089)
2017 12 31 10,897,545 53,026,644 (42,433) 7,081,074 962,736 10,754,750 256,265 108,265 18,677,552 101,722,398 487,015 102,209,413
2018 10,897,545 53,026,644 (42,433) 7,081,074 962,736 10,754,750 256,265 108,265 18,677,552 101,722,398 487,015 102,209,413

2018 IFRS 9
- - - - (184,078) - - - (2,682,560) (2,866,638) (158,701) (3,025,339)

2018
10,897,545 53,026,644 (42,433) 7,081,074 778,658 10,754,750 256,265 108,265 15,994,992 98,855,760 328,314 99,184,074
- - - - - - - - 12,010,820 12,010,820 55,569 12,066,389
- - - - (1,287,009) - - - (68,351) (1,355,360) (22,161) (1,377,521)
_ - - - - - - - 7,597 7,597 - 7,597
27 - 161,399 16,903 - - - - - - 178,302 - 178,302
( ) - - - - - - - - (7,601,370) (7,601,370) - (7,601,370)
- - - - - - 10,576 - - 10,576 - 10,576
( 26) - - - - - - - - (495,047) (495,047) - (495,047)
- - - 2,402,164 108,265 - - (108,265) (2,402,164) - - -
IFRS - - - - 362,609 - - - (362,609) - - -
2018 12 31 10,897,545 53,188,043 (25,530) 9,483,238 (37,477) 10,754,750 266,841 - 17,083,868 101,611,278 361,722 101,973,000
48

10
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2017

11

44

2017

2017
2018
2018

2018

27

26)
12 3

IFRS 9

IFRS
2018

27

26)

12 31

48

133,020,000 - - 326,050,052 21,432,892 118,240,000 - - 501,604,113 1,100,347,056 12,793,036 1,113,140,092
- - - - - - - - 269,961,075 269,961,075 1,022,983 270,984,058
- - - - 7,025,584 - - - (1,658,375) 5,367,209 580,145 5,947,354

189,111,430 1,566,591,852  (1,384,354)  (170,725,731) - 199,670,410 6,970,189 3,200,313 - 1,793,434,110 - 1,793,434,110
R - - - - - - - (19,488,405) (19,488,405) - (19,488,405)
- - - 53,992,227 - - - - (53,992,227) - - -
- - - - - - - - (32,752) (32,752) - (32,752)
- 875,745 130,034 - - - - - - 1,005,779 - 1,005,779
- - - - - - - - (133,020,000) (133,020,000) - (133,020,000)
- - - - - - 605,005 - - 605,005 - 605,005
- - - - - - - - (11,264,991) (11,264,991) - (11,264,991)

322,131,430 1,567,467,597  (1,254,319) 209,316,547 28,458,476 317,910,410 7,575,193 3,200,313 552,108,437 3,006,914,085 14,396,163 3,021,310,248

322,131,430 1,567,467,597  (1,254,319) 209,316,547 28,458,476 317,910,410 7,575,193 3,200,313 552,108,437 3,006,914,085 14,396,163 3,021,310,248
- - - - (5,441,346) - - - (79,296,474) (84,737,819) (4,691,202) (89,429,021)

322,131,430 1,567,467,597  (1,254,319) 209,316,547 23,017,130 317,910,410 7,575,193 3,200,313 472,811,964 2,922,176,266 9,704,962 2,931,881,227
- - - - - - - - 355,039,839 355,039,839 1,642,620 356,682,459
- - - - (38,043,986) - - - (2,020,456) (40,064,442) (655,079) (40,719,521)
- - - - - - - - 224,567 224,567 - 224,567
- 4,770,954 499,653 - - - - - - 5,270,607 - 5,270,607
- - - - - - - - (224,696,497) (224,696,497) - (224,696,497)
- - - - - - 312,627 - - 312,627 - 312,627
R - - - - - - - (14,633,589) (14,633,589) - (14,633,589)
- - - 71,007,968 3,200,313 - - (3,200,313) (71,007,968) - - -
- - - - 10,718,722 - - - (10,718,722) - - -

322,131,430 1,572,238,551 (754,667) 280,324,515  (1,107,820) 317,910,410 7,887,820 - 504,999,138 3,003,629,378 10,692,502 3,014,321,880

10
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I1AS 39 2017 12 31 18,677,552 625,210 487,015 19,789,777
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602 (602) - -
(47,015) 47,015 - -
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2018 1 1 IFRS 15,994,992 441,132 328,314 16,764,438

121/337



EDINETOOOO
OOo0ooo0obDo0oDo00Do00oo00ooO00oDo0DO00DO000DO000DO0000O00DOogOn(E2s5742)

Oooooood
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138,111,054 - - (278,979) 137,832,075
FVTPL FVTPL

19,320,764 2,393,533 - - 21,714,297
13,829,490 - - (27,796) 13,801,694
21,346,974 - - (5,895) 21,341,079
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176,630,171 26,142 4,838,929 230,651 - - - - 181,469,100 256,793
18,540,275 19,658 685,973 30,498 - - - - 19,226,248 50,156
19,048,807 15,356 - - - - - - 19,048,807 15,356
336,129,675 1,507,539 17,228,374 4,063,427 8,894,605 4,682,146 4,803,837 1,630,136 367,056,491 11,883,248
5,630,295 2,736 - - - - - - 5,630,295 2,736
FVOCI 84,319,951 42,586 24,658 1,498 - - - - 84,344,609 44,084
12,110,664 102,321 425,367 1,568 - - - - 12,536,031 103,889
205,202,317 121,991 5,104,229 153,389 488,030 137,568 - - 210,794,576 412,948
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13,350,927 6,716 478,563 21,080 - - - - 13,829,490 27,796
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6,086,877 5,123 115,000 58,814 - - - - 6,201,877 63,937
FVOCI 79,562,572 47,067 26,535 2,046 - - - - 79,589,107 49,113
10,932,092 49,019 331,545 431 113 48 - - 11,263,750 49,498
188,454,138 206,352 6,599,105 333,156 368,148 201,951 - - 195,421,391 741,459
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-2.16% -7.01% -2.74% 0.88% 1.23%
20..34% -2.200 -3.88% -1.03% -0.41%
-28.69% -12.55% 4.47% 10.23% 6.98%
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28.97% 10.47% 15.35% 8.85% 8.48%
6.58% 13.33% 1.52% 1.27% 3.75%
-8.82% -2.63% 9.10% 5.14% 3.21%
-3.63% 0.67% 5.35% 3.04% 2.87%
-23.43% 2.35% 12.52% 9.01% 4.76%
GDP 1.54% 1.43% 1.67% 1.78% 1.74%
3.10% 2.95% 1.95% 1.63% 1.53%
-1.06% -0.54% 1.77% 2.37% 1.96%
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2017 IAS 39
2018 2017
8,146,848 - 4,581,263 - 12,728,111 4,468,060
- - - - - 8,919,060
- - - - - 325,260
IFRS (5,953,631) 6,405,571 265,455 2,383,559 3,099,954 -
2,193,217 6,405,571 4,845,718 2,383,559 15,828,065 13,712,380
(129,413) 129,413 - - - _
(152,427) - 152,427 - - -
141,307 (141,307) - - - -
- (2,533,498) 2,535,498 - - -
- 177,075 (177,075) - - -
10,423 - (10,423) - - -
(130,110) (2,370,317) 2,500,427 - - -
(188,697) 657,932 1,708,792 (364,204) 1,813,823 2,362,297
(36,081) (212,155)  (4,235,222) (389,220)  (4,872,678) (3,346,566)
1,838,329 4,481,031 4,819,715 1,630,135 12,769,210 12,728,111
1
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8 181,469,100 136,332,892
9 11,679,960 18,761,276
10 19,226,248 13,829,490
11 19,048,807 21,346,974
12 367,056,491 345,089,058
13 90,371,169 86,057,723
20,484,753 15,542,116

709,336,528 636,959,529

39 11,258,237 10,874,605
39 1,825,955 524,827
13,084,192 11,399,432

38 165,134,974 152,437,597
38 45,659,602 42,983,794
210,794,576 195,421,391

933,215,296 843,780,352
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2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
313,175 435,808 - - - - - -
35,074,356 24,225,459 14,134,203 13,169,794 - - 7,718,901 7,510,896
23,949,920 20,178,714 271,889 392,044 - - 5,704,950 4,653,908
8,727,362 12,034,840 151,922 72,941 - - 834,848 952,194
97,328,365 90,530,386 1,484,402 750,167 - - 7,514,438 13,361,067
22,882,591 22,877,522 88,183 126,687 - - 2,686,769 2,170,578
25,337,423 26,421,661 4,738,702 5,077,269 - - 3,702,437 5,196,425
28,472,001 21,099,155 24,343,036 26,090,385 17,467,876 17,970,093 - 667,569
28,844,388 26,641,128 15,386,871 17,883,900 1,580,931 3,376,881 3,718,900 2,709,145
22,351,610 24,228,514 140,337 485,699 - - 6,187,837 2,185,704
5,780,419 5,006,234 44,317,675 43,354,376 - - 6,610,027 1,159,921
55,661,533 58,363,714 - - - - 980,495 1,754,283
11,890,287 12,857,601 - - - - -
443,061 188,322 - 375,212 - - - 662,104
367,056,491 345,089,058 105,057,220 107,778,474 19,048,807 21,346,974 45,659,602 42,983,794
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OooooOodd
UAE
2018 12 31
47,026,895 72,551,134 6,508,746 57,009,376 69,369 - 183,165,520
6,769,352 1,768,902 2,606,908 1,234,093 1,943,808 297,847 14,620,910
1,498,500 8,045,846 3,931,969 4,762,883 430,776 556,274 19,226,248
3,443,738 9,302,435 5,604,980 - 146,704 550,950 19,048,807
1,726,108 8,975,904 962,168 115,023 1,302,345 2,644 13,084,192
230,883,881 40,954,112 29,518,809 29,948,854 31,483,051 4,267,784 367,056,491
31,920,824 17,602,295 15,668,070 10,700,661 13,689,257 855,203 90,436,310
323,269,298 159,200,628 64,801,650 103,770,890 49,065,310 6,530,702 706,638,478
2017 12 31
41,841,692 57,579,526 7,174,336 31,450,850 64,650 - 138,111,054
6,357,372 2,007,556 4,327,245 163,758 6,359,273 105,560 19,320,764
159,496 10,394,394 1,630,653 765,592 805,596 73,759 13,829,490
2,631,845 14,204,929 3,198,329 143,116 801,455 367,300 21,346,974
2,099,778 7,527,951 1,060,508 59,158 616,860 35,177 11,399,432
225,405,728 41,443,951 26,839,708 26,629,511 21,368,849 3,401,312 345,089,059
32,994,218 16,035,290 15,681,376 11,951,579 11,084,991 710,256 88,457,710
311,490,129 149,193,597 59,912,155 71,163,564 41,101,674 4,693,364 637,554,483
38
2018 2017 2018 2017
41,637,190 38,956,577 2,680,485 4,397,799
2,504,208 3,180,983 810,394 915,279
22,515,092 23,521,158 1,251,552 2,287,703
17,552,792 15,019,621 6,790,244 11,070,764
/ 6,227,028 7,779,371 3,088,235 649,219
90,436,310 88,457,710 14,620,910 19,320,764
(2,736) -
90,433,574 88,457,710 14,620,910 19,320,764

141/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Oooooood
(b)
FAB
ALCO
LCR FAB
LCR
UAE ELAR
G-ALCO
2018 12 31
182,908,727 173,951,213 8,957,514 - - - -
14,620,910 3,099,469 3,615,152 3,750,902 620,869 593,569 2,940,949
19,176,092 19,176,092 - - - - -
19,033,451 7,812,517 9,042,380 342,059 1,836,495 - -
! 13,084,192 1,532,117 1,705,972 2,640,094 2,567,203 4,638,806 -
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oOoOooodn
353,205,228 58,996,281 49,905,144 68,651,892 68,877,833 106,774,078 -
90,433,574 4,001,571 5,936,507 25,316,677 14,378,331 40,339,082 461,406
7,388,493 - - - - - 7,388,493
3,991,215 - - - - - 3,991,215
19,699,711 - - - - - 19,699,711

20,583,602 15,437,701 5,145,901 - - - -
744,125,195 284,006,961 84,308,570 100,701,624 88,280,731 152,345,535 34,481,774

40,266,535 37,685,831 2,370,601 210,103 - - -

34,769,685 31,628,667 1,304,559 1,836,459 - - -

18,144,105 17,254,974 889,131 - - - -

! 15,219,464 1,600,273 1,653,419 3,369,951 2,573,849 6,021,972 -
465,475,874 417,833,642 36,212,483 9,830,082 1,435,463 164,204 -
42,268,173 2,945,133 10,352,657 10,245,303 7,479,023 11,246,057 -

401,979 - - - - 401,979 -

25,606,380 19,204,785 6,401,595 - - - -
101,973,000 - - - - - 101,973,000

744,125,195 528,153,305 59,184,445 25,491,898 11,488,335 17,834,212 101,973,000

45,659,602 12,887,475 23,726,362 5,524,790 3,122,821 398,154 -
165,134,974 75,782,817 19,340,637 27,536,499 15,504,100 26,970,921 -
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2017 12 31
138,111,054 129,444,974 8,666,080 - - - -
19,320,764 5,332,119 6,777,244 4,610,671 1,113,740 927,502 559,488
13,829,490 13,827,603 1,887 - - - -
21,346,974 13,396,537 7,950,437 - - - -
11,399,432 1,821,287 1,456,835 2,248,883 2,428,292 3,444,135 -
330,465,888 64,252,351 37,974,179 57,478,522 62,089,240 108,671,596 -
88,457,710 3,148,594 4,379,228 19,239,841 20,814,826 38,475,234 2,399,987
6,927,692 - - - - - 6,927,692
3,535,501 - - - - - 3,535,501
19,901,374 - - - - - 19,901,374
15,672,416 11,754,312 3,918,104 - - - -
668,968,295 242,977,777 71,123,994 83,577,917 86,446,098 151,518,467 33,324,042
30,576,336 25,375,102 4,980,891 220,343 - - -
37,674,016 37,055,277 618,739 - - - -
24,124,097 19,931,271 4,192,826 - - - -
! 14,941,331 2,049,661 1,466,528 2,812,421 2,976,936 5,635,785 -
395,843,664 340,455,577 50,526,974 3,622,508 1,083,074 155,531 -
42,145,718 3,198,475 2,704,263 22,395,771 3,527,616 10,319,593 -
420,381 - - - - 420,381 -
21,033,339 15,787,256 5,246,083 - - - -
102,209,413 - - - - - 102,209,413
668,968,295 443,852,619 69,736,304 29,051,043 7,587,626 16,531,290 102,209,413
42,983,794 7,277,456 10,510,468 11,862,109 8,265,799 5,067,992 -
152,437,597 63,054,997 21,827,746 24,919,436 11,349,322 31,286,096 -
1
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2018 12 31
40,266,535 40,424,411 37,797,953 2,409,127 217,331 - -
34,769,685 35,087,490 31,814,905 1,341,723 1,930,862 - -
18,144,105 18,197,308 17,296,217 901,091 - - -
465,475,874 468,909,645 418,809,103 37,142,125 11,065,988 1,674,701 217,728
42,268,173 73,942,394 3,275,459 11,018,473 11,104,186 7,939,714 40,604,562
401,979 634,444 - 21,109 42,276 42,276 528,783
601,326,351 637,195,692 508,993,637 52,833,648 24,360,643 9,656,691 41,351,073
! 46,659,602 45,659,602 12,887,475 23,726,362 5,524,790 3,122,821 398,154
165,134,974 165,134,974 75,782,817 19,340,637 27,536,499 15,504,100 26,970,921
2017 12 31
30,576,336 30,728,564 25,451,000 5,057,221 - 220,343 -
37,674,016 37,806,050 37,182,253 623,797 - - -
24,124,097 24,159,369 19,938,576 4,220,793 - - -
395,843,664 397,574,720 340,875,246 51,346,184 3,864,764 1,267,010 221,516
42,145,718 66,550,028 3,490,415 3,332,987 23,580,996 3,858,147 32,287,483
420,381 669,344 - 21,496 43,169 43,228 561,451
530,784,212 557,488,075 426,937,490 64,602,478 27,488,929 5,388,728 33,070,450
42,983,794 42,983,794 7,277,456 10,510,438 11,862,109 8,265,799 5,067,992
152,437,597 152,437,597 63,054,997 21,827,746 24,919,436 11,349,322 31,286,096
1
©

IMCO
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ooOoooOoo
IMCO
G-ALCO
IMCO
G-ALCO BRCC
VaR
VaR
VaR 99
VaR
VaR IMCO G-ALCO
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
MAT
VaR
2018 2018 2018 2018 2017
VaR
14,660 29,581 53,314 14,659 19,018
11,076 24,658 39,250 10,703 13,312
4,520 4,398 43,353 2,529 4,002
8,062 15,058 34,023 3,376 11,596
4,023 2,658 4,481 1,524 511
(13,021) (17,191) (67,793) (3,473) (10,403)
VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
IMCO G-ALCO VaR

VaR
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2018 2018 2018 2018 2017
VaR
112,130 117,966 342,201 99,970 121,157
20,400 29,027 55,747 18,625 55,306
115,533 120,644 348,588 89,193 128,809
17,078 14,737 32,321 7,446 14,794
4,147 3,144 4,321 2,237 -
(45,028) (49,586) (98,776) (17,531) (77,752)
39
50 2017 50
2018 2017 2018 2017
+ 472,083 + 521,819 + 532,858 + 469,464
549,740 2017 492,963
466,091 2017 402,248
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ooooooo
2018 12 31

182,908,727 145,024,919 8,957,514 - - - 28,926,294
14,620,910 7,792,279 2,282,820 1,608,098 383,758 503,270 2,050,685
19,176,092 8,597,754 - - - - 10,578,338
19,033,451 7,444,973 9,042,380 342,303 2,203,795 - -
13,084,192 13,084,192 - - - - -
353,205,228 270,332,727 56,660,483 11,382,438 3,813,934 11,015,646 -
90,433,574 7,437,555 6,091,043 24,439,299 12,380,920 39,278,553 806,204
7,388,493 - - - - - 7,388,493
19,699,711 - - - - - 19,699,711
3,991,215 - - - - - 3,991,215
20,583,602 4,476,542 2,514,976 432,497 351,565 1,260,218 11,547,804
744,125,195 464,190,941 85,549,216 38,204,635 19,133,972 52,057,687 84,988,744
40,266,535 29,247,739 2,371,155 210,965 - - 8,436,676
34,769,685 31,628,631 1,304,559 1,836,495 - - -
18,144,105 17,254,973 889,132 - - - -
15,219,464 15,219,464 - - - - -
465,475,874 313,310,354 34,859,077 9,396,000 1,115,065 164,204 106,631,174
42,268,173 10,102,042 4,178,931 8,479,537 7,108,465 12,399,198 -
25,606,380 3,542,205 2,200,267 204,582 129,606 841,612 18,706,108
401,979 - - - - 401,979 -
101,973,000 - - - - - 101,973,000
744,125,195 420,287,408 45,803,121 20,127,579 8,353,136 13,806,993 235,746,958

49,903,533 39,746,095 18,077,056 10,780,836 38,250,694  (150,758,214)
33,378,072 550,348  (3,974,801) (7,886,524)  (22,067,095) -

77,281,605 , 40,296,443 14,102,255 2,894,312 16,183,599  (150,758,214)
77,281,605 117,578,048 131,680,303 134,574,615 150,758,214 -
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2017 12 31
138,111,054 120,755,325 8,666,080 - - - 8,689,649
19,320,764 8,785,020 5,744,846 2,363,842 1,074,972 792,596 559,488
13,829,490 10,277,717 110,190 - - - 3,441,583
21,346,974 13,396,536 7,950,438 - - - -
11,399,432 - - - - - 11,399,432
330,465,888 273,587,719 33,135,204 8,444,686 3,473,496 11,824,783 -
88,457,710 6,104,190 4,450,640 18,941,715 18,633,642 37,832,551 2,494,972
6,927,692 - - - - - 6,927,692
19,901,374 - - - - - 19,901,374
3,535,501 - - - - - 3,535,501
15,672,416 - - - - - 15,672,416
668,968,295 432,906,507 60,057,398 29,750,243 23,182,110 50,449,930 72,622,107
30,576,336 22,745,363 4,980,891 220,343 - - 2,629,739
37,674,016 37,055,277 618,739 - - - -
24,124,097 19,931,271 4,192,826 - - - -
14,941,331 - - - - - 14,941,331
395,843,664 259,294,389 38,848,293 5,190,391 637,712 155,531 91,717,348
42,145,718 14,098,549 482,264 14,033,474 3,211,838 10,319,593 -
21,033,339 - - - - - 21,033,339
420,381 - - - - 420,381 -
102,209,413 - - - - - 102,209,413
668,968,295 353,124,849 49,123,013 19,444,208 3,849,550 10,895,505 232,531,170
79,781,658 10,934,385 10,306,035 19,332,560 39,554,425  (159,909,063)
39,660,765  (11,324,517) 7,497,522 (11,413,602)  (24,420,168) -
119,442,423 (390,132) 17,803,557 7,918,958 15,134,257 (159,909,063)
119,442,423 119,052,291 136,855,848 144,774,806 159,909,063 -
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12 31
2018 2017
( ) ) ) )/

(22,637,963) 37,768,882 15,130,919 42,193,708

(13,303,964) 13,402,026 98,062 934,070

74,814,371 (74,234,636) 579,735 2,534,850
(706,090) (494,899) (1,200,989) (292,450)
(44,050) (567,539) (611,589) (3,691,007)

7,094,136 (6,581,217) 512,919 155,720

(1,553,053) 1,604,447 51,394 65,707

143,136 (387,050) (243,914) 156,318
1,684,447 (2,468,415) (783,968) (204,029)

183,525 69,341 252,866 56,477

531,526 (264,929) 266,597 333,363

898,123 (179,599) 718,524 2,395,696

(856,618) 595,501 (261,117) 64,986

263,663 - 263,663 323,140

(3,375,951) 3,730,004 354,053 355,596

2018 2017 12 31
2018 + 5,840 + 0956 + 5,129 + 2,637
2017 + 25,348 + 9,341 + 1,557 + 3,231
2018 2017 12 31

FAB
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2018 2017
5 1,172 -
5 41,508 23,747
5 91,366 2,786
5 13,009 1,079
5 - 362
147,085 27,974
2018 2017 12 31
2018 2017
5 9,719 11,480
5 618 4,237
5 - 85,763
5 8,351 6,801
5 1,126 8,230
19,814 116,511

()
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CBUAE

1CAAP

2018

CBUAE
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Ogoooood
2018 2017
10,897,545 10,897,545
53,188,043 53,026,643
16,678,196 18,677,552
9,192,759 7,081,084
495,106 376,265
(598,021) 281,345
361,722 487,015
(8,064,183) (7,628,282)
@ 82,151,167 83,199,167
(310,931) (63,075)
(25,530) (42,434)
(72,635) (36,585)
(20,606,448) (20,263,462)
(197,465) (262,895)
(21,213,009) (20,668,451)
CET1 (b) - (16,534,761)
60,938,158 66,664,406
10,754,750 10,754,750
AT1 - (2,066,845)
) 10,754,750 8,687,905
71,692,908 75,352,311
361,782 420,381
5,340,017 5,270,024
AT1 - (2,066,845)
5,701,799 3,623,560
77,394,707 78,975,871
427,201,365 421,666,579
29,475,312 28,054,810
35,696,011 35,619,434
492,372,688 485,340,823
CET 12.4 13.7
14.6 15.5
15.7 16.2
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IFRS
IFRS 1ASB
@
(b)
2018
CHC)
IFRS IAS 39
ECL
ECL
PD
ECL
ECL
ECL
PD EAD LGD
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2017 12 31

©
2017 12 31

©C)

@
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®
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oooooog
() CVA DVA
CVA DVA
CVA DVA
CDS
CVA DVA 48.3
®)
2018 12 31
Fvocl FvoCl
- - - - 182,908,727 182,908,727
- 14,620,910 - - - 14,620,910
- - - - 19,176,092 19,176,092
- - - - 19,033,451 19,033,451
1,825,955 11,258,237 - - - 13,084,192
- - - - 353,205,228 353,205,228
- - 84,341,873 396,265 5,630,295 90,368,433
- - - - 20,380,864 20,380,864
1,825,955 25,879,147 84,341,873 396,265 600,334,657 712,777,897
- - - - 40,266,535 40,266,535
- - - - 34,769,685 34,769,685
- - - - 18,144,105 18,144,105
5,297,423 9,922,041 - - - 15,219,464
- - - - 465,475,874 465,475,874
352,522 - - - 41,915,651 42,268,173
1 - 215,601 - - 24,372,956 24,588,557
- - - - 401,979 401,979
5,649,945 10,137,642 - - 625,346,785 641,134,372
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oOoOooodn
2017 12 31

- - - - 138,111,054 - 138,111,054
11,122 19,309,642 - - - - 19,320,764
- - - - 13,829,490 - 13,829,490

- - - - 21,346,974 - 21,346,974
524,827 10,874,605 - - - - 11,399,432
- - - - 330,465,888 - 330,465,888

- - 81,312,483 7,075,467 - - 88,387,950

- - - - 15,542,116 - 15,542,116
535,949 30,184,247 81,312,483 7,075,467 519,295,522 - 638,403,668

- - - - - 30,576,336 30,576,336
- - - - - 37,674,016 37,674,016
- - - - - 24,124,097 24,124,097

4,975,181 9,966,150 - - - - 14,941,331
_ - - - - 395,843,664 395,843,664

193,906 - - - - 41,951,812 42,145,718

- 1,814,526 - - - 18,145,142 19,959,668

_ - - - - 420,381 420,381
5,169,087 11,780,676 - - - 548,735,448 565,685,211
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Ooooood
2018 12 31
11,188,493 1,608,998 1,823,419 14,620,910
FVOCI 80,714,588 3,630,021 - 84,344,609
FVOCI 373,752 - 22,513 396,265
47,141 13,037,051 - 13,084,192
92,323,974 18,276,070 1,845,932 112,445,976
- 352,522 - 352,522
10,775 15,208,689 - 15,219,464
10,755 15,561,211 - 15,571,986
2017 12 31
17,170,765 2,131,636 7,241 19,309,642
11,122 - - 11,122
76,177,486 3,266,871 1,868,126 81,312,483
6,489 11,392,943 - 11,399,432
93,365,862 16,791,450 1,875,367 112,032,679
- 193,906 - 193,906
18,770 14,922,561 - 14,941,331
18,770 15,116,467 - 15,135,237
OClI 430
59.1
12
274 276
2018 2017
1,875,367 1,683,720
113,431 369,324
- 13,935
(142,866) (191,612)
12 31 1,845,932 1,875,367
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Ooooood
2018 2017
1,696,420 1,778,162
UAE
22,496,362 20,732,467
17,995,385 14,987,010
4,926,819 4,505,644
136,050,534 96,107,771
181,165,520 138,111,054
(256,793) -
182,908,727 138,111,054
2018 2017
3,917 55,719
1,823,408 -
1,113,625 503,769
11,679,960 18,761,276
14,620,910 19,320,764
2017

IFRS 9
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ooOoooOoo
10
2018 2017
10,118,939 4,492,834
5,635,525 7,491,982
3,471,784 1,844,674
19,226,248 13,829,490
(50,156) -
19,176,092 13,829,490
11
19,033
2017 21,347
15,356 2017
2018 12 31
19,378 2017 20,985
2018 12 31
11,903 2017 13,965
12
2018 2017
367,056,491 345,089,058
(1,968,015) (1,895,059)
(11,883,248) (12,728,111)
353,205,228 330,465,888
2018 2017
5,780,419 5,006,234
61,790,844 54,586,399
28,472,001 21,099,155
/ 203,461,407 193,175,957
/ 67,551,820 71,221,313
367,056,491 345,089,058
2018 2017
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Ooooood
24,222,265 15,357,085
277,776,148 267,331,582
27,930,930 22,970,550
29,049,808 30,250,597
7,154,605 8,035,270
922,735 1,143,974
367,056,491 345,089,058
8,276 2017 9,316
13,200 2017 19,379
2018 2017
8,172,431 7,051,924
23,174,504 19,500,917
59,046 218,177
318,422 168,561
31,724,403 26,939,579
(704,387) (453,034)
(27,811) (32,671)
30,992,205 26,453,874
13

2018 2017
- 81,312,483
84,344,609 -
396,265 -
- 7,075,467
5,630,295 -
65,141 69,760
90,436,310 88,457,710
(2,736) -
90,433,574 88,457,710
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2018 2017

373,752 87,654 461,406 450,356 234,364 684,720

- - - - 1,703,524 1,703,524

89,060,242 914,662 89,974,904 84,330,388 1,727,335 86,057,723
- - - 11,743 - 11,743
89,433,994 1,002,316 90,436,310 84,792,487 3,665,223 88,457,710
(2.411) (325) (2.736) - - -
89,431,583 1,001,991 90,433,574 84,792,487 3,665,223 88,457,710
8 12 31 22,971
2017 12 31 23,781
1
2017
IFRS
2018 2017
- 40
16 16
23 23
30 30
GEP
Midmak
Midmak Midmak
16
2017 16

UAE
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Ooooood
14
2018 2017
6,927,692 6,422,502
576,004 553,203
- 45,106
(19,439) (273,035)
(95,764) 179,916
7,388,493 6,927,692
2018 2017
52,328 34,642
(33,233) (29,035)
19,095 5,607
2018 2017 12 31
RICS
2018 2017 12 31
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Ooooood
15
2017 1,155,345 625,587 195,258 91,754 2,067,944
43 1,808,495 418,224 232,444 449,371 2,908,534
40,067 553,037 69,350 285,379 947,833
51,015 107,907 5,624 (164,546) -
(100,307) (244,234) (16,804) (161,635) (522,980)
2017 12 31 2,954,615 1,460,521 485,872 500,323 5,401,331
395,413 36,336 35,226 870,895 1,337,870
248,985 747,769 1,752 (998,506) -
(443,864) (251,798) (129,938) (75,950) (901,550)
2018 12 31 3,155,149 1,992,828 392,912 296,762 5,837,651
2017 98,593 308,632 132,464 - 539,689
43 477,026 405,027 185,174 - 1,067,227
73,318 201,850 36,250 - 311,418
(2,395) (45,740) (4,369) - (52,504)
2017 12 31 646,542 869,769 349,519 - 1,865,830
81,447 125,073 29,066 - 235,586
(20,239) (185,347) (49,394) - (254,980)
2018 12 31 707,750 809,495 329,191 - 1,846,436
2017 12 31 2,308,073 590,752 136,353 500,323 3,535,501
2018 12 31 2,447,399 1,183,333 63,721 296,762 3,991,215
1
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16
2017 36,868 170,000 10,000 - 22,000 238,868
17,280,577 1,643,517 966,038 - - 19,890,132
2017 12 31 17,317,445 1,813,517 976,038 - 22,000 20,129,000
43 52,804 (38,801) (382,703) 368,700 - -
2018 12 31 17,370,249 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
2017 - 60,509 4,478 - 3,483 68,470
- 120,776 37,280 - 1,100 159,156
2017 12 31 - 181,285 41,758 - 4,583 227,626
- 151,761 48,802 - 1,100 201,663
2018 12 31 - 333,046 90,560 - 5,683 429,289
2017 12 31 17,317,445 1,632,232 934,280 - 17,417 19,901,374
2018 12 31 17,370,249 1,441,670 502,775 368,700 16,317 19,699,711
17
2018 2017

9,169,190 7,195,037

6,899,761 5,463,959

4,534,080 2,976,835

84,460 36,585

20,687,491 15,672,416

(103,889) -

20,583,602 15,672,416
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oOoOooodn

18
2018 2017
8,158,400 3,445,932
897,243 1,131,317
16,177,477 12,303,765
25,233,120 16,881,014
50,759 77,417
14,982,656 13,617,905
15,033,415 13,695,322
40,266,535 30,576,336
-0.5 16.85 2017 -0.6
5.15

19

23,707
2017 23,784 34,770
2017 37,674
11,063 2017 13,891
20
10.5
18,144 2017 24,124
12
2018
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21
2018 2017
148,584,905 137,005,200
10,125,980 13,323,504
4,893,445 5,744,664
271,291,828 205,096,675
434,896,158 361,170,043
30,579,716 34,673,621
465,475,874 395,843,664
2018 2017
141,900,487 78,639,783
73,231,345 74,303,858
/ 149,329,566 135,281,622
/ 70,434,760 72,944,780
434,896,158 361,170,043
30,579,716 34,673,621
465,475,874 395,843,664
2018 2017
UAE 333,263,298 253,909,510
35,862,559 45,941,151
27,451,582 28,292,139
31,768,355 22,494,992
5,411,063 8,711,746
1,139,301 1,820,505
434,896,158 361,170,043
30,579,716 34,673,621
465,475,874 395,843, 664
2018 2017
1,213,380 781,321
523,985 623,727
1,737,365 1,405,048
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Doooood
22
2018 2017
- 1,830,006
41,915,651 40,121,806
41,915,651 41,951,812
352,522 193,906
42,268,173 42,145,718
500 2018
108,265
2018 2017
UAE - 96,830
744,638 565,454
36,861 62,015
1,418,208 -
5,176,396 -
117,564 -
187,593 -
1,384,631 2,227,724
9,065,891 2,952,023
33.52 2017  27.84
1,264 2017 302
2018 2017
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2018 2017
UAE
- - - - - - - 96,830 - - - 96,830
UAE
EIBOR+2.59 - 49,991 - - - 49,991 - - 49,936 - ; 49,936
3.17
5 00 1,039,197 649,250 155,245 - - 1,843,692 861,918 - 1,083,239 84,717 - 2,020,874
BBSW+110bps - 51,792 - 64,504 - 116,296 - - 57,268 71,812 - 129,080
142bps
0.16
0.625 - - - 1,485,350 549,312 2,034,662 - - - 754,538 556,742 1,311,280
4 4.79
69,571 310,856 168,656 36,861 - 585,944 73,324 355,185 572,242 - - 1,000,751
4.50
450 - - 1,457,598 - - 1,457,598 - - - - - -
0.516
3.00 - - 105,495 - 547,502 652,997 - - 111,017 - 580,853 691,870
EURIBOR+0.33 - - 250,582 - - 250,582 66,128 - 263,084 - - 329,212
0.36
1.66
- - 117,265 - - 117,265 - - - - - -
2.37
4as - 151,052 243,099 707,220 182,810 1,284,181 . . 303,202 238,052 567,182 1,108,436
0.86
2.60 - 333,661 - - 356,906 690,567 - - 325,853 - 347,502 673,445
0.50
- - - - 1,425 1,425 - - - - 1,960 1,960
4.90
- - 432,417 - - 482,417 - - 453,894 - - 453,894
2.10
. - - ; - - - 30,249 - - - 30,249
.1
5.10 1,836,365 2,709,970 5,744,730 5,061,974 9,608,102 24,961,141 1,830,007 - 10,284,027 2,134,531 8,265,264 22,513,829
- 6,006,085 1,570,216 128,114 - 7,789,415 367,008 2,221,999 7,992,009 243,966 - 10,825,072
LIBOR+3.41
2,945,133 10,352,657 10,245,303 7,479,023 11,246,057 42,268,178 3,198,475 2,704,263 22,395,771 3,527,616 10,319,593 42,145,718
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2018 2017
42,145,718 18,294,545
- 31,308,591
9,076,645 3,135,955
(7,735,417) (11,433,020)
(1,218,773) 839,647
42,268,173 42,145,718
3
2018 2017
2012 12 10 4.75 2027 12 401,979 420,381
2018 12 31
24
2018 2017
8,329,375 6,108,042
- 17 5,668,690 2,506,422
472,607 512,346
10,943,162 11,745,645
192,546 160,884
25,606,380 21,033,339
2018 12 31
UAE
2018
3.53
1.77
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0000000
+/-50 9,725
10,231 +/-50
10,390 9,966
2018 2017
512,346 75,934
- 455,300
66,285 47,920
(111,353) (69,761)
5,329 2,953
12 31 472,607 512,346
69,955 2017 91,472
10,795 2017 16,576
2018 2017
160,884 42,680
- 171,411
325,004 224,989
(293,342) (278,196)
12 3 192,546 160,884
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OoooooO
25
2018 2017
10,897,545 10,897,545
25,530 42,433
2018 25 AGM
0.70 7,628
1980 10
50 10
12 31
2018 2017
7,578,784 4,489,524
IFRS
2017 412,790 120,000 (88,327) 280,601 - - 725,064
212,420 - 25,252 - - - 237,672
2017 12 31 625,210 120,000 (63,075) 280,601 - - 962,736
2018 1 625,210 120,000 (63,075) 280,601 - - 962,736
2018
IFRS
(184,078) - - - - - (184,078)
441,132 120,000 (63,075) 280, 601 - - 778,658
(1,039,153) - (247,856) - - - (1,287,009)
- 108, 265 - - - - 108,265
IFRS
- - - - 297,621 64,988 362,609
(598,021) 228,265 (310,931) 280,601 297,621 64,988 (37,477)
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oooooog
2018 2017
Fvoct

677,495 413,171

2018 IFRS (184,078) -

2018 493,417 413,171
(1,137,667) 635,883
136,412 (371,559)

ECL (5,029) -

12 31 (512,867) 677,495
(52,285) (381)
(32,869) (51,904)

12 31 (85,154) (52,285)

12 31 (598,021) 625,210

()

()

280,601 2017 280,601

()
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OoOoOoOoOodno
( ) IFRS
CBUAE CBUAE IFRS
IFRS
2018
CBUAE 28/2010 6,723,798
IFRS 6,426,177
297,621
CBUAE 28/2010 6,408,021
IFRS 6,343,033
64,988
26
2018 2017
8,000,000 8,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 2,754,750 2,754,750
2020 5.25
3.35
10,754,750 10,754,750
a b

495,047 2017 12 31 381,089
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Doooood
27
2008 NBAD
NBAD
16,903 2017 12 31 4,399
16,903 2017 12 31
4,399 161,399 2017 12 31 29,626
28
2018 2017
968,840 339,797
1,040,394 452,859
388,117 261,919
385,429 352,009
2,310,733 1,738,032
16,742,891 13,187,171
21,836,404 16,331,787
29
2018 2017
800,414 583,820
706,723 373,651
432,428 163,419
5,307,623 2,648,424
1,542,847 1,150,740
20,410 15,540
8,810,445 4,935,594
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gooooog
30
2018 2017
1,053,033 855,577
33,569 34,756
25,535 32,806
141,906 82,837
7,090 4,516
1,333,257 1,012,525
1,885,819 1,595,675
60,165 84,023
115,273 96,318
224,341 227,028
4,879,988 4,026,061
42,530 28,224
32,548 22,740
1,086,900 815,540
306,290 228,016
19,348 33,686
1,487,616 1,128,206
3,392,372 2,897,855
31
2018 2017
1 1,776,161 640,543
266,319 287,645
2,042,480 928,188
1
32
ECB 285.44 (2017 213 )
32
2018 2017
891,021 294,021
/ (136,412) 371,559
71,616 20,551
826,225 686,131
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ooOoooOoo
33
2018 2017
(75.,574) 331,960
106,905 95,824
1 127,375 44,306
158,706 472,090
111.4 2017 2.2
34
2018 2017
3,167,377 2,782,316
1,686,352 1,611,022
15 235,586 311,418
16 201,663 159,156
37,577 37,584
5,328,555 4,901,496
35
2018 2017
2,107,219 2,362,297
33,147 843
(326,543) -
(303,770) (297,777)
215,741 21,354
1,725,794 2,086,717
36
2018 2017
325,004 224,989
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ooooogd
37
2018 2017

183,165,520 138,111,054

19,226,248 13,829,490

202,391,768 151,940,544

(18,726,908) (10,186,771)

(7.987,484) (7,147,856)

175,677,376 134,605,917
38

2018 2017

59,955,337 48,863,532

104,894,326 102,810,624

285,311 763,441

165,134,974 152,437,597

45,659,602 42,983,794

991,968 1,051,386

772,322 985,495

200,574 169,950

47,624,466 45,190,625

212,759,440 197,628,222
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ooOoooOoo
2018 2017
62,098 94,707
119,996 61,662
18,480 13,581
200,574 169,950
73.46 2017 165
2018 2017 2018 2017
UAE 24,865,542 19,803,169 118,693,398 105,597,814
7,422,210 9,743,421 19,593,289 22,886,522
4,202,963 2,635,163 6,967,012 8,366,824
3,035,469 3,703,440 11,956,195 5,843,811
3,659,085 2,814,846 7,755,276 8,954,804
2,474,333 4,283,755 169,804 787,822
45,659,602 42,983,794 165,134,974 152,437,597
39
/
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2018 12 31

8,152,999 7,598,766 1,099,051,876 114,781,773 287,845,196 303,348,196 211,848,433 181,228,278
5,165 3,724 57,016,206 11,031,032 6,199,712 39,785,462 - -
83,215 117,837 64,186,503 1,517,329 52,873,360 8,028,574 1,010,075 757,165
1,652,063 1,676,905 377,427,044 231,424,514 116,532,513 26,411,029 3,058,971 17
327,635 284,415 95,215,819 42,284,251 46,249,596 6,182,935 499,037 -
1,037,160 240,395 8,980,883 3,856,034 2,046,555 386,641 2,691,653 -
11,258,237 9,922,042 1,701,878,331 404,894,933 511,746,932 384,142,837 219,108,169 181,985,460
1,242,665 4,208,904 106,264,029 1,642,409 7,880,884 22,661,174 20,900,395 53,179,167
583,148 461,592 108,956,518 599,041 12,677,590 22,471,213 20,232,359 52,976,315
1,825,813 4,670,496 215,220,547 2,241,450 20,558,474 45,132,387 41,132,754 106,155,482
123 503,660 4,800,940 - 178,697 4,622,243 - -

19 123,266 20,042,459 20,042,459 - - - -

142 626,926 24,843,399 20,042,459 178,697 4,622,243 - -
13,084,192 15,219,464 1,941,942,277 427,178,842 532,484,103 433,897,467 260,240,923 288,140,942

187/337
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6,742,787 6,262,503 837,892,379 83,721,947 134,243,557 283,292,685 183,526,708 153,107,482
4,213 2,349 39,465,202 12,120,055 23,672,514 3,672,633 - -
399,934 281,381 73,110,496 3,267,796 7,085,758 10,556,309 10,893,947 41,306,686
2,863,604 2,730,662 370,178,971 221,271,826 112,078,707 33,509,940 2,562,315 756,183
563,748 394,103 132,404,746 44,551,147 67,697,369 19,114,805 1,041,425 -
300,319 295,152 7,276,322 3,186,012 1,389,224 492,237 2,208,849 -
10,874,605 9,966,150 1,460,328,116 368,118,783 346,167,129 350,638,609 200,233,244 195,170,351
500,489 4,284,555 84,701,044 1,328,588 3,732,969 19,483,570 20,063,436 40,092,481
24,267 269,498 7,805,757 - - - - 7,805,757
524,756 4,554,053 92,506,801 1,328,588 3,732,969 19,483,570 20,063,436 47,898,238

2 414,382 5,023,946 - 173,736 3,850,664 999,546 -

69 6,746 2,918,877 2,918,877 - - - -

71 421,128 7,942,823 2,918,877 173,736 3,850,664 999,546 -
11,399,432 14,941,331 1,560,777,740 372,366,248 350,073,834 373,972,843 221,296,226 243,068,589
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2018 12 31
1,136.5 (2017 1,017.2 )
6,124.4
(2017 7,722.1 )
40

CIB

CIB UAE

PBG

SME
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UAE
2018 12 31

5,594,591 5,520,961 (40,251) 1,950,658 13,025,959 11,298,979 1,451,086 275,894 13,025,959

4,314,443 1,785,142 189,079 131,119 6,419,783 5,551,567 597,591 270,625 6,419,783

9,909,034 7,306,103 148,828 2,081,777 19,445,742 16,850,546 2,048,677 546,519 19,445,742

1,741,348 2,768,574 137,375 681,258 5,328,555 4,381,444 731,204 215,907 5,328,555

1,222,562 457,486 (13,704) 59,450 1,725,794 1,807,162 (155.810) 74,442 1,725,794

6,945,124 4,080,043 25,157 1,341,069 12,391,303 10,661,940 1,473,283 256,170 12,301,393

188,007 94,001 33,163 9,743 325,004 2,678 295,843 26,483 325,004

6,757,027 3,986,042 (8,006) 1,331,326 12,066,389 10,659,262 1,177,440 229,687 12,066,389
2018 12 31

630,066,190 101,659,261 13,179,664 127,546,798 872,451,913 619,662,984 205,297,041 32,858,649 857,818,674

(128,326,718) (113,693,479)

744,125,195 744,125,195

618,795,941 92,621,803 9,916,308 49,144,861 770,478,913 528,049,917 198,827,604 28,968,153 755,845,674

(128,326,718) (113,693,479)

642,152,195 642,152,195
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UAE
2017 12 31
4,869,432 4,924,893 (79,930) 1,681,798 11,396,193 10,098,538 1,043,368 254,287 11,396,193
2,754,497 1,630,590 583,205 15,972 4,984,264 4,353,584 490,054 140,626 4,984,264
7,623,929 6,555,483 503,275 1,697,770 16,380,457 14,452,122 1,533,422 394,013 16,380,457
1,542,480 2,435,049 121,018 802,949 4,901,496 4,229,801 522,055 149,640 4,901,496
296,627 2,036,599 50,967 (297,476) 2,086,717 1,985,084 90,921 10,712 2,086,717
5,784,822 2,083,835 331,290 1,192,297 9,302,244 8,237,237 920,446 234,561 9,392,244
135,963 65,523 21,973 1,530 224,989 3,864 194,916 26,209 224,989
5,648,859 2,018,312 309,317 1,190,767 9,167,255 8,233,373 725,530 208,352 9,167,255
2017 12 31
450,441,539 106,156,609 13,606,508 126,839,637 697,044,293 538,512,342 156,465,447 23,406,626 718,384,415
(28,075,998) (49,416,120)
668,968,295 668,968,295
438,610,883 100,270,288 6,170,495 49,783,214 594,834,880 451,819,450 144,661,282 19,694,270 616,175,002
(28,075,998) (49,416,120)

566,758,882 566,758,882
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2018 2017

12,010,820 9,132,648

(495,047) (381,089)

11,515,773 8,751,559

10,855,112 5,643,000

- 3,923,620

8,399 3,473

C ) 10,863,511 9,570,093

1.06 0.91

11,515,773 8,751,559

18,801 25,683

11,534,574 8,777,242

10,863,511 9,570,093

28,606 97,861

C ) 10,468 5,125

10,902,585 9,673,079

1.06 0.91
42

EXCO
2018 2017

2,054,296 11,003,008 13,057,304 12,875,875

9,770,117 7,026,995 16,797,112 16,664,072

1,839,901 19,686,726 21,526,627 13,392,898

91,863 398,410 490,273 301,388

406,519 137,901 544,420 224,799
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2016 12
NBAD
FGB NBAD 1.254
FGB
FGB
IFRS
2017
UAE
a.
2017 30
12.90
FGB
FGB
NBAD
FGB  NBAD
FGB
b.

2017 473

53,572

Oooooood
FGB
NBAD FGB
NBAD 5,643 FGB
52 NBAD 48
IFRS
FGB
FGB NBAD
FGB
4,500,000
52.01
8,652,881
47.99
4,152,881
12.90
53,572,167
295
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2017 31

112,819,619
16,077,659
9,356,896
17,876,372
9,290,077
207,807,269
47,105,716
8,917,134
45,106
1,841,308
1,604,716
583,335
368,700
433,693,907

40,983,859
6,600,187

11,976,634

11,727,613

272,994,885

31,308,501

14,399,305

389,991,074

365,234

6,754,750

235,798

108,265

397,455,121

NBAD 36,238,786

2017 31 NBAD

53,572,167
NBAD (36,238,786)

17,333,381

12

195/337



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

NBAD

2017

44

FGB NBAD IFRS

FAB

NBAD FGB

2017
19,533

CBUAE

FAB

CRR FAB

196/337

oOoOooodn

2017 12 31
10,915

CRR



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

45

2018 12 31
2017 7,782.85

46
SPE
SPE
SPE

NBAD

NBAD

47

44
48
2018 12 31

81
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@
IFRS
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SPE SPE
IFRS
(
22 )
@
IFRS
IFRS IAS 38
20
21
©)
IFRS

(1AS 36 )
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First Ay Dbk B

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December

Assets Note 018 amz?
AED 00D AED000

Cash and balances with central banks & 162,508,727 138,111,054
Irestrments at fair vabue through profit or loss L] 14,620,910 19,320,764
Due from banks and financial institutions 10 19,176,092 13,839,490
Reverse repurchase agreemants 11 15,033,451 11,346,574
Derivative financial instruments el 13,084,192 11,399,432
Loans and advances 12 353,205,228 330,465,828
Non-trading investments 13 20,433,574 88457710
Inwestenient properties 14 7,388,493 6,927 692
Property and equipment 15 3,991,215 3,535,501
Intangibles 15 19,699,711 19,501,374
Other assets 17 20,583,602 15672416
Total assets 744,125,195 668,968,295
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 18 &0,266,535 30,575,336
Repurchase agreements 19 24,769,685 37,674,016
Commercial paper 20 18,144,105 24,124,087
Derbvative financial Instruments 38 15,219,464 14,541,331
Customer accounts and other deposits 21 465475874 95,643,664
Term borrowings 22 42,268,173 41,145718
Subordinated notes 23 401,979 420,381
Other lkabilivies FL 25,606,380 21,033,339
Total liabilities 642,152,195 566,758,882
Equity
Share eapital 25 10,897,545 10,857,545
Share premium 53,188,043 53,026,644
Treasury shares (25,530) (#2,433)
Statutory and spedial reserves 9,483,238 7081074
Other reserves 25 {37.477) 962,736
Tier 1 capital notes 26 10,754,750 10,754,750
Share option scheme 27 266,841 256,265
Convertible notes - equity component - 108, 265
Retained earnings 17,083,858 18,677,552
Total equity attributable to sharcholders of the Bank 101,611,278 101,722,398
Mon-controling interast 361,722 4E7,015
Taotal Equity 101,973,000 102,209,413
Total Eabilities and equity 744,125,195 658,968,195

These consalidated financial stat ks wire approved by the Board of Directors and suthorkzed For lssue on 31 January 2019 and signed

a its behalf: g

Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

The notes 1 to 48 are am integral pan of these corselidated finsncial statements.
The independent auditor's repon on audit of consalidated financlal statements i set out on pages 2 to 10

11
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Fiest Abus Dty Bank
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December

Nate 018 2017
AED'D00 AEDDD0
Interest income 28 21,836,404 16,331,787
Interest expense 29 {8,810,445) (4,935,594)
Net interest income 13,025,959 11,396,193
Fee and commission income 4,B759,988 4028061
Fee and commission expense {1,487 ,616) {1,128, 206)
Met fee and commission income EL 3,352,372 L8597 855
Met foreign exchange gain 31 2,042,480 928,188
Met gain on investments and derivatives 32 B26,225 686,131
Oher operating income 33 158,706 472,090
Operating income 19,445,742 16,380,457
General, administration and other operating expenses 34 (5,328,555) 14,901,456)
Profit before net impairment charge and taxation 14,117,187 11,478,961
Met impairment charge 35 {1,725,794) {2,086,717)
Profit before tawation 12,391,393 9,392,244
Choeroeas iNCome 1ax expenie £ {325,004) [224,989)
Profit for the year 12,066,389 9,167,255

Profit attributable to;
Sharehalders of the Bank 12,010,820 9,132,648
Mon-contralling interests 55,569 34,607
12,066,389 9,167,255
Basic earnings per share (AED) 41 L.o& 0.91
Diluted eamings per share (AED) 41 1.06 091

Thee notes 1 1o 48 are an integral pant of these consobdated financi | statements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financial statements & set out on pages 2 to 100

12
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Fiest Abus Dty Bank
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017
AED'D00 AEDD00
Profit for the year 12,066,389 9,167,255
Gther comprohensive income
ftems that are or may subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of prafit or beis
Exchange difference on translation of fareign operations {270,017} 44,878
Met change in fair value reserve during the year (including ECL) (936,930} 212,40
Items that will not be subsequently be reclassified to
consolidated statement of profit or loss
Met change in fair value of investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income {102,223) -
Re-rreasurement of defined benefit abligations {12,601} (7.1032)
Board of Director's remuneration {54,750) [49,000)
Other comprehensive income for the year (1,377.521) 201,196
Total comprehensive incormne for the year 10,688,868 9,368,451
Comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders of the Bank 10,655,460 9,314,218
Mon-contralling interest 33,008 54,233
Total comprehensive income for the year 10,688,868 5,368,451

The notes 1 1o 48 are an Integral pant of these consolidated financa| stabements.
The independent auditors’ report on audit of consolidated financlal itatements i 4ot out on pages 2 to 100

13
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First Abes Bt Bank
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December
Mote 018 2047
AEDDOD AEDTOO0
Cath flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 12,391,393 9,392.244
Sdpuitenents fod:
Depreciation and amonsation 1516 437,249 470,574
Lags (gain) af mevaludtan of Mvesiment praperties 14 05,764 [179,916)
Gain on sale of investment proparty {1,551 {35,715
Gain on sake of fiked assets {111.422) [2,214)
Net impalrment charges a5 2,029,564 1,384.454
Aecreted interest 35 452 B4952
Foreign currency wanslation adjustment {670,603) 425,055
Shane aption schame 10,576 20467
14217422 12,558,942
Chanpes in:
Inwestments at fair value through profit or loss 7,093,387 [2,343,521)
Dwe from central banks, banks and financial institutions §9.373,900) |2, 286,988)
Reverse repurchase agreemsents 2,298,167 1978416
Loars and advances (26.951,609) 9,340,457
Other assats 15,009,629 28,166
Due 1o banks and finamncial irstitutEons 9,690,199 [21,993,151)
Repurchase agreements 2,904,331) 17,964,674
Lustamer socounts and other depodits E9,631 TER |2.533,193)
Deedvative financial instruments (2,308, 854) 545,159
Onker liabilities 4,086,161 1,580,062
BO464, 759 14,540,993
Owersaas incommee tax paid, net of recoveries 24 (293,342) [278,198)
Directors’ remuneraticn paid {49,000] 51,000
Nt cash from opaerating acthiities B0,122,427 14,211,797
Carih flowws fromm inviesting activithes
Net purchase of non-trading investments {5.381,783) (027213400
Purchase of investment property {270, 045) [553,203)
Sale procesds from disposal of investment propesty 20,990 163,644
Lashi and cash squivalents of subsidiary acquired . A23 258 £38
Purchase of property and eguipment, net of disposals (BB5,B37) [430,038)
Ket cash [used] [ from investing activities 16,516,675) 107,817,659
Cash flows from financing acthvities
Proceeds from issue of thares under thare option scheme 7 178,302 34,005
Dividend paud 25 {7,578, 784) [%,453,524)
Nét imavement of commercial paper §5.979,592) 2,130,547
Issue of term borrowings Frg 9,076,645 3,135,955
Repayrnent of term borrowings Fry (7735417 (21,433,000
Payment an Tier 1 capital nates 26 (495,047) [381,089)
et cash wsed in finanding activities {12,534, 293) (11,003, 106)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 41,071,459 111,026,350
‘Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 134,805,917 23,579,527
Cash and cash equhalents at 31 December az 175,677,376 134,605,517

Thie notes 1 to 48 are an integral part of these consolidated financial staterments.
The independent auditers’ repet on audit of consolidated financial satements is 4t out on pages 2 o 10

14
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal activities

On 7 December 2006, Shareholders of Mational Bank of Abu Dhabi PISC ("NBAD™} and First Gulf Bank PISC ("FGE™)}
approved the merger of the two banks pursuant to Article 283{1) of UWAE Federal Law Mo. 2 of 2015 Concerning
Commercial Companies (the Law). The merger was effected through the issuance of 1.254 new NBAD shares for every 1
share in FGB an dose of business 30 March 2017, subsequent to which FGB shares were delisted from Abu Dhabi
Securities Exchange, On 25 April 2017, NBAD shareholders approved the proposal to change the name of the combined
bank 1o ‘First Abu Dhabi Bank” [the “Bank™) and have its registered office in FAE Building, Khalifa Business Park 1 Al
Qurarm P, 0. Bax 6316 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates,

These consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 comprises the Bank and its
subsidiaries {together referred to as the “Group™). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retall, private and
investment banking activities, management services, Islamic banking activities, real estate activities; and carries out its
operations through its lecal and overseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in the United Arab
Emirates, Baheain, Bragzil, Cayman klands, Ching, Egypt, France, Hong Kong, Indéa, Jordan, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Kuwait, Lebanon, Litya, Malaysia, Oman, Qatar, Singapore, South Korea, Sudan, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and
the United States of America,

The Groug’s lslarnic banking activities are conducted in accordance with kslamic Sharia’a laws issued by the Sharia’a
Supervisory Board,

The Groug is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FABL

The consalidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 are available upan
request from the Group's registered office or at hitp/fweow. banklab.cam

2 Basis of Preparation

[a}  Statement of Compliance

These consolidated finandal statements have been prepared on going concern basis in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards a< issued by the Imernational Accounting Standards Board (IASE] and the requirements af
applicable laws in the LIAE,

On 1 April 2015, UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commercial Companles ["UAE Compandes Law of 2015"] was ksued with
effective date 1 buly 2015. The Bank is in compliance with applicable sections of the UAE Companles Law of 2015 as at
the date of these financial statements,

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 January 2015,

[b)  Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured a3 the
sggregate of the consideration transferred meassured a1 aoquisition date fair value and the amaunt of any non-contralling
interests in the acquiree, Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and ineluded in general, administration and
other operating expenses, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities,

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate dassification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circemstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date, This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting galn or loss |s recognised in profit or loss. 1 s then considered in the determination of

goodwill,

16
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of Preparation [continued)
(B)  Business combinations {continued)

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. IF an obligation to pay contingent
consideration that meets the definition of a financial Instrument Is classified as equity, then it is mot remeasured and
settlement is acoounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is rerneasured at fair value at each
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recagnised in profit or loss,

Goodwill is initially measured a1 cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recegnised for non-contralling interests, and any previeus interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets scquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or
in am excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is
recognised in profit or loss,

After Initial recognition, goodwill is measwed at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
Impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination Is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether ather assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those wnits,

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed af,
the goodwlll assodated with the disposed operation is included in the carmging amount of the operation when
determinéng the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these drcumstances is measwed based on the relative
values of the disposed operation and the partion of the cash-generating unit retained,

e}  Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:

*  nvestments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at falr value;
derivative financial instruments ane measured at fair value;
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value

(effective Janwary 1, 2018}

& debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value [effective
lanuary 1, 2008);

* non-trading investments dassified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value [applicable prior to lanuary 1,
2018):

®  recognised assels and lakbilities designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are adjusted for
changes in fair value attributable 1o the risk being hedged: and

®  non-financial assets acquired in settlement of loans and advances are measured at the lower of their fair value less
costs to sell and the carrying amouwnt of the loan and advances.

[d) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams [“AED™), which is the Group’s
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, undess otherwise indicated. ltems included
in the financial staternents of each of the Bank's overseas subsidiaries and branches are measured wsing the currency of
the primary econamic emironment in which they operate.

[e}  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consclidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assurnptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reparted amounts of 3ssets and liabilities, income and
expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

2 Basis of Preparation [continued)
[e}  Useof estimates and judgements [contineed)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 10 accounting estimates are
recognised prospectively.

Infarmation about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judge ments in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements are described in
note G,

3 Significant accounting policies

(a} Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018, Also, the Group early adopted Prepayment Features
with Hegative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9), issued in October 2017. A number of other new standards are
also effective from 1 lanuary 2018 but they do not have a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Due 1o the transition method choten by the Group in applying IFRS 9, comparative infarmation threughout these
consolidated financial staternents has not been restated to reflect its requirements,

The adoption of IFRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income from contracts with
custamers and the related assets and liabidities recognised by the Group. Accordingly, the impact on the comparative
information is limited to new disclosure requirements.

The effect of initially applying these standards is mainly attributed to the following:

®  anincrease inimpairment losses recognised on financial assets (see Note 4); and
=  additional discloswres related to IFRS 9 (soe Notes S(al}

«  additional disclosures related to IFRS 15.

Except far the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies as to all periods presented in
thewe consalidated financial statements.

i} IFRS 9 = Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to
by or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces 1AS 39 Financial Instrements: Recognition and Measurement. The
requirements of IFRS 9 regresent a significant change from 145 39, The new standard brings fundamental changes to the
accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financdial Babilities.

IFRS Qintroduces a new hedge accounting moded that expands the scope of hedged items and risks eligible for hedge
accounting and aligns hedge accounting more closely with risk management. The new madel no longer specifies
quantitative measures for effectivensss testing and does not permit hedge de-designation. A a result the 80-125% range
under 145 39 i replaced by an objectives-bazed test that focuses an the econormic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, and the effect of eredit rick on that economic relationship,

IFRS % alsa introduces rebal ancing of hedging relationships, whereby, if a hedging refationchip ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio under [FRS 9, but the risk management objective for that
designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group shall adjust the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship so
that it meets the qualif-.ina; criteria again.

Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 Finangial Instruments: Discosures that are
applied 1o disclosures related 1o 2018, but have not been applied 1o the comparative information,

The key changes to the Group's accounting policies reswting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised below. The full
Impact of adopting the standard is set out in Note 4,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies [continued)
(a} Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)

[ik IFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (continued)

Classification of financial asdets and financial liabilities

IFRS @ containg thees principal classification categories for financisl aseets: measured a1 amoartised coat, fair value
through other comprehensive incorme (“FYOCE™) and fair value theough profit or loss (“FYTELT). IFRS 9 classification is
generally based an the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flows. The standard
eliminates the previous 1A5 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9,
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never bifurcated.
Instead, the whale hybrid instrument is assessed for classification. For an explanation of how the Group classifies
financial assets under IFRS 9, see Note 3(c)(ii.

IFRS 9 largely retaing the existing requerements in A5 30 for the classification of financial labilities, However, although
under 145 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value option were recognised in prafit or loss,
under IFRS 9 fair value changes are generally presented as follows:
= the amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability is
presented in OCL; and
#  the remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in profit or boss

For an explanation of how the Group cassifies financial liabilities under IFRS 9, see Note 3(c)(i}.
Impairment of financlal assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in 1AS 39 with an "expected credit loss’ ("ECL") model. The new impairment
model also applies 1o certain loan cormmitrments and financial guarantee cantracts but not 1o equity investments,

Under IFRS 9, eredit losses are recognised earlier than under 1AS 39, For an explanation af how the Group applies the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, see Note 3{ciwii).

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
diseribed below,

»  Comparative periods generally have not been restated. Differences in the carmying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in retalined earnings and reserves
as at 1 January 2018, Accordingly, the infarmation presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements af
IFRS % and therefore is not comparable to the information presented for 2018 under IFRS 9,

= The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date
of initial application,

o The determination of the business madel within which a finaneial asset is held,

o The designation and revocation of previous designations of certain financial assets and financial
Habilities as measwred at FVTPL

& The designation of certain imestments inequity instrurments not held for trading as at PVGCL

@ For financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, the determination of whether presenting the effects
of changes in the finandal liability's credit risk in OCl would create or endarge an accounting mismatch
in prefit or loss,

& |f a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Group has assumed
that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition,

For more information and details on the changes and implications resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9, wee Note 4,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a} Mew and Amended standards and interpretations adopted (continued)

[H)  IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framewark for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.
It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, 185 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group applied IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 retrospectively in accordance with 1AS B without any practical expedients.
The timing or amount of the Group's fee and commisston income from contracts with customers was not impacted by
the adoption of IFRS 15. The impact of IFRS 15 was limited to the new disclosure regquirements.

[b)  Basis of consolidation
([}  Subsidiaries

IFRS 10 gowerns the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single contral model that applies to all entities including
spedal purpose entities or structured entities, The definition of control is such that an investor contrals an investee
when it s exposed to, or has rights, to variable returns fram its invehrement with the inestee and has the ability 10
affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet the definition of contral in IFRS 10, all three eriteria
maxst be met, including:

(a) theinvestor has power over an investes;
(b} theinvestor has exposure to, or rights, to variable returns fram its invohement with the investee; and
c] theinvestor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns,

Subidiries are entities that are controlled by the Group, The Group controls the investee if it meets the control criteria
set out above. The Growp reassesses whether it has contral il there are changes 1o one or more of the elements af
contral. This incledes circumstances in whidy pratective rights held become substantive and lead to the Groug having
power ower an investes. The financial statements of subsidiaries are induded In these consolidated financlal statements
fram the date that control commences until the date that control ceases,

The consalidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and those of its following

212/337

subsidiaries:

Lountry of Holding %
First Albu Dhabi Bank LISA MY, Cliaeas Baniking 100%
FAB Secirities LLC United Arab Emirates Broferage 1005
Abls Dhabi Nationsl Leasing LLC United Arab Emirates Leasing 10
Abu Dhabi Nationsl Properties Pye 1SC United Arab Ermirates Propeey Manapamssnt ple s
EAR Private Bank [Sulsse) SA Swazerand Barking 1008
First b Dhabi Islamic Finance PISC United Arab Emirates Eslamic Finanpe 1005
i Dhabi Secuities Brokerage Egypt Emot Brokerage BEH
Maticnal Bank of Abu Dhabi Maliysia Berhad Balayia Barikang ple g
HBAD Employee Share Options Limited United Arab Emirates Lhares and Securities 1005
SA%5 10 Magzellan Franoe Liasing 1005
Matienal Bank of Abu Dhabt Representagles Ltda g0y Representative office 100%
MEBAD Financial Marikoets |Caymank Limited Cayrnan kslands Financial Institution plesad
Hawat Management Services « One Man
o LIE United Arab Emirates Services 100
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(b)  Basis of consolidation (continued)
[}  Subsidiaries {continued)
Cauntry of Halding %
Legal Mame e Principal activities pedi
MEmak Properties Coo LLC {Mismak) United Arab Emirates Riea] E5Late ifvestments 10054
Boara Propertied Co. LLC (Subiidiary of Mamak}  United Arab Emirated Rii] ki fe irvedtments B
First Marchant Internateonal LLC {FMI} United Arab Emirates EBeal estate investments 1000
FAB Employment Services LLE [Subsidiary of FMI)  United Arab Emirates Resourong services 1008
FAB Resourcing Senvices LLC [Subsidiary of P} United Arab Emirates Resourcing services 10074
FAB Sukuk Company Limited Cayrnan Islamds Special purpose vehicle D0
FGB Sukuwk Company Il Limited Cayman Eslands Special purpose wehicle 1005
First Guif Libyan Bank! Libya Banieng services Live
FGB Global Maskets Cayman Limited Cayrnan Blands Financial Institwtion D06
FAB Properties LLC United Arab Emirates Management and 10074
brokerage of real estate
propertes
Aspel Finance PISC United Arab Emirates Eslamic finance 1000
Dubai First PISC United Arab Emirated Cradit card Tinanos 10054
First Gul Information Technology LLC United Arab Emirates IT Sarvices 100%
FAR |mepstmant KSA [unple Shareholder LLC) Wingdom of Saudi Arsbis  Fenandial inatitutan s

! Although the Bank awns 50% of the outstanding shares of First Gulf Lilyan Bank, the investment has been classified as
a subsidiary 2z the Bank exercises contral over the invertes because it casts the majority of the votes an the board of
directors.

{ii}  Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group 1o perform a specific task. Structured entities are designed so that their
activities are not poverned by way of woting rights. In assessing whether the Group acts as a principal or has power guer
investees in which it has an interest, the Group considers factors such as the purpose and design of the investes, its
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee; the nature of its relationship with the investee: and the
size of its exposure 1o the varizbility of retuens of the investes,

The Group acts as fund manager to a number of investment funds. Determining whether the Group controls such an
investment fund usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group in the fund, Whilst
assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and circumstances 1o determine whether as a fund manager the Group is
acting as agent or principal, If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the fund and would consolidate them else as
an sgent the Group would aceount fer therm &g investments in funds.

The Groups interest in investrment funds in which it act as an agent is set out below, these funds are included as part of

investments.
Type of Structured Entity Nature and purpose Interest held by the Group
Iwestment Funds managing assets Generate fees from managing assets  Investments in units issued by the fund
an on behall of third-party investors amounting to AED 2,030 thousand

(2017: AED 20,069 thousand)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(b)  Basis of consolidation (continued)
{ill}  loint Arrangements and Investments in Assodiates

An Associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the finandal and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control over those policies.
Invwestment in associates is accounted under the equity method of accounting.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement between the Group and other parties where the Graup slang with ane ar mare
parties has joint control by virtue of a contractual agreement, Jaint arrangement may be a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a Jeint arrangement wherely the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to and record their respective share of the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint contral of the arrangement, have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement and, thus, are accounted wnder the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an assodate is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs,
Subsequent to initial recognition, the consalidated financial statements indude the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and OCI of equity accounted investess, until the date an which significant influence ar joint contrel ceases. Goodwill
relating to the associate is included in the carnying amount of the investment and is nefther amortised nor Individually
tested for impalrment. The consclidated statement of income reflects the Groug’s share of the results of operations of
the associates, Any change in other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group's other
comprehensive income, In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the
Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consalidated statement of changes in equity.

The aggregate of the Graup's share of profit or less of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement
of income. The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Groug. ‘When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Groug.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment boss
an its imeestment inits associate. At each reporting date. the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that
the inestrent in the asseciate is impaired, If there i3 such evidence, the Group calewdates the amaunt of impairment as
the difference between the recoverabile amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in
the consolidated staterment of income.

{iw}  Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets and liabilitles of the subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary, Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of contral is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. IF the Group retains any interest in the former
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value when contral is lost

{v]  Transactions eliminated on consolidation

The carrying amount of the Group's ivvestment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary are eliminated on
consolidation, Al significant intra-group balances, transactions and wnrealised income and expenses [except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-growp transactions are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

[e}  Financial assets and liabilities

{i) Recognition and initial measurement
The Group initially recognised loans and sdvances, deposits, deixt securities Bsued and subordinated lisbilities an the
date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments [excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial

assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party 1o the contractual
provisions of the instrument,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Fimancial assets and liabilities {continued)
i Recognition and initial measurerment jcontinued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised an the settlement date, |.e. the date the asset is
delivered to or received from the counterparty. Reguiar way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

i}  Classification
Financial assets - Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FYCCl or FYTPL. A financial asset is
measured at amortised cost if it meets bath of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:
*  the asset is held within a business model whose objective i 1o hold assets to eollect contractual cash flows;
and
s the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 1o cash flows that are Solely Payment
of Principal and Interest (“SPPI7).

A debt instrement s measured at PYOC] onby if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTFL:
= the asset is held within a Business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and
*= the contractual terms of the finandal asset ghve rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 5PPI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value in OC1. This election is made an an imestrent-by-f mestrnent basis.

All gther financial assets are classified as measured at FYTPL

In addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FYOC as FVTPL if doing 5o eliminates or signiﬁ-:.anﬂgr reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business moded in which an asset [s held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information
considered includes:

*  the stated polides and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those palicles in practice. In particular,
whether management's strategy focuses on earndng contractual interest revenwe, maintaining a particular
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are
funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

*  how the performance of the portfalio is evaluated and reparted 1o the Group's management;

s the risks that affect the perfermance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model} and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

+  how managers of the busl are compensated (e g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

+  thefrequency, valume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in [solation, but as part of an
overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how
musch cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are either held for trading or managed and whose perfermance is evaluated on a fair value basis are
measured at FUTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both 1o collect contractual
cash flows and ta sell financial assets.

23

215/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooooad
el b del b
g FABT

i Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(e} Fimancial assets and liabilities {continued)
{ii}  Classification {continwed)
Financlal assets = Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Assessmant of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest [5PPI)

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal” is defined 25 the fair value of the financial asset an initial recognition,
‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the tirme value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal
amaunt outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liguidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.
This inchedes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contraciual term that could change the timing or amount
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Growp cansiders:

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

leverapge features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Graug’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse laans); and
features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest rates),

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option o propose 1o revise the
Interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The
borrowers have an option to efither accept the revised rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are 5PP| becawse the option varies the interest rate ina way
that & consideration for the time value of money, oredit risk, other basic lending risks and costs associated with the
principal amount outstanding,
Financial assets — Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
The Growp classifies its finandal assets into one of the following categories:
{a) Fair value through profit or loss
{i} Designation at fair value through profit or loss
The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when either:
= the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reparted internally on a fair value basis; or

= the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would atherwise
arise.

(i} Held for trading

Trading assets are those assets that the Group acquires for the purpose of selling in the near term, or holds as
part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term prafit taking.

Fair walue thraugh profit or loss assets ls not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognétion.

(b} Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables inchede cash and balances with central banks, due from bank and financial institutions,
finance lease receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and loans and advances. These are non-derivative

financial assets with fived or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the
Group does not intend 1o sell immediately or in the near term,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e} Fimancial assets and liabilities {continued)
{ii}  Classification {continuwed)
Financial assets = Policy applicable prier to 1 January 2018 (contimued)]
(e} Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fived or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the Group has the pasitive intent and ability to hobd 1o maturity,

() Avallable-for-sale

The Group has non-derivative financial assets designated as available-for-sale when these are not classified as
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
Available for sale assets are intended 1o be hedd for an indefinite period of time and may be sold in future to
manage liquidity requirements or in response 1o market fluctuation ininterest rates or pricing of the financial
AS5ELE,

Financial llabilities

The Group classifies its financial liakilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured at
amortised cost or fair value throwgh profit or loss.

i} Derecognition
Finandal assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the finandal asset expire
[see also 3{iv)), or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Groug neither transfers mor
rétaing substantially all of the risks and rewards of gunership and it does nat retain contral of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a finandal asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset {or the carrying amount
allocated 1o the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i} the consideration received (including any new asset
abtained less any new liability assumed) and (i} amy cumul ative gain or loss that had been recognised in 0Cl is recognised
In prafit or loss.

Fram 1 lanuary 2008 any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCHin respect of equity investment securities designated as
at FVOCl is not recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that qualify far derecognition that is created or retained by the Group is recognised a3 2 separate asset or liability.

Thee Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised an its consolidared statement of financial
posithon, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a poartlon of them.
I sasch cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-
and-repurchase transactions.

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the transaction
is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar 1o sale-and-repurcha se transactions, because the Group retains
all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of such assers,

In transactions in which the Group neither retaing nor transfers substantially 31l of the risks and rewards of ownership of

& financial asset and it retaing control aver the asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing Invalvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c)  Firancial assets and liabilities (continued)
(i}  Derecognition {contimred)
Financial assets fcontinued)

In certain transactions, the Group retaing the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred
asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria, An asset or lizbiliy is recognised for the servicing contract if
the servicing fee i more than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate fliability) for performing the wervicing,

Financial [iabilities

The Growp derecognises a financial Bability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.
{iv)  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities

Policy applicable from 1 January 2008

Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset are
substantially different. if the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the
ariginal financial asset are deemed 1o have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised and a new
financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the modification
are accounted for as follows:

»  feesthat are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement

of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and
«  other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually
o maximise recovery of the ariginal contractual terms rather than 1o ariginate a new asset with substantially different
terms, If the Group plans 1o modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forghveness of cash Aows, then it first
considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach impacts
the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition eriteria are not usually met in such cases,

If the madification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOC! does not result in derecognition of the
financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amownt of the finandal asset using the original
effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or boss in profit or loss.
For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Amy costs or fees incurred and fees receivable
a5 part of the modification adjust the grass carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortived aver the
rermaining teérm of the modified financial aszet.

IF such a modification is carried aut because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented
together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest
rate method.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are
substantially different. In this case, 3 new financial Kability based on the modified terms i4 recognizsed at fair value, The
difference between the carrying amaunt of the financial liabitity derecopnised and consideration paid is recognised in

profit or loss. Consideration pald includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities,
induding the new madified financial liability.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e} Fimancial assets and liabilities {continued)
{iw}  Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 fcontinued)
Financial [iabilities

If the medification of a financial liability is not accounted for 23 derecognition, then the amortised cost of the liability is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows a1 the original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the orginal effective interest rate wed to calculate the
rodification gain o loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the madification. Any costs and fees
incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carnying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term
of the modified finandal liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Financial assets

IF the terms of a financial asset were madified, then the Group evaluated whether the cash flows of the modified asset
were substantially different, If the cash flows were substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from
the original financial asset were deemed to have expired, In this case, the original inancial asset was derecognised [see
Sfiii}p and 8 new financial asset was recognised a1 fair value,

IF the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficutties of the borrower and the asset was not
derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the pre-maodification interest rate (see Jjvil)).

Financial liabilities

The Groug derecognésed a financial liability when its terms were modified and the cash flows of the modified liability
were substantially different. In this case, a new financial liakility based on the modified terms was recognised at fair
value. The difference between the carrying amount of the finandal liability extinguished and consideration paid was
recognised in profit or boss, Consideration paid included non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of
liabilities, including the new moadified financial Rakdity,

IF the modification of a financial liability was not accounted for as derecognition, then any costs and fees incurred were
recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liabllity and amortised over the remaining term of the
rmodified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

v]  Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
whien, and anly when, the Greup has a legal right to set off the amounts and intend either to settle on a ret basis, or 10
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneoushy.

Income and expenses are presented on a et basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from
a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

{vi}  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received 1o sell an a4set or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trandaction
between market participants a1 the measurement date in the principal, or inits absence, the most advantageous markey
to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a Hability reflects its non-performance risk. When avallable,
the Growp measwres the falr value of an Instrement using the quoted price In an active rmarket for that instrement, A
market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
pravide pricing information on an on-going basis.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e} Fimancial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vi}  Fairwvalue measurement [continued)

If there is no quated price in an active market, then the Group uses the valuation technigues that maximize the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inguts, The chasen valuation technique incorporates
all the factors that market participants would take into account in priding a transaction. The best evidence of the fair
value of a finantial instrument at initial recognition i normally the transaction price — e, the fair value of the
consideration given or received, If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability mor based on a valuation technigue that uses only data from observable markets, the finandal instrument is
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the falr value at initial recognition and the
transaction price, Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument bat no later than when the valuation is supported whally by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.

IF an asset or a Rability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, the Group measwres assets and long
positions at & bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price,

Portfolios of finandal assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by
the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk, are measured on the basls of a price that would
be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position for a particular risk exposure. These portfolio
level adjustments are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each
of the individual instruments in the partfalio,

The fair walue of investroents in mutual funds, private equity funds o similar investment vehicles are based an the last
net asset value published by the fund manager. For other investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is
determined by reference to the price of recent market transactions invalving similar irvestments, are based on the
expected discounted cash flows.

The Fair value of a demand depaosit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date on
which the amount could be required to be paid.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

{vii}  Impairment
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Bank recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Loss (ECL} on the following financial instruments that are not
measured at FYTRL:

balances with central banks;

due fram banks and financial institutions;
reverse repurchase agreements;

financial assets that are debt instruments;
loans and advances;

loan commitments issued: and

financial guarantee contracts issued,

Mo impairment loss (s recognised on equity investments.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amownt equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which they are
measured as 12-month ECL:

28

220/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooooad
1 PR
g FABT

Wi Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
{vii}  Impairment jcontinged)
Policy applicable fram 1 January 2018 feontinued)

*  debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reperting date; and
+ other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition
{see Note S(al).

Measurement of ECL

Credit loss allowances are measured using a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
arigination:
*  Siage 1 - Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk {SICR) since initial recognition of a
financial instrument, an amount equal to 12 months expected credit loss is recorded, The expected credit lass
is cormputed using a probakbility of default occurring over the next 12 months. For those instruments with a
remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a probability of default corresponding to remaining term to
matusity is used.
*  Stage 2 - When a financial instrument experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not considered to
e impaired, it is included in Stage 2. This requires the computation of expected credit loss based on the
prabability of default over the remaining estimated life of the financial instrument.
*  Stage 3 - Financial instruments that are considered to be impaired are included in this stage. Similar to Stage
2, the allowance for credit losses captures the [fetime expected credit losses,

The key inputs inta the measurerment of ECL are:
+  Probability of default (PD);
*  Loss given default (LGD);
*  Exposure at default (EAD)

These parameters are generally derived from statistical models and other historical data. They are adjusted 1o reflect
ferward-looking infermation. Additionally, the Group has elaborate review process 1o adjust ECL for factors nat available
in the model.

Duetails of these statistical parametersfinputs are a5 folbows:

*  PD=The probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time harizon.

«  EAD — The exposure at default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reparting date

*  LGD - The loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time,
It is based an the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect
ta receive, including fram the realization of any collateral, It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD,

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as foflows:

s financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present valwe of all cash shortfalls (i,
the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects 1o reoeive];

= financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carnying
amount and the predent value of estimated future cash flows;

+  undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive;
and

+ financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder le<s any amaunts that the Group
ENPECEs t0 Fecover.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
(i) Impairment jcontinued)
Restructured financlal assets

IF the terms of a financial asset are renegatiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due
to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be
derecognised and ECL are measured a3 follews

*  |fthe expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset. then the expected cash flows
arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.
I the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value of
the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition,

*  This amount is induded in caloulating the cash shaortfalls from the existing finandal asset that are discounted
from the expected date of derecognition 1o the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the
eusting financial asset,

Credit-impaired financial assets

At gach reparting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried 31 amortised cost and debnt financial assets
carried at FYOCIL and finance lease receivables are credit-impaired (referred to as "Stage 3 financial assets’). A financial
asset s ‘credit-impaired’ when ane or mare events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is eredit-impaired indudes the following observable
data:

significant finandial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a reach of contract such as a default or past dwe event;

the restructuring of 3 loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not congider otherwise;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptoy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the staterment of financial position

Loss allowsances for ECL are presented in the staterment of financial position as follows:
s financial asse1s measured at amortised cost: a5 a deduction from the grods carrying amount of the assets;
+  loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision; and
= debtinstruments measured at FVOO: no loss allowance is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fairvalue. However, the loss allowance is disclosed
and is recagnised in the fair value reserve.

Write-off

Leans and debt securities are written off (either partially ar in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
a financial asset in its entirety of a partion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the
borrawer does not have assets or sources of income that could generate suffident cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-aff. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in "net impairment charge” in the statement of profit or loss.
Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group's
procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”) provision requirements

As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAESBSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the specific provision and

generalfcollective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment allowance computed under IFRS 9, the
differential should be transferred to an “Impairment Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained earmings. This
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e} Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
{vil)  Impairment {continued)
Central Bank of UAE {“CBUAE"™) provision requirements

Impairment Reserve should be split to that which relates to difference in specific provision and generalfcollective
provisian, The Impainment reserve will not be available for payment of dividend,

Palicy prior to 1 January 2018

An assessment is made at each reporting date and periodically during the year to determine whether there (s any
objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or boss, are impaired. Financial assets are
Impaired when objective evidence indicates that a boss event has ocourred after the initial recognition of the asset and
that the loss event has animpact on the future cash flows of the asset that can be estimated reliably.

Chjective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer,
default ar delinquency by a barrower, restructuring of a loan ar an advance by the Group on terms that the Groug would
not otherwise consider, indications that a barrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market
for a security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an
investment in an equity security, a significant er prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of
impairment.

The Group considers evidence of impairment for boans and advances and held to maturity irvestment securities at bath
specific and collective levels, All individaally significant assets are assessed for specific impairment, All individually
significant assets found ot to be specifically impaired are required to be collectively assessed for any impairment that
has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are caollectively assessed for
impairment by grouping together financial assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment the Growg uses IFRS and Central Bank of UAE guidelines to establish a statistical
madelling which incorparates historical trénds of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss
incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current econgmixc and credit conditions are such that the
actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historical modelling. Default rates, loss rates and the
expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain
approgriate.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amontised cost are measured as the difference between the carmying
amasmt of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and reflected in an allowance
account against such financial assers. When a subsequent event cawses the amount of impairment [oss 1o decrease, the
decrexse in impairment boss is reversed through the consalidated statement of profit or boss.

Impalrment losses on avadable-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the bosses accumulated in the fair
value reserve to profit or boss. The amount redassified is the difference between the aoquisition cost [net of any principal
regayment and amortisation] and the current fair value, less any impairment boss previously recognised in profit or loss,
IF the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases and the increase can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impafrment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed through
profit ar logs, Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as
available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment kasses an an wguooted equity instruments that are carried at cost because their fair value cannot be relizbly
measured, are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present values

of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of retwn for similar financial assets. Such
Impairment lasses shall not be reversed.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
{d) Cashand cash equivalents

For the purpose of consolidated staterment of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, balances with central
banks and due fram banks and financial institutions with original maturities of less than theee menths, which are subject
ta insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are wsed by the Group in the management of its short-termcommitments.

Cash and cach equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amartised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(e} Due from banks and financial Institutions
These are non-derivative financial assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowance for impairment,
1} Investrnents at fair value through profit or loss

These are securities that the Group acquire principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or holding as a part of
portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking. These assets are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. All changes in fair values are
recagnised as part of profit or loss.

{g]  Rewerse repurchase agreements

Assets purchased with a simultaneous commitrment to resell at a fixed price on a specilied future date are not recognised.
The amaunt paid to the counterparty under these agreements is shown 34 reverse répurchate agreements in the
consolidated statement of finandal position. The difference between purchase and resale price s treated as interest
Incame and accrued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss using the effective interest rate methad.

{h} Loans and advances
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
‘Leans and advances’ captions in the staterment of financial position indude:
o loans and advances measured a8 amortised cast; they are initially measered a1 fair value plus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequenthy at their amortised cost using the effective interest methed, and

+  finance lease recehables.

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fived or determinable payments that are not quoted inan
active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term,

When the Group is the lessor in a leaze agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is dassified as a finance lease and a receivable equal to the net
investment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advances.

In determining whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement and assesses.
whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and whether the
arrangerment conveys a right to use the assens.

These are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations or the lean are sold or written-off.

Policy applicable pricr to 1 January 2018

Loans and advances include loans and advances originated by the Group which is net dassified as held for wading or
designated at fair value, Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced 10 2 borrower. They are derecognised

when either the berrower repays its obligations, or the loans are seld or written off. These are initially measured at fair
value (being the transaction price at inception) plus incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently measured at
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[h)  Loans and advances {continued)
Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

amartised cost using the effective interest rate method, adjusted for effective fair value hedpges for the risk being hedged,
net of interest suspended and provisions for impairment,

Loans and advances include direct finance provided 1o customers such as overdralts, credit cards, term loans, finance
lease receivables and commercial bils,

i) Islamic financing and investing contracts

The Group engages in Sharia’a compliant klamic kanking activities through various Islamic instruments such as Ljara,
Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala.

i) Definitions
ljara
ljara consists of ljara muntahia bitamleek.

ljara financing is an agreement where by the Group [lessor] leases or constructs.an asset based on the customer’s [lesses)
request and promise to lease the assets for a specific period against certain rent instalments. ljara could end in
transferring the awnership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease pericd, Also, the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset to the lessee, ljara income is recognised on an
effective prafit rate basiz over the lease term,

Murabaha

A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commodities and other assefs at an agreed upon prafit mark up
on cost. The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item purchased accarding
to specific terms and conditions, Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the transaction, Such
income is recognised as it acorues over the period of the contract an effective profit rate methed on the balance
autstanding.

Mudaraba

A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the other party
[the Mudarib) invests the funds ina project or a particular activity and any profits generated are distributed between the
parties according to the profit shares that were pre-agreed in the contract. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of
default, negligence or wiolation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are barne by the
Rab Al Mal, Income is recognised based on expected results adjusted fer actual results on distribution by the Mudarib,
whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the loses are charged 1o the Group's consolidated incame statement when
Incurred.

‘Wakala

An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of money toan
agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific conditions in return for 2 certain fee (a lump sum of maney or a
percentage of the amount invested]. The agent is abliged to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence
or viclation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending an the
mature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala Is recognised on the effective profit rate basls over the period, adjusted by actual income
when received. Losses are accounted for when incurred.

i3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(i} Islamic financing and investing contracts (continued)
{il}  Rewenue recognition
ljara

Income from ljara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to its
collectabdlity,

Murabaha

Income fram Murabaha is recognised on a declinéng-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with regard to
its collectability.

Mudaraba

Income ar losses on Mudaraba financing are recognised an an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated, Otherwise,
Income is recognised on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are changed to the consolidated staterment of
profit or loss an their declaration by the Mudarib.

Wakala

Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrueal basis over the period, adjusted by actual income when
received, Losses are accounted for on the date of dediaration by the agent.

(b Mon-trading investments
Palicy applicable from 1 January 2018

The ‘nan-trading investments’ caption in the statement of financial position includes:

s debt investment securities measured at amoetised cost; these are initially measured at fair valee plus
incrermental direct ransaction costs, and subsequently a1 their amortised cost using the effective interest
method;

= gdebt securities measured at FWOCT;

«  equity investrment securities designated as at FVOCI: and

*  Irvesiment in assaciate and joint venture

For debt securities measured at FYOCI, gaing and losses are recognised in OC1, except for the following, which are
recagnised in prafit or boss in the same manner as for financial assets measwed at amortised cost:

*  interest revenue using the effective interest method;

*  ECL and reversals; and

e foreign exchange gains and ladses.

When debt security measured at FYOU s derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised In OC1 is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

The Group elects to present in 1 changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, The election is made on an instrument-ty-instrument basis on initial recognition and i irrevocable,
Gaing and losses on sech equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or boss and no impairment is recagnised in
profit or loss. Dividends are recegnised in profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recaovery of part of the cost of the
investment, in which case they are recognised in 001 Cemulative gains and losses recognised in OCT are transferred to
retained earnings on disposal of an investment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1] Mon-trading investments [continued)
Policy prior to 1 lanuary 2018

Included in non-trading inwvestrments are FVOCH (both equity and debt] which are initially recagnised at fair value plus
incremental transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Pricr to 1 lanuary 2018, non-trading investments
includes available-for-sale assets (debt and equity} which are initially recognésed at fair value plus incremental transaction
costs directly attributable to the scquisition.

After initial recognition, these investments are re-measured a1 fair value, For investments which are not part of an
effective hedpe relatlonship, unrealised gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income untll the
investment is derecognised or untll the investment (s determined to be impaired, at which time the comulative gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
thee year. For investments whidh are part of an effective fair value hedge relationship, any unrealised gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
changes in fair value being hedged.

Imterest income is recognised on FYOC debt securities using the effective interest rave, caloulated over the asset’s
expected life. Premiums andfor discounts arising on the purchase of debit imestrnent securities are incloded in the
calculation of thelr effective interest rates. Dividends on equity instruments are recognised in the statement of profitor
loss when the right to receive payment has been established.

For the purpose of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, an available-for-sale financial asset is treated as if it
were carried at amortised cost incthe foreign currency. Accordingly, for such a financial asset, emchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

For unquoted equity imvestments where fair value cannot be reliably measured, these are carried at cost less provision
for impairment in value. Upon de-recognition, the gain or loss an sale is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit ar loss for the year.

Inchuded in non-trading investments are held-to-maturity assets which are non-derivative assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity and that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hald them il
maturity, These are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attribatable transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured &t amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses,

A sale or redassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments would result in the
reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and would prevent the Group from classifying
Investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two finandal years. However, sales and
reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not necessarily trigger a reclassification:

+  sales or reclassifications that are so close vo maturity that changes In the market rate of interest would not
have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;

s sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected substantially all of the asset's eriginal principal; and

+  sales or reclassifications, which are attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the Group's contral
that could nat have been reasonably anticipated

[k}  Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction cos1s. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair values ofinvestment properties are included in the consolidated income statement under
‘ather income” In the year in which they arise.

Iwwestment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from wse and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal, Any gains or losses on
the retirement or dispedal of an investment property ane recognised in the consalidated income statement in the year
of retirement or disposal,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements fconf:’nued)
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(I} Property and equipment
i Recognition and measurement
All itemns of property and equépment are measused at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if amy,
except for kand, which is measured at fair value. Capital projects in progress are initially recorded at cost and regulariy
tested for impairment and upon completion are transferred to the appropriate category of property and equipment and

thereafter depreciated.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, Purchased software that is
integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Gains and bosses on disposal of an item of property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within other operating income in
the consolidated statement of profit or boss.

Subsequent expenditures are only capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits of such expenditures
will Mow 1o the Group, On-going expenses are charged to conselidated staterment of profit or loss as incwrred.

i}  Depredation

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis aver the estimated
useful lives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of assets for the cwrrent and camparative period are as Tollows:

Buildings and wvillas 20 1o S0 years
Office furniture and equipment Sta T years
Fit-cant leased premises 10 years
Safes 10 years
Computer systems and equipment 3 to T years
Vehicles 3 years

Depreciztion methods, useful Hves and residual values are reassessad at every reporting date.
{ii}  Capital work in progress

Capital wark in progress assets are assets [n the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes,
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct cost attributable to design and
construction of the property capitalised in accordance with Group's accounting policy. When the assets are ready for
the inended use, the capital work in progress is iransferred 1o the approprizte property and equipment category and is
depreciated in accordance with the Groug's policies.

{il}  Impairment of non-financlal assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets {other than investment
progerties and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into smallest group of assels that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or OGS, Goodwill arising from a business
combination is allocated 1o OGUs or groug of CGUs that are expected benefit from the synergies of the combination,
The ‘recoverable amount” of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. “Value in

use’ is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their presant value using pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGL,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(1] Property and equipment (continued)
{iw} Impairment of non-financial assets
An impairment loss s recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

The Group’s corparate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by maore than one CGU, Corparate
assets are allocated 1o CGUs on a reasonabile and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the
CGLs te which the corporate assets are allocated,

Impairment kosses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first 1o reduce the carrying amaount of any goodwill
allocated to the OG5, and then ta reduce the carrying amounts of any other assets in the CGU on a prorate basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss i reversed only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amartizatian, if no impairment loss had been recagnised,

[m) Intangible assets

Goodwill arises on the scquisition represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the armount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquires and the sequisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the scquinee aver
the fair value of the [dentifiable net assets aoquired. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recagnised and previously held interest measured at fair value i less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and license acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of
the CGUS, or groups of CGLS, that is expected 1o benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the laowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
far internal management purposes. Goodwill is manitored at the operating segrment level,

Goodwill and license impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential iImpairment. The carrying value of the OGU containing the goodwill s compared to the
recoveralble amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair valwe less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed,

The Group's intangible assets other than goodwill inclede intangible assets arising out of business combinations, The
cast of intangible asse1s acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquasition. Imangible assets
acquired separately are measured on initlal recognition at cost. Following inétlal recognition, intangible assets are carried
at cost bess any accumulated amartisation and accumalated impairment losses,

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amartised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired, The amortisation pericd and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
lifie are renviewsed at least at the end of each reporting peried, Changes in the expected useful life ar the expected pattern
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amartisation period ar
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estirmates. The amartisation expense on Intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets for the calculation of amartisation are as follows:

Customer relationships 7.5 =15 years

Core deposits 1.5 years — 15 years

Brand 20 years
37
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans and advances and are
recarded as assets held for sale and reported in "Other assets”. The asset acquired is recorded at the lower of its falr
walue less costs 1o sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No
depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for sale, Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to fair value
less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment loss and includied in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, Any
subdequent increase in the fair value less costs va sell, tothe extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment loss,
it recognised in the consalidated statement of profit or loss, The Group's collateral disposal palicy i in line with the
respective regulatory requirement of the regions in which the Group operates.

[e)  Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and Commercial Paper

Due ta banks and financial institutions, custormer deposits and Commercial Paper are financial liabilities and are initizlly
recagnised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the
effective Interest rate method,

[p) Repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultanecus commitment to repurchase at a fixed price on a specified futwre date are not
derecognised. The liability 1o the counterparty for amounts réceived under these agreements is shown a8 repurchase
agreements in the consalidated statement of financial position, The difference between sale and repurchase price is
treated as interest expense and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement and charged to the consalidated
statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

[g)  Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes include convertible notes that can be converted Into share capital at the option
of the holder, where the number of shares issued do not vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is caloulated as the excess of issue
proceeds over the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable to similar liabilities that do rot hawve a conversion option,

Term borrowing which are designated a1 FYTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the [Eability that is attributable
to changes in its credit risk is presented in OCI as a liability credit reserve, On initial recognition of the finandal liabiliny,
the Group assesses whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the Gabdity that is attributable to credit
risk in OC] wauld create or enlarge an accounting mismateh in profit or loss, This assessment is made by using a regression
analyss to compare:

*  theexpected changes in the fair value of the lability related to changes in the credit risk; with

# theimpact on profit or loss of expected changes in fair value of the related instruments.

Amounts presented in the lability credit reserve are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss. When these
instruments are derecognised, the related cumulative amaunt in the [fability credit reserve is transferred to retained
armings.

Term borrowings and subordinated notes without corversion optéion and that are at fair value through profit or loss are

financial liabilities which are initially recognised at their fair value minus the transaction costs and subsequenthy
measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate methed and adjusted to the extent of fair value

changes for the risks being hedged.
[r}  Treasury shares

Crwn equity instruments which are acquired {treasury shares} are deducted from the equity and accounted for at
weighted average cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the purchase, sale, issue
arcancelation of the Bank's own equity instruments, Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(r)  Treasury shares

|§ reissued, is recognised in share premium. IF treasury shares are distributed as part of a bonus share issue, the cost of
the shares Is charged against retained earnings. Vioting rights relating to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and
no dividends are allocated to them respectively,

[8)  Fiduciary assets

Asgets held in trust ar in 2 Bduciary capacity are nat treated &5 asdets af the Group and acoardingly aré et intluded in
these consalidated financial statements.

[t}  Share option scheme

On the grant date fair value of options granted to s1aff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost, with a
corresponding increzse in equity, over the period required for the staff to become uncenditionally entitled to the
options. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share aptions for which the refated
service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the
nurmber of share options that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.
These shares may contribute to the calculation of dilutive EPS once they are deemed as potential ordinary shares,

[u}  Interest income and expense
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recagnised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, The ‘effective interest
rate’ s the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to:

*  thegross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

*  theamartised cost of the financial liability.

When caleulating the effective interest rate for financial instruments ather than purchased or ariginated credit-impaired
assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial Hakility.

Amuortised cost and gross carmying amaount

The ‘amartised cast’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the armount at which the financial asset or financial liability
is rmeasured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the eumulative amartisation wsing the
effective interest method of any difference between that indtial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance [or impairment allowance before 1 lanuary 2018).

The “gross carrying amaunt of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected
credit loss allowance,

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset ar financial lEabdity i calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset
or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate ks applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset {when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective

interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect
moverments in market rates of interest, The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[w)  Interest income and expense (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 lanuary 2018 (continued)
Calculation of interest income and expense (continued)
date amartisation of the hedge adjustment begins.
For infarmation an when fina ncial assets are credit-impaired, see Note 3{c){vii).
Presentation

Interest income caloulated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit or loss and OO
includes:
= interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost;
*  interest on debt ngtruments measwred at FYOCH
+  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period a5 the hedged cash fiows affect interest incomefexpence:;
and
& the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk,

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and 00 incledes:
+ financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and
&  the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging dervatives designated in cash flow hedges of
variabllity in interest cash flows, in the same pericd as the hedged cash flows affect interest income/expence.
= the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk,

Interest income and expense on financial assets and financial liabitities at FVTPL are presented as in interest income ar
interest expense from financial instruments at FYTPL

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Interest incorme and expense ane recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss wsing the effeciive interest
rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the finandal instrument ar, where apgropriate, a shorter periad, 1o the net carnying armount
of the fnancial aswet or financial liability. When caleulating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash Tlows
considering all contractual terms of the finandal instrument but excduding future credit losses. The calculation Incledes
all amounts pald or received by Group that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financal instrument,
including transaction costs and all other premiums or discownts, Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.

Inverest income and expense presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss inchede:

* interest on financial assets and liabikities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis;

*  interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest rate basis;

s interest on held for trading securities and derivative financial instruments on an effective interest rate basis;
the effective portion af fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives desgnated in cash flow hedges of
variability in interest cash flows, in the same period a5 hedged cash flows affect interest income/expense; and

= the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of
interest rate risk,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[w) Income from Islamic financing activities
ljara income is recognised on a time-proportion basis over the lease term,.

Murabaha Income ks recognised on a time apportioned basis over the periad of the contract based on the prindpal
amawnts autstanding. Mudaraba income & recognised based on expected results adjusted for actwal results on
distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses are charged to the Group’s consalidated
income statement when incurred,

[w) Depositors’ share of profit

Depositors’ share of prafit is amount accrued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and custormers in the form
af wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognised 3t expenses in the consalidated staternent of prafit or lods. The
amounits are calculated inaccordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits and Sharia'a prind ples,

[x)  Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of senvices provided 1o its customers. The basis of
accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are collected and accordingly
the revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, Fee and commission income is accounted for as
fallgs:

*  income earned from the provision of senices is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;

= income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed;

* income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of 2 financial instrument is recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Interest income”,

A contract with a custorner that results in a recopnised financial instrument in the Group's consolidated financial
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15, If this is the case, then the Group
first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS
15 to the residual.

Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services are
receivid,

[v) Zakat

Zakat represents lslamic business zakat payable by the Group on behalf of its shareholders 1o comply with the principles
of Sharia‘s and is approved by the Sharia’a Supervsory Board, The Group's appeointed Zakat Cormmittee is mandated 1o
recammend zakat distribution.

(z}  Metgain/loss on investments and derivatives

Met gain on imeestments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments at fair value
through profit or loss and derhvatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading investments and dividend income. et
gain on investment at fair value through profit or loss includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and finangal
liabilities designated at fair valoe,

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FYOO assets are recognised in the statement of ather
comprehensive income and recorded in fair value reserve with the exception of ECL, interest calculated using the
effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the investment (s sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity under fair value reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
case of debt instruments,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
[z}  Metgain/loss on investments and derivatives [continued)
Non-trading Investment Includes FVOC and amortised cost instruments.

The Groug also holds investments in assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Growp discloses interest
paid on these assets in the line where its economic substance of transaction is reflected (note 31)

Amaortised cost investrents, which are not close to their maturity are not ordinarily sold, However when they are sald
ar realised, the gain o 1035 is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

Dividend income is recognised when the right 1o receive payment is established.
[aa) Foreign currency
ik Forelgn currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Groug entitles at spot
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Manetary assets and liabllities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reparting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date, The foreign
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the peried, and the amartised cogt in fareign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period,

Mon-monetary assets and liabdities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at the date an which the fair value is determined. Non-maonetary assets and liabilities
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a forelgn currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction,

Foreign currency differences arising on transaction are generally recognised in profit or loss. However, foreign currency
differences arising from the transaction arising from the wanslation of the following item are recognised in OCI1.
awailable for sale equity instruments [ FVOC] equty instruments
a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investrment in a foreign operation to the extent that the
hedge s effective
qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedpe is effective.

{ii} Foreign operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based ausside the UAE are nat deemed an integral part of the head office
operations, as they are finandially and cperationally independent of the head office. The assets and labiities of the
foreigm operations are wranstaved into WAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at the reporting date. The income and expense
of foreign operations are translated at average rates, as approgriate. Exchange differences (including those on
transactions which hedge such investments} arising from retranslating the opening net assets, are taken directly to
foreign currency translation adjustment account in other comprehenshve income.

When a fareign aperation isdisposed of such that contred is lest, the cumulative amount inthe translation reserve related
to the foreign aperation is reclassified to prafit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal, If the Group disposes of only
part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant propartion
of the cumaulative amount is reattributed 1o NCI

If the settlement of a monetary recetvable from or payable to a fareign operation is nelther planned nor lkely in the
foreseeable future, then forelgn currency differences arising on the item form part of the net investment In the foreign
operation and recognised in OCl, and accumulated in the translation reserve in the equity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
[ab} Owerseas income tax expense

Income tax expense comprises of the current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except the extent it relates
to items recognised directhy in equity or OC1.

Current tax is provided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which the Group operates
and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
incame for the year, using tax raves enacted or substantively enacted at the reponting date and any adjustrment o tax
payable in respect of previous years,

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and labilities for
finamcial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recagnised for the following
temporary differences: the initial recognétion of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable peofit or boss, and differences relating
to investmenits in subsidiaries to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future, Deferred taxis
measured at the tax rates that are expected 10 apply 1o the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based om laws that have Been enacted at the reparting date,

Adeferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced 1o the extent that it is mo longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be avallable to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset 1o be utilised,

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities,

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group considers the impact of tax exposwres, including
whether additional taxes and interest maybe due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve
a series of judgements about future events. Mew information may become available that causes the Group to change its
judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities would impact tax expense in
the perigd in which such a determination is made.

[ag) Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to the
consalidated staternent af profit or loss, The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss fram
marking to market the derivative or using valuation technigques, mainly discounted cash flow modeds,

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held for trading,
or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so. the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains and bosses from changes
in fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When derivatives
are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either; (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (i) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows
that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a2 recognised asset or liabiity or a highly probable forecast
transaction; (iii} hedge of net investrnent which are accounted similarly ta a eash flow hedge. Hedpe accounting is applied
to derivatives designated as hedging instraments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met.

Embedded derivatives

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

Derivatives may be embedded in anather contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for an
embedded derivative separately fram the host contract when:

* the host contract is not an asset in the scope of [FRS 9;
*  thehast contract is nat itsell earried at PVTPL;
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ag) Derivative financial instruments and hedging {continued)
Embedded derlvatives (continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)

=  the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a
separate cantract; and

# the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract.

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship. Separated embedded dedvatives
are presented in the statement of financal position together with the host contract,

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Derivatives may be ernbedded in another contractual arrangement {a host contract). The Group accounts for an
embedded derivative separately from the host contract when the host contract is not itself carried at fair value through
profit or loss, the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were containedin
a separate contract, and the econamic characteristic and risks of the embedded derivative are not cosely related ta the
economic characteristics and risk of the host contract, Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with
all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss unless they form part of a qualifying cash flow ar net imestrment
hedging relationship, and are presented separately from host contract in the consolid ated statement of financial position.

Hedge accounting

It is the Growp’s policy to document, at the inception of a hedge, the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as risk management objective and strategy. The policy also requires documentation af the
assesament, a1 inception and on an an-going basis, of the effectiveness af the hedge.

The Growp makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well a3 on an on-gaing basis, as 1o
whether the hedging instrument|s] Is |are] expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or
cash flows of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge Is designated. The Groug makes an
assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as to whether the forecasted transaction is highly probable
to gcour and presents an exposure to variations In cash flows that couwld ultimatety affect profit or boss.

Fair walue hedge

In relation to falr value hedges, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument 1o fair value, as well as related
changes in fair value of the itern being hedged, are recognised immediately in the consolidated staterment of prafit er
loss together with the changes in the fair value of the hedged itern that are attributable to the hedged risk. Hedge
accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or s sold, terminated or exercised, or no lenger qualifies
for hedge accounting. Howewver if the derivative is novated to a central counterparty by both parties as a consequence of
laws or regulations withowt changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the nowation, then the derivative
is not considered as expired or terminated. Any adjustment up to that pericd to the hedged item for which effective
interest rate method was used i amortised to the consalidated s1atement of profit or loss as a part of the recalculated
effective interest rate of the then hedged itern over its rermaining life,

Cash flow hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flow attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognised assets or liability that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognised in OC1 and presented in the hedging reserve withén equity, Any
ineffective portion of changes in the fair valwe of the derivative is recognised immaediately inthe profit or lass, The amount
recegnised in OCH is reclassified to prafit or bows a3 a reclassification adjustment in the same period a5 the hedged cash
flows affect profit ar loss and inthe same line in the staterment of prafit or less and 001 If the hedging derivative expires
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
[ac) Derivative financial instruments and hedging {continued)
Embedded derivatives (continued)
Cash flow hedge frontinwed)

of sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge, no longer meets the criteria for cash fAlow hedge accounting the hedge
accounting is dacounted prospectively. However if the derivative is novated 1o a central counterparty by both parties as
a consequence of Laws or regulations without changes in its terms except for those that are necessary for the novation,
then the derivative is not considered as expired or terminated,

Net investrnents hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of
a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
it recognised in other comprehensive income in the translation reserve. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair
value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the consclidated statement of profit or loss. The amount recognised
under other comprehensive incorme is reclassified 1o statement of profit or loss an disposal of the foreign operation,

Other dervatives

All gains and bosses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not
designated as such are recognised immediately in the consolidated staterment of profit or loss as a component of net
gain on investments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain,

[ad) Previsions

A pravision is recognised if, a5 a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probabie that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 1o settle the obligation.
‘Where the effect of time value of money is mavenial, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows, at a pre-1ax rate, that reflects current market assessments af the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the labdlity.

[ae) Employees’ end of service benefit

The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees” length of service and completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are
acerued over the period of employment.

With respect 1a its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant government pension scheme
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group's ebligations are limited 1o these contributions, which
are expensed when due,

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays ficed contributions into a
separate entity or to a government organization and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts,
Obligations for contributions 1o defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in
consolidated staternent of prefit or loss inthe periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Pension and nathonal insurance contributions for eligible employees are made by the Group 1o Pensions and Benefits
Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such contributions are made.

Defined benefit plan

A defined beneht plan is a post-ermployment benelit plan other than 3 defined contribution plan. The Bakility récognised
in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the present value of the defined
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[ae) Employees’ end of service benefit [continued)
Defined benefit plan {continted)

benefit obligation at the end of the regorting period together with adjustments for unrecagnised past-senvice costs. The
defined benefit abligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method, The
present value of the defined benefit cbligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denarminated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms to maturity apgraximating 1o the terms of the related pension obligation,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit lability, which comprise actuarial gains and lesses, the return on plam assets
[excluding interest) and the effect of the asset celling (if any, excleding interest], are recognised immediately in OC1 Net
interest expense amd other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in 5taff cost in consolidated
statement of profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in
benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss en curtailment s recognised immediately to profit or loss. The
Group recagnises gains and losses an the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs,

[af) Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant to Article 118 of the Commercial Companies Law No. 8 of 1934 and in accordance with the Bank's Articles of
Association, Directors’ shall be entitled for remuneration which shall not exceed 10% of the net profits after deducting
depreciation, reserves and distribution of dividends not less than 5% of capital to shareholders.

[ag} Fiduciary activities

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group as they are only held in trust where the Groug
acts as a custodian on customers’ behalf. The Groug has no lability or obligations towards the customer on these assets
hedd in trust, Accordingly, these assets are not included in these consolidated financial statements,

[ah} Earmings per share

The Geoup presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares, Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or bess attributable to ordinary sharehalders of the Group by the weighted average number of ardinary
shares autstanding during the year, Diluted EFS is determined by adjusting the profit er lass attributable to ordinary
sharehalders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares autstanding for the effects of all dilutive patential
ordimary shares, which camprise of convertible notes and share aptions granted to staff.

{ai} Segment reporting

An operating segment is 2 component of the Growp that engages in business activities frorm which it may earn revenues
and incwr expenses, incleding revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group's Chief Executive, being the
chief operating dedision maker, to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its
perfarmance for which discrete financial information is svailable. Segrment results that are reported 1o the Group Chief
Executive include items directly attributable to a segment a3 well a5 those that can be allecated on a reasonable basis.

[aj}] Lease payments

Finance |eases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental 1o ownership of the leased
itern, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease
liability 50 as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability, Finance charges are charged
directly against incorme, Capitalised leased assets are depredated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the
asset or the lease term.

46

238/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooooad
el b del b
g FABT

Wi Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(aJ) Lease payments {continued)

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases, Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated Income statement on a straight line
basis over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

[ak) Settlement date accounting

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date that the Groug settles the
purchase ar @le of an asset,

[al) Taxes

Current income tax aseets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
fram ar paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used 1o compute the amount are thote that are
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the cowntries where the Group operates and generates taxable
Income. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of
income ar expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes iterns that are never tasable or
deductible.

Deferred incame tax is provided using the liability methad on temparary differences ot the réporting date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for finangal reporting purpases, Deferred income tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax eredits and unused tax lesses, 1o
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.

[am} Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified party fails to meet its obligation when due in accordance with the contractual terms,

Certain financial guarantee contracts in the nature of credit default guarantees are not held for proprietary trading
purpeses and are treated a3 insurance contracts and accounted for under IFRS &,

For ather financial guarantee contracts, these are initially recogniced at their fair value (which is the premium received
on issuance]. The received premium is amartised over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee lability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a
payment ureder the guarantee has become probable), The premium received on these financial guarantees & induded
within ather liabilities,

Financial guarantees are reviewed periedically so as to determine the credin risk 1o which they are exposed and, if
appropriate, 1o consider whether a provision is required. The eredit risk is determined by application of eriteria similar
to those egtablished for quantifying impairmen? losses on loans and advances. If 3 specific provision i required for
financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised under other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet are reclassified to the appropriate provision,

[an} Mew standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January

2018 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Growp has not early adopted them in preparing these
consalidated financial statements,

47

239/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOooOoOoOoo
el gk del
gow .. FABT

Wit Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Significant accounting policies {continued)
[an} Mew standards and interpretations not yet adopted {continued)
A IFRS 16 Leases

The 1ASHE isswed a new standard for accounting for leases in lanuary 2018,

al  The new standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require
lessees to recognise most leases ontheir balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use
ASSELS.

b)  Lessees must apphy 3 single model for all recognised beases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘shor-
term’ leases and leases of low-value’ assets.

c} Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leaces will be similar to today’s finance lease
accounting, with interest and depreciation expense recognised separately im the staternent of profit or loss,

Early application is permitted provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date.

The Group has assessed the impact of abave standard, Based on the assessment, the above standard has no material
impact on the consolidated financial staterments of the Groug as at the reporting date.

B. Other standards
The following amended standards are not expected 1o have a significant impact en the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
o Annwal Improvements to IFRS Standards 20152017 Cycle — various standards
= Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to |AS 28}
*  Plan Amendment, Curtallment or Settlement [Amendments to A4S 169)
& IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
+«  Amendments 1o References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
& IFRS 17 Insurance Cantracta,

4 Transitional impact

The impact from the adegtion of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 on the retained earmings, fair valee resenve and non-
controlling interests [s as follows:

Non-
Retained Fairvalue  controlling
eamings RS Intenest Total
AED000 AED'000 AED'DO0 AED'000
Balance a5t 31 December 2017 undér 1AS 39 18,677,552 625,210 487,015 19,789,777
Impact on reclassification and re measurements:
Imvestrment securities [debt) from held 1o maturity to those
masasured at fair value through other comprehensive incomse - 24,138 - 24,138
Investrment securities [debt) from available-for-sale to thase
measured it fair value through profit or less G2 [BO2) - -
Investment securities [equity] from available for-sabe to those
mdasured at faid vdw!hrmsghpm'fﬁuf lemis [47.015) 47015 - -
Investment seourithes [private equity) from available -for-sabe to
those measured at fair value through profit or loss 303,742 (303,741) - -
Impact on recognition of Expected Credit Losses
On financial assets and unfunded exposures (et of tax) {2,939,889) 49,113 [158,701] (3,049,477}
Opening balance under IFRS 9 on date of initial application of
1 lanuary 2018 15,594,991 441,132 318,314 15,764,438
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management
Introduction and overview
Risk management framework

The primary objective of the Group is to manage risk and provide returns to the shareholders in line with the accepted
risk profile. In the course of daing its regular business activities, the Group gets exposed to multiple risks notably credit
risk, market risk, liguidity and funding risk, interest rate risk, operational risk and other risks like compliance risk, strategic
risk, reputation risk, information security risk and business continuity. A well-established risk governance and ownership
structure énsures aversight and accountability of the effective management of risk at the Groug. The Risk management
tane is set right at the top from the Board of Directors ("BOD") and gets implemented through a well-defined risk
managerment structure and framewark,

Composition of Board

The Board of Directors {“80D"} is responsible for the overall direction, supervision and control of the Group. The day-to-
day management of the Group is conducted by the BOD committees, and the Group Chief Executive Officer (SGCEQ").
The BOD has overall responsibility for the Group including approving and overseeing the implementation of its strategic
objectives, risk strategy, corporate governance and corporate values within the agreed framework in accordance with
relevant statwtery and regulatory structures. The BOD currently comprises ning members, Each Director holds his
position for three years, which may then be renewed for a further theee year term. The Board of Directors of the Bank's
subsidiaries has the same fiduciary responsibilities towards their respective entities as the Group’s Directors have
towards the Bank,

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has a comprehensive corporate governance framework that puts in place rules, processes and palides
through which BOD and Senior Managerment manages the Groug, The BOD drives the implementation of the corparate
governance standards and in accordance with its charter had oversight responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance framewaork. The Group's corporate governance standards bind its signatories to the highest standards of
professionalism and due diligence in the perfformance of their duties. The Group Chief Risk Officer ["GCRO") is the
custadian of the Cosporate Framework docurment.

Risk Management Structure

The BOD approves risk management plans for the Bank, its subsidiaries, its assocates and international offices including
representative offices and overseas branches, Under autharity delegated by the BOD, the Board Risk and Compliance
Commitee ["BRCCT) thraugh its separately corvened risk management meetings formulates high-level enterprise risk
management policy, exercises delegated risk authosities and oversees the implementation of risk management
framework and contrels. The GORO functionally reperts to this commitiee.

Board Level Committees within the Group
rd M 1 mittes o
BMC comprises three members of the BOD and the CEQ. BMC oversees execution of the Group's business plan as per
the strategy approved by the Board and oversees and reviews material aspects of the business of the Group. The
Committee meets quartedy or more frequently as deermned necessary. The compesition, guiding principles and detailed
rales and respansibilities are covered in the BMC charter,
Risk mpli mmi

The BROC provides oversight and adviee 1o the Group Board in relation to current and potential future risk and
cormpliance expoiwres af the FAB Group. It also considers and helps direct future risk strategy, including determination
af risk appetite and telerance as well a5 promote a risk and compliance awareness culture among the Groug. The

Commitee meets quarterly or more frequently as deemed necessary. The compaosition, gulding prind ples and detalled
roles and responsibilities are covered in the BROC's charter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
Board Level Committees within the Group [continued)

Board Audit Committee [*BACT)

BAC comprises theee members of the BOD and the GCEQ. BAC ensures oversight of the effectiveness of the internal
control ystems and the quality and integrity of financial statements and financial reporting. In addition, it reviews,
appraves and oversees the internal and external audit programs and endures coordination between internal and external
auditars, The Grouwp Chief Audit Officer ("GCAQ™) provides reports to the Committee on Internal controts. The Committes
mets quarterly or more frequently a5 deemed necessary, The compatition, guiding princples and detailed rales and
responsibilities are covered in the Board Audit Committee’s charter.

R ; § Nomination Committee (“REMCO”

REMCO comgprises three members of the BOD and the CEQ, REMCO recommends and oversees the appolntment and
termination of Directars and succession planning for the Growp Executive Committee members, This incudes an
assessment of the skills, knowledge and expertise needed to ensure they are positioned to discharge their responsibilities
in the interests af the shareholders and FAB Group, The Committes also reviews and recommends 1o the Boards FAR's
reward frarmework, approves and oversees rewaards design and enduares it is appropriate and consistent with the Group®s
culture, values, business perfarmance and risk strategy. The Committes meets 2t least twice 3 year or more frequently
as deemed necessary. The compasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibiiities are covered in REMCO's
charter.

Management Level Committees within the Group

Management committess are responsible for implementing the Risk management framework, The major functions of
the ten management committees are listed below:

EXCC s the most senlor management committee operating under a delegated authaority from the Board. . Itis responsible
for identifying matters required or appropriate for escalation to the Group Board or Board Committees. The Group EXCO
also supports the GCEC to determine and implement the Bank's strategy as approved by the FAB Board,

The key responsibilities of the Committes indude decitions on the Bank's strategy, annual budgets, eapital management,
risk management and FAB's mare material polices and procedures. The Group EXCO may delegate certain autharities
and powers to management committees and individuals, but the Groug EXCO reserves the authority to deal with
strategy, annual bedget and structure; financlal reporting and controls; capital management; risk and Internal control;
contracis; corparate governance matters; executive remuneration and human resources policies, and group policles
generally; general meeting of sharehobders and commanication and any other matters in its discretion. EXCO consists
of the executive management team and is chaired by the Group Chief Executive Officer, The composition, guiding
principles and detailed rales and responsibilities of EXCO are covered in the EXCO’s charter,

C rate & Investment Banking Credit Committes ("CIBCCT)

CIBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation af the Group's Corporate & westrment Banking business
credit strategy and policies and procedures. The purpose of the CIBCC is to oversee the credit and lending strategies and
objectives of the Group, including identifying and managing the Group’s Corporate & Investment Banking credit
exposures and its response to trends affecting those exposures. It also assists in reviewing the quality and performance
of the Group's credit portfolic; and overseeing the Corporate & Inwestment Banking credit function of the Group,
including reviewing internal credit risk and eredit palicies and establishing portfolio Hmits. The compasition, guiding
principles and detailed roles and responaibilities of QBCC are covered in the CIBCC's charter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
Management Level Commitbees within the Group [continued)
P ) Banking & c | PRCC™)

PBCC assists EXCO in the development and implementation of credit strategy, for personal banking businesses, The
Committes has been se1 up in order to ensure a halistic overview of the busingss stirategies scross the Personal Banking
businesses of the Group, The Committes oversees the credit and lending strategies, Idemtifies and manages business
credit strategy and strategic response 10 trends affecting the businesses; reviews the quality and performance of the
portfolio; and oversees the credit risk management function including establishing preduct portfolio limits. The
compoasition, gulding principles and detailed roles and responsibilites of PBOC are covered in the PBCC's Charter.

L

Group Bisk Committee ((CRCT)

Chversees the Group-wide risk strategy and exposures to enable integrated risk management in an effective manner.
Defines, develops and periedically monitors the Group's risk appetite along with its related methodology, parameters,
targets, and tolerances taking into account the Bank's strategy and business planning, The GRC will repart refevant
manters to the Group EXCO, and as appropriate the BRCC, advising and infarming them as required on the Group's risk
appetite and framewaork.

Group Compliance Comemittes {*GOCTY

Assists the Board Risk & Compbiance Committee {"BRCC"} in fulfilling its objective of overseeing the Bank's regulatery
responsibilities as well as ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the applicable laws and regulations issued by various
regulatory authorities across the Group. The Committee also oversees that the relevant palicies and procedures,
including, but nat limited 10 the Group Code of Ethics are complied with acress the Group.

Group Asset Liability Management Committee [“GALCO"

GALCO assists the BOD and Board Committees in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee the Group’s asset and liability
management {ALM} related responsibifities. GALCO is directly accountable to the BRCC for ensuring that the risks within
the Growp Asset and Liability position are prudently managed by way of strong Group policy and procedures and an
apprapriate risk framewark, The objective of GALCD is balance sheet managernent design and strategy and constant
oversight of interest rate risk and liquidity risk with the primary geal of achieving agtimal return while ensaring adequate
levels of liquidity within an effective risk control framewark. The compasition, guiding prinaples and detailed roles and
responsibilities of GALCO are covered inthe GALCO's charter,

um i ing Committes ["HRSCT

HR5C assists the EXCO and the REMCO in fulfilling its duties with regard to implementing strategic as well a5 operational
HR initiatives in order to defiver long term value, The Committes is formed to provide a forum to discuss and approve
HR initistives and policies 1o ensure that the needs of the organization from an employes peripective aré considered
and changes, 35 necessary, are approved or are submitted for approval to the relevam governance body. The Committes
is the formal sponsar of all material HR initiatives across FAR in line with its Employes Value Progosition (“EVP™}, The
compoasition, guiding principles and detailed roles and responsibilities of HRSC are covered in the HRSC's charter.

o Steering ot J5c
I5C has been appointed under a delegated authority from EXCO to provide direction on all matters relating to the post-
Merger integration process. It is the main approving authority for all pest-Merger integration policies and procedures
and, as such, all lower-level integration committees report to the Group KSC. The Group 15C meets fortnightly and is

chaired by the GCED. The composition, guiding principles and detailed rales and responsibilites of 15C are covered inthe
I5C's charter.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
Management Level Commitbees within the Group (continued)

Assists the Group Risk Committee in fulfiling its objective of overseeing the Bank's operational risk management,
business contingity and information security responsibiliies. Responsibility areas of the GORC inclede identifying,
measuring, managing, reporting of the Bank's aperational risk profile, ratifying infarmation security policy and
procedures, integrated busingss continuity management policy and busingss recovery strategy of the Bank.

nfgrmation Security Committee (°15C)

Assists the Board Risk and Compliance Committee and the Group Risk Committee in overseeing, reviewing and taking
decisions on the implementation of FAB's security controls to ensure that information assets of the Bank are adequately
protected, It also serves as an independent and objective governance farum which ensures the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Bank's information security framework.

Group Risk Management and Compliance Function

The Growp has a centralized Risk Management, Compliance & Legal functions led by the GCRO. The Risk Management
function comprises Enterprise Risk, Credit Risk, Operational and Fraud Risk Management Unit, Market & Liquidity Risk
Management Linit, Information Security and Business Continuity Management unit. The Compliance function comprises
Regulatory compliance, Financial Crime Comgliance, Business Compliance units. The Legal function supports business &
enabling functions through dedicated units and also indudes the Group corporate governance function.

Enterprise Risk Management Policy Framework

FAB's Enterprise Risk Management Policy (ERMP) framewaork alms to accomgplish its core values and purpose of being a
waorld class organization maximizing its risk adjusted returns for all stakeholders by establishing an enterprise wide risk
management framework across FAB including local and international branches, subsidiaries, associates and foreign
representative offices, Care objective of ERMP is to provide 3 reasonabile degree of agiurance to the BOD that the risks
threatening FAR's achievement of its core purpose are being identified, measured, manitosed and controfled through an
effective integrated risk management system. The ERMP framework consists of specific policy docurnents eovering all
material risks across FAB; which indude ERM policy, Risk Appetite Policy, Carporate and Investment banking credit palicy,
Personal banking credit policy, Market risk Master policy and its assoclated operating policies, Liguidity nisk policy,
Interest rate risk policy, Operational risk policy, Fraud risk policy, Compliance risk policy, AML and Sanctions Policy, IT
and Information Security risk palicy, BOM Policy, Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP" | policy, New
Products Approval policy, Model governance palicy, etc. In addition to these risk management policies, the Group has
alsa put in place detailed operational policies, procedures and programs wherever needed. Cther relevant risks such as
reputation risk and strategy risk are covered under the ERM policy.

FAB manages risks using three lines of defense comprising of business units, control units and Internal Audit, Business
units, as the first line of defense, identify and manage risk in thelr day-to-day activities by ensuring that activitles are
within the Group's risk agpetite and are in compliance with all relevant internal policles and processes, Group Credit,
Group Risk and Legal & Compliance division, as the second line of defense, establishes risk controls comprising of polides
and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge 1o the first line of defense, The Group Chief Risk
Officer ("GCRO™) has a direct regorting line to the BRCC to ensure the independence of Group Risk from business. Internal
audit, as the third line of defense, provides assurance 1o management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk
management practioes employed by the first two lines of defense. The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reparting
lime 1o the Board Audit Committee.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework [continued)
{a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset falls to meet its contractual obligations and
cause the Group 1o incur a financial loss. 1t arlses principally from the Group’s loans and adwances, due from banks and
financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt investments, derivative financial instruments
ardd certain other assets.

Managemaent of credit risk

Credit risk identification and assessrment at FAB Group is carried out through a comprehensive mechanism comprising
three levels of defense. The first level of defense lies with the business units and is responsible for maintaning a sound
credit quality of Assets in line with the approved business strategy and credit risk appetite. The second level of defense
is with the Groug Credit Unit that assesses the risk on a customer & facility level and ensures proger documentation of
custamer, faclity and security documents along with Groug Risk management unit that assesses credit risk on a portfolie
basis and maintains credit risk policies and credit risk rating models up to date. Internal Audit acts as 2 third level of
defense with regular reviews of credit analysis and the risk functions to check the compliance with policies and
procedures af the Group. The unit alue reviews the paliey dacuments on 3 regular basis,

Az a part of credit risk monitoring and contrel framewark, regular risk monitesing at both individual and portfolio levels
is carried out along several parameters which indude credit quality, provisioning levels, expasure Emits across several
dimensions, financal and eperating performance, account conduct, end use of funds, adequacy of credit risk mitigants,
adherence to financial and non-financial covenants, recovery performance, rating system performance among others.

The Group has set up a framewaork for credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing credit risk in an expasure, at
facility beved, by a satety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees) insurance,
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation [CRM) include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Letter of Credit [SBLC) and Comfort Letters. The Group ensures that all documentation used in collateralized
transactions and for docurmenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, oredin dertvatives and collateral is
binding an all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the documents
are reviewed by approgriate authority and have appropeiate begal opinions to verify and ensure its enforceability. In
certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk.

Credit quality analysis
The following table sets out infarmation about the credit quality of financial asse1s measured a1 amortised cost, FVOCH
debt investments (2018) and available-for-sale debt assets (2017]. Unless spedifically indicated, for financial assets, the

amaunits im the table represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the
amoaunits in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed, respectively.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality anakysis [continued)
Classification of investments o5 per their externol retings:
Nan-trading investments Investments at fair value
through profit or loss
2018 27 2018 20127
AED'000 AED'O00 AEC'DOD AEDO00
AR 14,156,082 13,736,429 16,562 93,281
Al A SE,732,451 55,568,380 7,327,891 12,451,225
BEE 10 B 14,650,310 14,561,101 3,981,306 5,924,467
CCC and below 20,780 26,535 21 7
Unrated 2,876,087 4,565,265 3,295,120 851,760

90,436,310 BB457,710 14,620,910 19,320,764

Unrated investments primarily consist of imestments in Private equity funds and imestrments in equity which doesn’t
carry credit risk, Imvestrments at fair value through profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired,

Collateral held and other credit enhancements

The Growp has set up a framework far credit risk mitigation as a means towards reducing oredit risk in an exposure, at
facility bevel, by a safety net of tangible and realizable securities including approved third-party guarantees) insurance.
The types of Credit Risk Mitigation [ *CRM"} include netting agreements, collaterals, guarantees, credit derivatives, Stand
by Lemer of Credit (“SBLC™) and Comfort Letters, The Group ensures that all docamentation used in collateralized
transactions and for documenting on and off-balance sheet netting, guarantees, oredit derivatives and collateral is
binding on all parties and is legally enforceable in all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also ensures that all the doouments
are reviewed by the appropriate authority and have apgropriate legal opinicns to verify and ensure its enforceakility. In
certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk,

The Group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain of it eredit exposures. An estimate af the
collateral coverage [after application of halrcut) against credit-impaired loans and advances is shown below:

2018 2017
AED 000 AEDACOD

Collateral value cover
0-50% 8,182,041 5,910,733
51 <1008 3,930,396 3955521
Above 1008 1,353,911 1,625,901

Total Gross credit impaired loans 13,466,348 12,492,155
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk Management Framework [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)

Collateral held and other credit enhancements [continued)

The Growp's policy is 1o pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. The Groug does not generally
use the non-cash collateral for s own operations.

While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 2017 and 2018, maintaining repossession
rights assist the Group in the restructuring and settferment of credit-impaired loans.

Derivatives, reverse sale-and-repurchase agreemaents and securities borrowing

The Graup mitigates the eredit risk of derivatives, reverse wale-and-repurchase agreements and securities lending by
Entering into master netting agreements and halding callateral in the form of cash and marketable securities,

Derivative transactions are transacted on exchanges, with cearing counterparties ["COPs"] or entered into under
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (I504) master agreements. In general, under these agreements, in
certain circumstances = e.g. when a oedit event such as a default occurs = all outstanding transactions under the
agreement with the counterparty are terminatid, the termination value is assessed a3 per the jurisdiction netting rubes
and the amount (due or payable] in sertlement with the counterparty, The Groug usually executes a credit support annex
in conjunction with the 15DA agreement, which requires the Group and its counterparties to post collateral 1o mitigate
counterparty credit risk. Collateral is also posted daily in respect of derivatives transacted on exchamges and with CCPs,

Loans and advances to customers

The general creditwarthinegss of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of credit quality of a loan
extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate
barrowers provide it. The Groug may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, loating charges over
all earporate assets and ather liens and guarantees.

Because of the Group’s focus on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, the Group does not routinely update the
valuation of collateral held against all loans to corporate custemers. Valuation of collateral is updated when the loan is
put on a watch list and the loan is monitored more closely, For credit-impaired loans, the Group obtains appraisals of
collateral because it provides input into determining the management credit risk actions.

Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and technigues used for estimating impairment

See accounting policy 3wl

Significant Increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a finandal instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes bath quantitative and qualitative infarmation and analysis, based on the Graup's historical

experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-leoking infermation.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase In credit risk has ocowrred for an exposure
by comparing:

+  the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD] as at the reporting date; with

* the remaining lifetime PD for this paint in me that was estimated a1 the time of initial recognition of the
ERDOSUre,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk Management Framework [continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continwed)

For rétail portfelio historical payment behaviar of the exposure is evalusted to detérming significant intresse in cridit
risk,

In addition 1o the guantitative test based on mavement of PD, the Group also applies experienced credit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the madelled ECL results.

Credit risk grades

The Group allocates each Corporate exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be
predictive of the risk of defawlt and applying experienced credit judgement, Credit risk grades are defined using
qualitative and quantitative factars that are indicative of risk of default. These factars vary depending on the nature of
the exposure and the type of borrower,

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit
risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 (s smaller than the
difference between credit risk grades 2 and 3.

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available information about the borrower,
Exposures are subject 1o ongeing monitaring, which may result in an expasure being mowed to a different credit rigk
grade.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date.
Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrement
and the borrower, and the geographical region, What is considered significant differs for different types of lending. in
particular between corparate and retail,

The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors
linked to the Groug's credit risk management processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative
analysis on a timely basls. This will be the case far exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement
on a watch list. Such qualitative factors are based on expert judgment and relevant historical experiences.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the loss
allowance on an instrument returns 1o being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in
credit rigk, such as delinquenscy or fortearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the
indicatar itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Group determines a probation period during which the financial
asset i required 1o demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has dedined sufficiently. When
contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that the criteria fior recognising lfetime ECL are no longer met
includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified contractual terms.

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset 1o be in default when:
& The borrower is unlikely 1o pay its credit obligations to the Growp in full, withowt recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security [if amy is held);
& For retail, a facility or any material credit ebligation to the Group i more than 90 days past due;
= Owverdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or been
advized of a limit smaller than the current amount Sutstanding,

&0

252/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOoOooooad
el b del
gov  FABT

Wi Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)

Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)

Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Definition of default fcontinwed)
Inputs inta the assessrment of whether 3 financial instrument is in default and their dgnificance may vary aver time 1o
reflect changes in circumistances, The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory
capital purpases (see S[e)).
Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an
Instrument has increased significantly since jts inftial recognition and the measurement of ECL.

The Growp formulates theee economic scenarias: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned a 40% probability
af aceurring, and two bess likely scenarios, one ugside and one daownaside, each assigned 3 30% probability of ocewrring.
External information considered includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary
authorities in the countries where the Groop operstes, supranational organisations such as the OECD and the
International Monetary Fund, and selected private-sector and academic forecasters.

The Group has identified and dooumented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-eco ic variables and
credit risk and credit losses,

The economic scenarios wied as at 31 Decemnber 2008 included the fallowing key indicatars for the years ending 31

December 2019 ta 2023,
Macro
Region  Variabke!? Scenario 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Hase 2.16% 7.01% -2.78% 0.88% 123%
Oil Price Ugside 20.34% 2.20% -3.88% 1.03% 0.41%
-~ Downside 28.69%  -12.55% 4.47% 10.23% £.98%
AR By PO 2.77% B.80% £.80% 6.55% 7.56%
e Upside 28.97% 10.47% 15.35% £85% 8.48%
Downside 5.58% 1333% 152% 1.27% 3.75%
Base £.82% 2.63% 9,10% 5.14% 3.21%
Il:“ Bauity | iocide 363% 0.67% 5 35% 3.04% 287%
™ Dawnside -23 A3% 2.35% 12.52% % 4, 765%
Base 1.54% 1.43% 167% 1.78% 1.74%
UK GDP Upside 3.10% 2.95% 1.95% 1.63% 153%
Downside 1.06% 0,54% 177% 237% 1.96%

{1] Represesty the sverage anncalned incnease [ oocrekse ower tha period
{2] Thare ane acdi ool macmo vanan'es factons wed of ob*er regioss relevant Bo §he'r marcoet

Maodified finandial assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, incduding changing market conditions,
customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the customer. An
existing loan whase terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan
at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3{c)(iv).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the determination
of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects comparison of;
*  its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

*  the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.
51
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Muodified finandial assets (continued)

The Group rensgotistes loand to astomers in financal difficulties referred to a5 “forbearance activities’] ta maxmise
collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default, Under the Groug’s forbearance policy, koan forbesrance is
granted on a selective baiis if the debtor is currently in difault on its debt or if there i a high risk of default, there is
evidence that the debtor made all reasanable efforts 1o pay under the original contractual terms and the debror is
expected 1o be able 1o meet the reviced terms.

The revized terms usually indude extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest payments and amending the
terms of loan covenants. Both retall and corporate boans are subject to the forbbearance policy. The Group Credit
Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance activities,

For finamcial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the
maodification has improved ar restored the Group’s akility to collect interest and principal and the Group's previows
experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrowers payment
performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioural indicators.

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an expectation of forbearance
may constitute evidence that an exposure is aredit-impaired (see Mote 3cl{vii)). A customer needs to demonstrate
consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-
impairedfin default or the PD is considered 1o have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts 1o being measured at
an amount equal fo Stage 1,

Loans with renegotiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower's financial
position and where the Group has made material concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once a loan is
restructured, it remains in this category for a minimum period of twelve months, in order to establish satisfactory track
record of performance under the restructuring agreement. The Group determines the twelve-month period to
commence fram the date of signing of the agreement for restructuring. As at the reporting date, the Group has
renegotiated the following exposunes:

2018 07
AED D00 AEDDOD

Loans with renegotiated terms
Gross carrying amount 7322918 5,308,292
Impaired amaunt 2,719,912 1815476
Allowance for impairment [ECL / Spedfic Provision) 3,008,807 TO5.482

Measurement of ECL

Tt key Enputs inta the messurement of ECL are:
= probability of default (PD);
& loss given default (LGD); and

®  eposure at default (EAD),
B2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
{a}  Credit risk frontinued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

The Lifetime PDs are determined based on maturity profile, The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a
portfolio throughout the remaining life of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data,

LGD is the magnitude of the Fkely loss if there is a defaull, The Group estimates LGD term structure based an current
collateral, countérparty industry, eountry of risk and recovery costs that is integral 1o the financial asset, LGD estimates
are recalibrated for different econormic scenarios incorporating the impact of change in oll prices, equity index and other
parameners.

EAD represents the expected exgosure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure
to the counterparty and patential changes to the current amount allowed wnder the contract and arising from
amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amaunt at the time of default. For lending commitments,
the EADs are potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical
observations and ferward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represents the amaunt of the guarantesd
expoture when the financial guarantes becomes payable, For some financial assets, EAD s determined by modelling the
range of posuble exposure outoomes at various peints in tirme using statistical technigues.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-manth for Stage 1 financal assets, the Group measures ECL
considering the risk of default over the masimum contractual period {including any borrower’s extension aptions] over
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Group considers a longer period. The
maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require repayment of an advance
or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee,

However, for credit card facilities that include bath a loan and an undrawn commitment companent, the Groug measures
ECL ower & period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Groug’s contractual ability 1o demand repayrment
and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group™s exposure 1o credit lostes 1o the contractual natice
period. The Growp can cancel them with immediate effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-
to-day management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an increase incredit risk at the fadlity level. This longer
period is estimated taking into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expiects to take, and that serve
to mitigate ECL. These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility andfor turning the outstanding balance
into a boan with fived repayment terms,

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis
of shared risk characteristics that inclede:

instrument type;

coflateral type;

LTV ratio for retail morgages;

date of initial recognition;

remaining term to maturity;

irdhustry: and

geographic location of the borrower,

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately
homogenéeous.

Loss allowance
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by dass of

financial instrument. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent the allowance account for credit losses and reflect the
measurement Basls under |AS 39,

63
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Amounts arising from ECL (continued)
Loss allowance (continwed)
Purchased
credit 018
Stage 1! Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total w7
AEDDOD AEDDO0 AEDDOO AED'DO0 AED'DOO AEDNDO0
Beginning of the periad 8,146 848 - 4,581 363 - 12728111  44GE0E0
Increase due to acquisition and
other adjustment - - - - - B919,060
Impact of accounting policy
alignment - - . . - 325,260
Impact due to IFRS 9 adopticn 15,953,631) 6405571 264455 1383559 3,099,954 .

2,193,217 BA405,571 4,845,718 2,333,559 15828065 13,712,330
Transfers:
Tranafer frarm Stage 1 to Stage 2 [129,413) 129,413 - - -

Transfer fram 5tage 1 1o S1age 3 [152,427) - 152427 - - -
Traneder from Stage 2 to Stage 1 141,307 {142,307) - - -

Transfer from Stage 2 1o Stage 3 - |2.,535.498) 2,535 498 - - -
Transfer fraom Stage 3 1o S1age 2 : L7075 (ATT.073)

Transfer fram 5tage 3 to Stage 1 10,423 - (10,423} - - -

(120,110) (2,370,317}  2,500.427 B =

Irmpact of change in provision [1B8,6597) 657932 1708792  (384.204) 1813823 2362297
Write-offs and other
adjustments [36,081) (212155} (4,235,222 (389,220} (4.8B72,67B) (3.346.566)

1838329 4481031 4819715 1630135 12,769,210 12728111

10n certain assets induded as part of other assets, ECL Is computed based on dmplified approach and reported as part
of stage 1.

B4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
Risk management framewark {continued)
[a}  Credit risk (continued)
Maxirmurm exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet, including

derivatives, The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting
and collateral agregments,

Gross Gross

maximum maximum

KpOsUre EAROSLING

2018 017

MNote AED'OOO AED'DND

Balances with Central Bank 8 181,469,100 136,332 882
Inwestments at falr value through profit or loss 9 11,679,960 18,761,276
Due from banks and finandal institutions 10 19,226,248 13,839,490
Rewverse repurchase agreements 11 15,048,807 21346574
Loans and advances 12 367,056,451 345,085,058
Hon-trading imvestments 13 90,371,169 86,057,723
Other adsets 20,484,753 15,542,116
Total 709,336,528 636,959 529
Derivatives held for trading 39 11,258,237 10,874,605
Derivatives held for hedging 39 1,825,955 524827
Total 13,084,192 11,399,432
Contingent liabilities 38 165,134,974 152,437,597
Commitrment 38 45,659,602 42 9R3, T
Tatal 210,794,576 195,421,391
Total credit risk exposure 933,115,296 843,780,352

‘Where financial instrumenits are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the carrent credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that coubd arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

B5
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
5 Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk {continuwed)
Classification of Investments os per their counterparties:
Investrments at fair value
Non-trading investments through profit or loss
w18 217 018 017
AED'000 AEDYOO0 AED'0O0 AED'DOO
Government sectar 41,637,190 38,956,577 2,680,485 4,397,799
Supranational 2,504,208 3,180,983 £10,394 915,279
Public Sector 22,515,092 23,521,158 1,251,552 2,287,703
Banking sector 17,552,792 15,019,621 6,790,144 11,070,762
Corporate [ private sector 6,227,028 1779371 3,088,235 649,219

90,436,210 88,457,710 14,620,910 19,320,764
Lews: allowance for impairment (expected
credit loss} on amortised cost securities {2,736) -

90,433,574 65,457,710 14,620,910 18,320,764

Settlernent risk

The Group’s activities may give rise 1o risk at the time of semlement of transactions and trades, Settlement risk is the risk
of loss due to the failure of coumterparty to honaur its obligations 1o deliver cash, securities or other assets as
contractually agreed. Any delay in settlement [s rare and monitored.

Derivative related credit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual abligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to the Group, The
positive market value is also referred 1o as the “replacerment cost” since it is an estimate of what it would oot to replace
transactions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority of the Group's derivative contracts are
entered into with other banks and financial institutions.

[b)  Liguidity risk

Liquiskty risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unabbe to meet its financial obdigations as and when they fall due or
that it can only do so at an excessive cost.

Liquixiity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, including derivatives and other off-balance sheet
commitments, not being matched in currency, size, and verm, FAB ensures that all liabilities can be met as they fall due
under bath businesses 35 uswal and stress conditions without incurring undue cost,

Management of liguidity risk

The Growp has defined the liquidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled liquidity risk
position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to ke able to meet its financlal obligations, in all foreseeable
circumstances and without incurring substantial additional costs, for a rolling period of three months. . The risk appetite

is supported by 2 comprehensive risk management framework that includes Group ALCO agproved limits for key funding
and liquidity metrics, stress testing and 3 contingency funding plan,

i
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
[B)  Liquidity risk {continued)

Management of liguidity risk {continued)
The liquidity risk appetite is also defined at a level to ensure continued compliance with current and proposed Nouidity
regulation fram both domestic and international regulators, and aligned to support the Group’s external credit rating
objectives,
One of the critical means 1o measure adequacy of liquidity as per extant glebal regulation is through Liguidity Coverage
Ratia {“LCR"), FAB has been internally reperting Basel Il LOR numbers for a considerable period of time, and has invested
heavily in ensuring systems and controfs framewoark is n place to comply with all the qualitative and gquantitative aspects
of Basel 1Il. In addition the Group also ensures that it Is compliant with UAE Central Bank Bquidity regolation on Eligible
Liquid Assets Ratio ["ELAR™) at all times.
Liquidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the organisation to ensure that the
Group complies with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. Similarly International limits are cascaded to ensure
compliance with any additional local regulatory requirements on liquidity management,
All ligguidity palicies and procedures are subpect to réview and approval by G-ALCO,
Exposure to liguldity risk

The contractual asset and liability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's retention history isdetailed
below.

&9

261/337



EDINETOOOO
oOoOooodn

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

0L
‘A fo pwod Aup 1o sanoAuEp Fp ajomnbyy 01 uoydo Jyp soy dnodg Ay
= TEEOLE9T OOT'H05"ST BEFOES LT LESOFE'ST LIBTRLSL FLEFET'SOT s213u28u ey apey)
- VST 86E TLETITE OBLWES'S TIEITLET SLF'LBETIT TO9'659"Sk BT PUSED O SIFLUGILLLOD UAMEIPUR
OO0 EL6TOT TITFER'LT SEEREY'TT BEBTEY'ST SHETETES SOEEST'BTS SELSTTFRL
O000°EL6°TOT 3 3 = - 2 OO0'ELE'TOT Aunkg
- - - - SESTO'D SRLPOTET DEE09°ST SIM| |Gl JAYLD
BLETOF - . - - BLETON £IJ0U pAJEURIOGNS
LSO°METT ELO'BLYL EOE"SFL'OT L59"TSE'0T EET'SHE'L ELT'BOL'IE SHULMWOLI00 LWLk
POZ T EOFSEX'T T30'0E8°6 ESFTITOE TFEER LI PLESLP'SON SHE0Oap S0 PUE SJUNDOTE SHUDYST]
TLETTOD EPRELS'T TSE'69E'E GTFESY'T ELT009°T FOFETLST (SIUSLINI IS |B[IURLL SAEAUDO
: - - 1ET688 PLEVSTLT SOTPET 8T sade [eaLILY
BSEOER'T BS50E'T £00'9TYTE SEO'E0LPE spuawaaade aseyInday
= . E0T0TT TO20LET TEB'SEILE SES'99T°0F SLO[INIE [BIUBUE PUE SYuURq OF 3ng
Aynba pue saq|qen
PLLTEY'PE CEC'GREZET TEL 08T EE PTOT0L 00T 0L580E'P8 T06'000°FET SET'STT'FrL
- - E E TOESHT'S TOL'LEY'ST TO9'E25"0T 5155 S0
TILEES'6ET - - - - - T4 669°6T sapqiiueiu|
STZTE6'E * . - - = ETT'TEEE mudinba pue Asadosd
EGFEEEL i . . - - EBFESEL sapuadord Juawsany)|
oor 19 I20°GEE'Or TEERLEPT L19'91E'5T L0STOEE'S TLE'TO0'Y PLSELHOE SIS BUIPEL-UON
. SL0FEL 90T EERLLR'EY 6B 159°89 FETS06" 6 T8T965°8S BTLSOT'ESE SITUBADE pUE SUBOY
o08"gEa’'y E0T'L95°E PE0OPST TLESOLT LTTTES'T T6T'TE0°ET [STUTUNIISUY BB SAIEALIDE
- SEVOERT E50'IVE OBETPO'E LTSTIEL TSFEED'ET sjuaLBBe aseyLndas Fsonay
e = - - - TEN'DLTET TE0OLTET SUD NS [B|IUEUL PUR SYUBT Wiou) ang
BPEOVE'T 695665 E98'029 TOE0SLE TST'SIOE EOt'E60'E OT60TIYT 550) 40 Jpoud yinouyy anjea siey 1e SuIwsIM
= = = = FISISE'S ETTISE'ELT LTL806'T8T SHURG [RINEIT UM SIIUREG PUR YIS
slassy
000,03y 000,03y 000,03y 000.03Y 000,03y 000,03 000.03Y
Ay saeah saeah sirak ealk ooy syjuow g (L2110
papaadsur S aAg SOlE EOIT SYusW g ovdn

BTOT Jaquiada] TE 18 SE S311|Iqel pue 519558 sy Jo 3jyoud AJunjew sy |
{panuiyuos) ¥s11 Aypinbi {q)

{panunuos) Juawafeusw J51 [BIIUBLLY 5

{penuuoa) SJUALLIDIE)S |BIDUEUL) PAJEPI|OSUOD ) 0} SAJON

NUT KRR N e

)V s

e g

262/337



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

TL
‘A fo Juied Auo 1o SAADALSD F ajomnbyy 01 uoydo ayp soy dnodg 3y
SE0'9BT'TE TTEBRE'TT SEFETSVE S TRTE LEE'YS0'ED LES'LEVTST S 3U2EU 03 Dpel |
THR' LS 665978 60T 798 TT BEFOTSOT GERLITYE FELERE TR BT PUERAD O] SPHPUGILILLOT USUPIEUD
I B0T 70T Q6T TE5"IT GTHERSL X0 TS0'6T FOE"IEL 6D 619 TSHERE S6T'296'399
£T#'B0T T0T £1H'60T 0T Aunkg
£80'0K2"S G5 ILST GEE'ELO'TT S| IGRY S0
T80T T80T SH0U paEURIoqng
E6S'ETE0T 1YL TSE TLL"S6E'TT E9T'¥0LT SIE'BET'E TSI T SHULMWOLI00 LWLk
TES'S5T HIO'ERDT 205°TTE FLB'OTS05 LESSSE'0RE FIF'EFTGEE SPE00EP A0 PUE SUN0IZE SHADYEN]
GBLSED'S 9EE'RLET TETIR'E GTSIO0FT T99°6H)'2 TEETHE'FT (AU ISU BB A IEAIDE
STRTELY TLETEG'ST LEOPTTFE 1adey peuaLIWey
- GESBTD LITRRDE SQIO'RLOE spuawaMde aseynday
EYEORT T6E'026" TOT'SIE'ST FEE'DLS0E FUD M [B]IURUL PUE S{URG 00 200
Aynba pue saq|qen
TEOPTEEE FOFETS'TST #e0opE0g LTETI5'ER FEG'EIT'TS LELTIGR TN SETBE'TY
FOT'8TE'E TIE'wGL IT ST ZL9'5T SIASEE LD
PLETOE'GT ] g FLETOG'ET sapqiuelu|
TOS"GES'E TOS'SESE wawdinba pue Apadod
TER TR - - - TER'YTE"D sajuadord Juawgsanu|
LBEREET FET'SIV'BE STA'ETR0T TERSET 6T BITRIER FES'BFT'E OT#' ¢ 5e R sjuaw)sasy Buipen-won
965 19801 OFT'6R0TS TESR'ES GLTVIGEE TSE'TST'YS FER'SIYOEE FITUBADE QUE SUBCT
- SETPEY'E TET'BIFE FEEEPTT CER'OSKE'T LTI TEFGERE'TT (USRI ISU] B UBUL A RALE0
= = : LEFDSEL LER9GE'ET FLE'IPETT suawBBe aseyandal assanay
; = e C09LTREL DEF'ETET SUDIMIQE [B[IUEUL) PUE SHURT WD) 3ng
BEF'555 T05'LI6 OFL'ETTT 901y FETLLL'S GIT'TEE'S ro¢ 0TE'GT 50| 20 Qpoadd yEnaayl anjea s e spuswsanu)
- - - OED'999°8 W E T ELT PSOTTTHET SHURG [RINEID LI SOOURIRG PUB YR
slassy
000,03 000,03y 00003 [ETRiEL 000.03v DoDO3V 000,03
Aprnpew weak sk sawal JEA T o Eyuow g
(LT
payadsuny [¥ELNT SOlE EMT SYIUOW £ oy dn
¢ TOE Jaquiadaq T 18 e s3)|iqe) pue sjasse ayl jo ajyoud AJungews &y |
{panuuos) ysu Aupinb  (q)
(panurues) Juawafeusw Ysi BIJUBU| 4 g
_ﬁ_m_nt_____.__..__.uu‘u SluaLUajeE]s |eldueuly —um..wﬁ_u.__.u.m uod ayl o} mm.._h.z
NuTg S Ny PREd
1eabuons
MoI5)
e g

263/337



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

Zi

‘o A3jRIBLL (BRI By sad CE PATEINED,

UDII0 |2 A) J0 BETIEIBPISUGD INGEIM 38008 pajuasad SU8 AJINTRW [EMZENU0T [EUl) UD PISEY SMO] USED [EMIENLE0T PIUNCOS|PUN 34 Y|y J0j 25N1E31 2|qE][E3 Y1 slumonog sapnpul,

G60"IBTTE TTEEE'TT JEFETE T L LTRTE L66'VE0ED LG6ELEVTEST LBSLEVTST
7661905 65/ °597'8 GOT'F98'TT SEFOTSOT SV LT v6LERETY v6! EBG'TY
05T OL0'EE HTLEBE'S GTEERFLE BEW DA 06y LEG'ITY SE0'BEPLSS TIEvELOES
1SF'195 FER GIL°ER GETE * PIEETI 18E0LY
ERVLBETE LFTESR'E SHE0E5ET LBE'TEE'E SIr'06E'E 200850 BTLSPT'Er
915 TZL OT0'4STT 9L PARE PRL'IPE'TS SET'SLBONE 0TL ¢S L6E ¥99 EFS'SEE
- - - 60T L5 'BEGGT GIEGET T LE0PET'PT
- - LBL'ETS ESTTRLLE 050'S0R'LE GTObLYLE
EFEDET TZTES0S 000'TSE'ST FI5BTL0E GEE"GLSOE
TE6'0LE"IT 00T'P0S'ST GEYOES LT LEQDPE'GT LTRTRL'SE PLEPETSAT PLGFET'SIT
a1 86E TEETITE 06LPTS'S TOE'9TL'EL SEVLBR'TT T09'659'sy T09'659'sy
EL'TSETE 1699596 Er909E'FE BEFI'EER'TS LEY'EGE'BOS T69'96T'LE9 TSE'9ZE'TO9
EBL8TS Tk TV BOT'TT = P rES 66 TOb
T95T09'0F PTLGEG'L SRTPOT'TT ELP'BTOTT GSE'SLTE PEETHEEL ELT'BOT'TY
BTLLIT TOLBLY'T BRE°590'TT STTINT'LE EOT'G0R'BTH St9'G06'EoY PLRSLE'SIE
= = = T60'T06 LTT96T'LT BOEL6T'ET SOT'FRT'ET
798°0E6°T ETLTRE'T SO6'PTRTE 06t'LRO'SE S89'6L'PE
- - TEELTIT LTTBOFT ESE'LBLLE TIFFIEor SES'99Z0F
000,03 000,03 000,03 000,03% 000,03% 000,03y 000,03y
sigal sieal siEah Jeak T 03 SYIUOW £ SMO[J Y5ED LT ]l
S JaAD SO03E EOAT SYIUOW £ _ﬂ..n.._ |BU WO 55005

NUT KRR N

JE:\ 7 R

Lo a i LN

-~suonedijqo juatwArdal PaJUNOISIpUN [ENIIEILO0 UD paseq sajljige)| [eousuly s,dnoeg a4) jo apyoud AJUN1ELW 311 SATUBWLLING MD|aq Sj0e) ay ]

SIUBUNL0D BpEd |
FHP2ID PUSNE 0] STUSLLILILLIOD LWAEBIPUL

530U PaAlEUpIOONS

SEUAADLIO0 W]

SUSOOap J2yI0 PUE SUNDIIE JELUDISTD
Jadey |BjuawLLIOD

siuawaasde aseyinday

FUORNLLSUL |EIDUEUL PUE SHUEG O B3N]
LTOT JaqLuadaq TE 1& sy

sa|puadunwod apel |
LIPS PUSLND O] SLUALIIJUILLIOD UMEIPUR

SI0U PAIEUIPIOGNS
(SELIAADUIDN WAL

51sDO03p JaUyI0 PUE SIUNDIIE JaLUDISND
Jadeg (BIMULET

siuawaasie aseyainday

SUDIINTITEY] |B2UEU} PUE SYUBD 01 ang
BIOT J2quianaq TE 3¢ &y

sa{Iqen

{panuiuos) ¥s1 Aypinb

{panunuos) JuawaFeusw Js |BIJUBLLY

(a)

5

(penunuos) sJUBLWIBIE)S [BIDUEUL) PAJEPI[OSUOD Y} O} SAJON

264/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOooOoOoOoo
A
gow .. FABT

Wi Al (bl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
(e} Market risk

Market rick is the risk that the Group®s income or capital will fluctuate on account of changes in the value of a financial
Instrument because of movements In market factars such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and
market prices of equity and commadity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates its exposure 1o market risk between rading, imvestment and non-trading portfolios. Trading and
investment portfolios are held by the Global Markens Division and are managed on a fair value basis.

Investment Management Committee (IMCO} is responsible for oversight and guidance to Global Markets' trading and
investment activities. It ensures effective management of market risks in accordance with the principles laid down in the
market risk management policy. IMCO acts a sub-committee of Group Asset and Liabilities [G-ALCO} which has the overall
authority and responsibility to manage market risks.

Market Risk Group is responsible for the development and implementation of detailed marker risk appetite, risk
managerment methodologies & policies including the contral framewark that is reviewed by IMOD and submitted to G-
ALCO & BRCC for approval,

Exposure to market risks = trading portfolios

The principal analytical tool used 10 measure and cont rol market risk exposure within the Groug's trading portfolios which
comprise of investments at fair value through profit or boss and trading derivatives is Value at Risk {"VaR™), The VaR of a
trading pertfolio is the estimated lass that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period} fram
an adverse marke! movement with a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model uses hintorical simulation
based on a 99% confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period. Using market data from the previous two years, and
observed relationships between different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future
scenarios for market price movements,

The Group uses VaR limits for foreign exchanges, interest rates, credit spread and equities, The overall structuee of Trading
WaR lirmits is subject 1o review and apgraval by the IMCOD and then ratified a1 G-ALCD, VaR lirmits are then cascaded dawn
to trading desks,

WaR is driven by actual historical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the maximum loss that the Group could
experience from an extreme market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further supplemented with other
position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential concentration risks within each trading
portfolio. Moreover the trading activity at Group and desk level [s subject to Management Action Triggers ["MAT™) that
are limits on maximuem losses that trigger actions from management, The VaR is a5 follows:

018 2018 2018 2018 M7
AED'000 AED'D00 AED'000 AED'000 BAED'000
As at Average Max Min As at

VaRl — Trading Book
All 14,660 19,581 53,314 14,655 15,018
Interest rate 11,076 24,658 39,250 10,703 13,312
Credit 4,520 4,358 43,353 1,529 4,002
Fareign Exchange 8,062 15,058 34,023 3376 11,596
Exqurity 4,023 2,658 4481 1,524 511
Diversification Benefit {13,021} {17,191} {67,793} {3,473} {10,403}

Commadity risk is not currently captured in the VaR model. This is under regular monitoring by the Risk Group through a
et of market risk sensitivities, notional Bmits, and management action triggers.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
(e} Market risk (continuved)
Exposure to market risk = banking portfolies

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking partfolios which comprise of non-trading investments, reverse repurchase
agreements and certain derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arise primarily from the
investment portfolios, interest rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group's overall FX positions.

The principal analytical tool used to measure and control the imestment risk exposure within the Greup is Value at Risk
[“WaR™). The VaR model is the same as the ane used for the trading portfolios, The Group uses VaR limits for contralling
the averall investment risk, including foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread. The averall strecture of Banking
WaR limits is subject to review and appgroval by IMCO and then ratified by G-ALCO. VaR limits are then cascaded to different
Investment desks, The investment risk VaR is as follows:

2018 2018 2018 2018 2017
AED'000 AELY000 AED'D00 AEDYDOD AED'0O00
As at Average Max Min As at

VaR - Banking Book
All 112,130 117,966 342,201 55,970 121,157
Interest rate 20,400 29,027 55,747 18,625 55,306
Credit 115,531 120,644 348,588 85,192 128,809
Fareign Exchange 17,078 14,737 32,321 7.446 14,794
Exquity 4,147 3,144 4,321 2,237 -
Deversification Benefit (a5,028)  (49,586)  (98,776)  (17.531) 177,752}

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest
rates will adwersely affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages this risk
principally thraugh manitoring interest rate gaps and by matching the re-pricing profile of assets and labilities, Overall
interest rate risk positions are managed by using derivative instruments 10 manage overall position arising from the
Graug’s interest bearing financial instruments. The use of derivatives 1o manage interest rate risk is described in note 39,

Interest rate risk Is 2lso assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate movements. The
Group assumes a fluctuation in interest rates of 50 basls points (2017 50 basis paints) and estimates the following impact
on the net prafit for the year and equity at that date:

Net profit for the year Equity
2018 2017 2018 01T
AED"DO0 AEDDOO AED'000 AED OO0
Fluctuation in yield 472,083 #531,829 2532858 +A69,464

During the year, the Group has revised its methodology for calculation of interest rate sensitivities. The interest rate
senditivities set out above are based on AED 549,740 million (20175 AED 492,963 million] interest bearing assets and AED
466,091 milion (2017 AED 402,248 milion) interest bearing liabilities with imerest re-pricing less than ane vear, for
assesting the impact on net prafit. The impact on equity 25 given in the table belaw i based an the ensitivity of interest
bearing assets and liabilities, The sensitivity does not incorparate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate
the effect of interest rate maovements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
(e} Market risk (continuved)
Forelgn exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a finandal instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange
rates and arises from finandal instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Group’s functional currency is the UAE
Dirham, The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored and hedging
strategies are wied to ensure positions are maintained within established limits, At 31 December, the Group had the
follewing significant net expewres denominated in foreign currencies:

Met spat Forsrard Total Tatal
position position 2018 2017
[short)flong [short]flong [shart)/long {shoet)/long
AEDO0O0 AED0O00 AEDODD AED'O00

Currency
U5 Dalkar [22,637,963) 37, TEEBE2 15,130,919 43,193,708
LK Sterling Pouwnd [13,303,964) 13,402,026 98,062 934,070
Eura 74,814,371 (74,234, 636) 579,735 2.534, 850
Kuwaiti Dinar (706,090) (&9, 899) [ 1,200,989 (292,450])
Saudi Riyal (44,050) (567,539) {611,585) [3.691,007)
lapanese Yen T.094,136 (6,581,217) 512,919 155,720
Swiss Franc (1,553,063) 1,604,247 51,294 65,707
Catari Rival 143,136 [387.050) {243,914) 156,318
Bathraini Dinar 1,684,447 (2.468,415) {783,968) (204,029)
Egyptian Pound 183,525 69,341 252,866 56,477
Jordanian Dinar 531,526 (264,929) 266,597 333,363
Indian Rupees B9B,123 (179,55949) 718,524 2,395,696
Malaysian Ringgit [856,618) 545,501 {261,117} b4, 936
Libyan Dinar 263,663 - 263,663 313,140
Others {3.375,951) 3,730,004 354,053 355,596

I I L3

As AED, SAR, BHD and QAR are pegeed against LS Dollar, the Group's risk exposure to these currendies is limited to that
extent. Exposure 1o ather foreign currencies i< insignificant.

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2018 and 2017 on
its monetary assets, lfabélities and net derhvatives forward position. The analysis estimates the effect of a reasonably
possible movement of AED against other currencies, with all other variables held constant on the consolidated income

statement,
Currency EUR GEF Py Litnan Dinar
Assumed change in exchange rates 1% 1% 1% 1%

Impact on met Income in exchange rate:

2018 (AEDYDOO) + 5,840 +£956 15,129 £2637
2017 (AED'D00) + 25,348 +9.341 +1557 +37131

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the effect of the assumed changes in exchange rates on equity is l'nsigrifkanl:.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management (continued)
{e}  Market risk [continued)
Equity price risk

FAB is exposed to equity price risk on equity investments, either theough holding of equities of anather entity or through
equity derivatives such as forward contracts, options or swaps. The fair value of these instruments will fluctuate due
changes in the market price of the underlying equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through setting Equity Delta,
Vega and Gamma limits. The Group slso enforces diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and
industry eoncentration,

The following table estimates the sensitivity 1o a possible change in equity markets on the Group's incame staterment. The
sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the fair value
of investments carried at fair value through the income statement.

Impact Impact
Aswamed on net on net
level of income income
change 2018 2017
% AED'000 REDO00

Investments at falr value through profit or loss

Reference equity benchmarks:

Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 1172 .
Deibai Financial Market Index 5% 41,508 23,747
et asset valoe of managed funds 5% 91,366 2,786
Other equity exchanges 5% 13,009 1,079
Uneguoted 5% - bl
147,055 27,974
— ——

The effect en equity a5 a result of 3 change in the fair value of equity instruments held as available for sale at 31 December
2018 and 2017, due to 2 reascnably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Impact Impact
Assumed on net on net
level of Income Income
change 2018 2017
* AED'D00 AEDDOO
Non-trading investments (excluding investment in
associates and joint ventures)
Reference equity benchmarks:
Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange Index 5% 9,719 11,480
Dbl Financial barket Index % 618 4,237
et asset value of managed funds % - 85,763
Other equity exchanges % 8351 6,801
Uvquoted 5% 1,13 8,230
19,814 116,511
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
id} Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed processes, people & systems or fram
external events.

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group, The primary responsibility to ensure that risks are managed
and maonitored resides with the businesses within the Group, Group's businesses are supported by Embedded risk
resources and Group Operational Risk Managemen a5 ‘secand line of defense’ 10 ensure robust risk managerment.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Groug Internal Audit a5 the “third line of defense’, The results of internal audit
reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and susnmaries are submitted 1o the Board Audit
Commimes,

The Group has an established Cperational Risk framework consisting of policies and procedures to identify, assess,
manitar, control, report and to manage risks and to natify, identify and rectify incidents. The Operational Risk framework
also provides the interrelation with ather risk categories, Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance,

Typically, Dperational Rick events are classified as;

»  Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

& External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

s Employee practices & workplace safety: Risk af fafures in employes relations, diversity and discrimination, and
health and safety risks across the Group

= Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters

+  Clients, Products & Business Practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiducary responsibilities,
improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activities.

*  Business Disruption & System failures: Risk of not planning and testing basiness continuity and disaster
recovery far systerms

= Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and
documentation, vendor management and manitoring and reporting.

The Board has aversght redpeniibilities for aperational risk management acrois the Group. These reipondibilities are
delegated and exercized through the Group Rk & Complisnce Committee, which is the senior management forum
responsible for the oversight of Operational Risk.

Key responsibilities of Operational Risk Committee with regards to Operational risk include to ensure:
+  Approval of the Group Operational Risk Management Framework and owersight over its implementation
*  Approve the strategy and direction far Opérational Risk across the Group,
+  Establish an effective Governance structure across the Group

[e}  Capital management

CBUAE regulations govern regulatory capital requirements for the Groug: in addition the overseas branches and
subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local reguiators, The capital management process for the Group is linked
to the overall business strategy to ensure that capital is adequate to the level of inherent risk in the business and within
the firm's cagital risk appetite The Group conducts capital planning in eanjunction with the financial budgeting exercise,

The Board and 1op management define the long term strategic direction for the Group. This provides the framewark for
the development of a bottorm up plan based an the projections fram individual business units. The battom up plan is an
input to the annual budgeting process and is conducted at a business unit and cowntry level. These are consolidated for
each business division and finally, for the entire Grougp. Business units, within each division, develop forecasted balance
sheet and PEL statements for the next year, by considering the following key parameters:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
(e} Capital management [continued)

the short term {one year] goals
risk appetite & strategy

target growth rates

target returns

The Group's capital management policies aim to ensure that it has sufficient capital 1o cover the risks associated with its
activities and the allacation of capital across the Group The assessment of the various risks across the Group and their
likely impact is carried out in conjunction with the ICAAP undertaken annually. As part of the ICAAP process, Group Risk
function identifies the various risks the Group is exposed 1o as part of its day-te-day operations. Mext, the Group assesses
these risks against the existing policies and procedures, frameworks and methodologies, contingency plans and other
processes to measure, manage and mitigate the impact of such risks. Finally the Group determines the capital
requirements for the material risk exposures.

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:
*  Maintain suffident capital to meet minimum capital requirement set by CBUAE.
L] Maintain sufficient capital to support Group's Risk Appetite and strategic objectives a5 per long-term strategic
plan,
*  Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scenarios including increased capital requirements determined
through HAAP.
*  Tosupport the Group's credit rating.

The Group conducts regular stress test exercises inwhich the Balancoe Sheet and Profit or Loss staterments ane determined
for base case and stress scenarios, The risk factors are impacted by the assumptions made for the base and stress
scenarios and the corresponding impact on the capital adeguacy is determined, The Group uses macroeconamic stress
tests in erder to project capital need and capital levels under various unfavourable seenarios. The tests are perceived as
an important 1eal in internal capital planaing. The stress test result during 2018 shows that the Group has adequate
capital even under adverse scenarios.

During the year, CBUAE issued BASEL |il Capital suppfementary standards and guidance. Based on the guidance, Banks
are required to deduct proposed dividend from retained earnings while calculating the Capital Adeguacy ratio.

Consequently, the Capital Adequacy ratio as companed below takes into account the impact of proposed dividend,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
5 Financial risk management (continued)
(e} Capital management [continwed)
2018 oy
AED"0D0 AED'000
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capital 10,897,545 10,892,545
Share premium 53,186,043 53,026,643
Retained sarnings 16,678,196 18,677,552
Statutary and special reserse 9,192,759 1,081 084
General reseree and share oplion scherme 495,106 376 265
Fair value reseree {538.021) 281,345
Nan-controlling Interests 361,722 454,015
Less: Proposed dividend {8,064,183) |7 626, 282)
Eligible Tier 1 capital [a) 82,151,167 83,199,167
Deductions:
Foreign currency trarslation reserve {310,931) (63.075)
Treasury shares {25,530) (42,434)
Dreferned tas asscts (72,635} |36,585)
Goodwill and Intangible asscts (20,606,445) (20263461
Other deductions {197,465) [262,895)
Total deductions [21,213,009) [J0E6E451)
Less: Trarsitional Deduction from CET 1 (b) - (16,534, 761)
60,938,158 66,664,406
Additional Tier 1
Tier 1 capital notes 10,754,750 10,754,050
Transitional Deduction fram AT1 - [2.066.845)
Additional Ther 1 [c) 10,754,750 8,682,905
71,692,908 75,352,311
Tier 2 capital
Cuaalifying subordinated Rabilities 361,782 40,381
Allewance for collective irmpairment 5,380,017 5,270,024
Transitional Deduction from AT1 - (2066, 845)
5,701,738 3,623,560
Tatal regulatory capital base T7.3594, 707 18,975,871
Risk weighted ossets;
Credi risk 427,201,365 421,666,579
Market risk 29,475,312 18,054,810
Operational sk 35,696,011 35,619,434
Risk weighted assets 493 373,688 485 140,821
Ratios with transition impact:
CET 1 ratic 12.4% 13,
Tier 1 capitad ratio 14.6% 15.5%
Capital adequacy ratlo 15.7% 16.3%
—— _

The Group and its overseas branches and subsidiaries have complied with all externally impased capital requirements
for all periads presented,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
[f} Country risk

Country risk is the likelihood of economic, social, and political events in a foreign country negatively influencing the
willimgness or ability of state owned and/for privately owned custamers in that country to pay their debts an time.

The Group undertakes a detailed qualitative analysis pertaining to country risk as a part of the business decision pracess.
These factors indude economic, social and political stability in each country, the monetary policy, the foreign exchange
contrgl measure, the transparency of information, the finandsl and market structure, banking regulations and
supervision, the legal system, and the sccounting standards amang athers. Country risks are menitared and contrelled
using country limits set by the Group; these limits are in accordance with overall business strategy, capital adequacy and
provislons for potential risks, risk rating of each country, acceptable level of risk, and business opportunéties in each
couniry.

lg)  Strategicrisk

Stravegic risk refers to the risk of current or prospective iImpact on the Groug's earnings, capital, reputation or standing
arising from changes in the environment the Group operates in and from adverse strategic decisions, improper
implementation of dedsions, or lack of responsiveness to industry, economic or technological changes. 1t is a function of
compatibility of Graup's sirategie goals, strategies developed 1o achieve those poals, resources deployed to meet thoe
goals and the quality of implementation,

The Growp uses several factors to identify and assess impact of strategic risk on its books, inchuding level of integration
of risk management palicles and practices in the strategic planning process, aggressiveness of strateglc goals and
compatibility with developed business strategies, capital support for the strategic initiatives to take care of earmnings
vaolatility, effectiveness of communication and consistency of application of strategic goals, objectives, corporate culture,
and behaviour throughout the Group.

Strategic risks are monitored and controlled as part of the strategic planning process wherein the Group reviews the
progress on strategic initiatives wis-3-vis the plan and considers whether the progress is in line with the plan and the
external business environment. The stravegic plan is periodically reviewed and updated subject 1o an approval process
which is also a part of the strategic planning process.

[h) Compliance risk

Compliance risk refers to the risk to earmnings or capital or reputation or continued business existence arising from
viodations of or non-conformance with laws, rubes, regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.

The Graup, on a continuous basis, identifies and assesses such riges inherent in all new and existing “material® products,
activities, processes and systems, The assersment includes risks assessment on non-conformance with laws, rules,
regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards. The Group Risk Management function has a8 groupg-wide
compliance unit that develops internal contrals 1o manage such risks and it is supported by the Internal Awdit and Legal
functions.

In arder to menitor compliance and anti-money laundering risks, the Group has set in place the due diligence processes,
reviews of policies and procedures acrass the Group, implementation of an integrated compliance and AML system
which manages name cledrance, transaction monitoring and payment monitoring activities, assessmient through
compliance check-ists etc

Compliance risk i largely mitigated by way of focused policies and procedures, extensive checklist based and on-spot
due diligence and regular training sessions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Financial risk management {continued)
i Reputation risk

Reputation risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public opinion. This can be due to external ar
Internal events.

The Group identifies and assesses reputation risk by dearly defining types of risks to be captured, establishing key
sources of reputation risk it may be exposed to, based on individual circumstances, describing the risks identified in
terms af the natwre of risk and the potential consequences that the risks may bring to its reputation, The Group also
refers to other relevant infarmation for risk identification purposes, Such information may be sourced from media
reports, stakeholder analysis reports, internal audit and compliance reparts, management exception reparts, or other
early warnéng indicators,

For reputation risks, apart from the regular monitoring of external and internal events that can result in possible
repuftation risks the Group also has processes to track risks that may affect its reputation. These processes allow the BOD
and senéor management to take prompt cosmective actions to address any anticipated reputation event in advance.

In order to manage repatation risks, the Group has set in place 3 mechanism that entails drawing wp action plans to
identify reputation risk events and facilitate subsequent monitoring of the progress made; for those risks thar may be
very difficult or too costly to eliminate entirely the mechanism requires development of contingency plans a5 response
actions.

[ Use of estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting polices, IFRS require the management 10 select suitable accounting
policies, apply them consistently and make judg ements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent and would result
in relevant and reliable information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS and the |ASB's Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements has made these estimates and judgements. Listed below are those
estimates and judgenent which coutd have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements,

Key sources of estimation unce rtainty
[a} Golng concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Groug's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future, Furthermaore, managemen? is not
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as 3 going
concern. Therefore, the consolidated finandal statements continwe to be prepared on the going concern basls.

[b)  Impairment charge on financial assets
Applicable from 1 lanuary 2018

Impairment bosses are evaluated as described in accounting palicy 3c)(vii),

The measurement of impairment losses both under IFRS 9 and 1AS 39 across all categories of financial assets requires
Judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by
a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Banks ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the
chaice of variable inputs and their interdependencies, Elements of the ECL madels that are considered accounting
judgements and estimates include:
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

6 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
(B)  Impairment charge on financial assets (continued)
Applicable from 1 lanuary 2018 [contimed)

= The Group"s internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs 1o the individual grades

*  The Group's criteria for assessing if there has been a sgnificant increase in credit risk and 5o allowances far
financial asse1s should be measured an a Bfetime ECL basis and the qualitative assesament

= The segmentation of finandial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis

*  Development of ECL models, including the various farmulas and the chalce of inputs

*  Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral valwes, and the effect on P35, EADs and LGDs

*  Selection of forward-lcaking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the
economic inputs into the ECL models

Prior to 1 January 2018

The Group evaluates impairment on loans and advances and non-trading investments on an ongoing basis and a
comprehensive review on a quarterly basis to assess whether an impairment charge should be recognised in the
consolidated staterment of profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgement by management [s required in the
estimation of the amount and timing of futwre cash flows when determining the level of impairment charge required. In
estimating these cash flows, management makes judgements abaut counterparty’s finandal situation and other means
of settlement and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral, Such estimates are based on assumptions about
seweral factars imeolving varying degrees of judgerment and uncertainty, and actual results may differ resulting in future
changes to such impairment charges,

It is the Groug's policy 1o reguiarly review its models in the contest of actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

[}  Collective impairment charge

Prior to 1 January 2018
Collective impairment charge is evaluated as described in accounting policy note 3[ch(vii).

In addition ta specific impairment charge against individually impaired assets, the Group alsa maintaing a collective
impairment allowance against portfelios of leans and advances with similar econamic charactesistics which have not
been specifically idemtified as impaired. In assessing the need for collective impairment charge, management considers
concentrations, credit quality, portfolio size and economic factors. In arder to estimate the required allowance,
assurnptions are made o define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input parameters,
based om historical and current economic conditions.

[d)  Impairment charge on property and equipment

Impairment bosses are evaluated as described Inaccounting palicy note 3{1){ii).

In determining 1he net reatisable value, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent valuer
companies, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category
af property being valued. The elling prices are based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property
could ke exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and 3 willing seller in an arm's length
transaction.

[e}) Contingent liability arising from litigations
Due to the nature of its operations, the Group may be involved in litigations arising in the ordinary course of business.

Provision for contingent Eabilities arising fram Etigations is based on the probability of outflow of economic resources
and r!liabiliwnfn'rimil:ir‘ such outflow, Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and the outcome of individual

B4

276/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOooOoOoOoo
el g del
gow . FABT

Wt Abw Dol ik

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
[ Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
[e}  Contingent liability arising from litigations (continued)
matters is not predictable with assurance,
(f}  Share option scheme

The fair value of the share option scheme is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The model inguts comprise of
share price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the option, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate.

(g}  Valuation of financial instruments

The valuation techiniques of financial instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by the
management. These are discussed in detall in note 7.

{h}  Defined benefit plan

Thee present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis wiing a number of assumptions, The assumptions used in determining the net cost [income) for sbligations include
the discount rate. Any changes in these assumgtions would impact the carrying amount of the defined benefit obligation,
The Group determines the appropriate discownt rate a1 the end of sach year. This is the interest rate that should be used
to determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to settle the future
obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Groug considers interest rate of high guality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have the terms to maturity
approximating the terms of related benefit obligation,

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current markel conditions, Additional
informaticn an these assumptions is disclosed innate 24,

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies include:
(i) Fimancial asset and liability classification

The Group’s accownting poliches provide scope for financial assets and liabilities to be designated on incegtion inta
different accounting categories in cenain dreumstances, The classification criteria is mentioned in palicy 3{c) (i)

i} Qualifying hedge relationships

In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects the
hedge to be highly effective over the life of the hedging relaticnship,

(k)  Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Group’s determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instrements is discussed in note 7,
i Structured entities
For all funds managed by the Group, the investars are able to vate by simple majority to remove the Group as fund

manager, and the Group's aggregate sconormic interest in each fund is not material, As 3 result, the Group has concluded
that it acts 3% an agent for the investors in these funds, and therefare has not consobidated these funds,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
(] Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
{m) Operating segments

In preparation of the segrment information disclosure, management has made certaln assumptions to arrve at the
segment reporting. These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis. Operating segments
are detailed in note 40,

Fi Financial assets and liabilities
{a)  Valuation control framework

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair value. This framework includes
a Valuation Committes that reports to the Group Risk Committee, The Group alse has control functions to support this
framework [Preduct Control, Independent Price Verification, Model Validation and Growp Market Risk} that are
independent of from office management, Specific contrals indude:

Independence in valuation process between risk taking units and contral units;

Systern for valuations;

Verification of observable pricing;

Resview and approval process for new models and changes to models;

Analysis and investigation of significant daily waluation mavements; and

Review of significant unobservable inguts, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the fair value
measurement of Level 3 instruments,

Thee fair values of due from banks and financial institutions, reverse repurchase agreement , due to banks and financial
institutions, repurchase agreements and Customer accounts and other deposits which are predominantly short term in
tenure and isswed at market rates, are considered to reasonably approximate their carrying value,

The Group estimates that the fair value of s loans and advances portfolio is not materially different from its earrying
value since the mapority of leans and advances carry floating market rates of interest and are frequently re-priced. Far
loans considered impalred, expected cash flows, including anticipated realisation of collateral, were discounted wusing an
appropriate rate and considering the time to collect, the net result of which is not materially different from the carnying
value,

(b} Determination of fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid to transfer a Fability in an orderly transaction
between market participants a1 the measurerment date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market
to which the Group has access at that date, The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. Consequently,
differences can arise between book values and the fair value estimates, Underlying the definition of fair value is the
presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its
operation or to undertake 3 transaction on adverse terms.

The Growp measures fair valwes using the fellowing fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements;

Level 1: Quoted market price {unadjusted) in active market for an identical instrument.
Lewel 3 Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly [Le. as prices} or Indirectly {i.e. derived fram

prices). This category indudes instraments valued using: quated market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
ar ather valuation technigues where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Lewel 3: Valuation technigues using unolbservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation
techniguee includes ingut not based on observable data and the unobservable input have a 5i.gnifil:inl: impact gn the

instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quated prices of similar instruments
after making adjustments based on unobservable inputs that ane necessary to reflect fair value of the instrument,

B&

278/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OOooOoOoOoo
el g del
gow .. FABT

W Al Dbl Bk

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
(e}  Valuation techniques

All financial assets and Habilivles are measured at amartised cost except for derivatives, investrent at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale investments which are measured at falr value by reference to published price
quotations in an active market of from prices quoted by counterparties or through use of valuation technigues.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are traded in active market are based on quoted marker price or dealer
price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair value wsing valuation technbgues, such as
discounted cash flow models, benchmarking against similar instruments for which obsenvable market prices exist, Black-
Schobes model or other valuation models. Each valuation technigque maodets the behaviour of underlying market factors.
These market factors include interest rates, credit spreads and other inputs wsed in estimating discount rates, bond
prices, fareign exchange rates, equity and equity index prices, volatilities and correlations,

The ohjective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial
instrument at the regorting date that would have been determined by market participants acting at arm’s length,

The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of commen financial instruments,
such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable market dara, Observable prices ar model inguts are
usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple ower-the-
counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Avallability of obsenvable market prices and model inputs reduces the
need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty assocated with determining fair
values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prane
to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets,

For more complex instruments, the Group uses third party valuation models, which are developed from recognised
valuation models. These valuation models require expert judgement for the selection of the most appropriate valuation
model ta be used including input market data and underlying assumptions. for the determination of fair value, Model
inputs and parameters can be calibrated for market prices for plain vanilla instruments, published forecasts and current
ar recent obsenved transactions in similar instruments. This calibration process is inherently subjective and it yields
ranges of possible inputs and estirmates of fair value, and expert judgerment is required to select the most appropeiate
point in the range.

{@)  Credit and Debit Valuation Adjustments {“CVA" and “DVA")

CVA and DVA are incorporated into derivative valuations to reflect the impact on fair value of counterparty credit risk
and own credit quality respectively. These adjsstments are calculated for both uncollateralised and collateralised
derivatives across all asset classes. CVA and DVA are calculated using estimates of expected positive and negative
exposures respectively, probability of defaul and recovery rates, at a counterparty level, Counterparties include [but are
not limited to) financial institutions, corporates, sovereigns and soversign agencies and supranationals. Expected
exposure s generally estimated through the simulation of underlying risk factors through Maonte Cardo simulation
technigues.

Probability of default and recovery rate information is generally sowrced from the CDS markets. Where this information
is not available, or considered unreliable, alternative approaches are taken based on mapping the counterparty to a
sector curve hased on the rating. the region and the industry sector. Net adjustment for CVA and DVA remained constant
at AED 48.3 million during the year,

Model-related odjustments

Maodel related adjustments are applied when either moded inputs are overly simplified or the model has Bmitations

deriving the fair value of a position. These adjustrments are required to correct existing model weaknesses or deficlences
that were highlighted during the model review process.

B7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
[e}  Fair value of financial instruments [continued)
Financial instruments measured at fair value - hierarchy

Thee table below anabyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reparting period, by the level in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement i's categorised:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'DOD AED(00 AED'DDD AED'DOO

As at 31 Decernber 2018
kwestment at fair valwe through profit or loss 11,188,493 1,608,598 LE23,419 14,620,510
PO = with recydle to profit or loss 80,714,588 3,630,021 - 84,344 609
PO - without recycle to profit or oss 373,752 - 22,513 296,265
Derivative financial instruments {Assets) 47,141 13,037,051 - 13,084,152
92,323 974 18,276,070 1,845,932 112,445 976
Term barrowings . 353,522 B 3525202
Derivative financial instrurments (Liabilities) 10,775 15,208,689 - 15,219,464
10,775 15,561,211 - 15,571 986

As at 31 Decernber 2017
Financial assets heid for trading 17,170,765 2131636 7,241 19,305,642
Designated at fair value through profit or loss 11,122 - - 11122
Available-forsale financial assets 76,177 486 3,266,871 1,868,126 81,312.483
Derivative financial instruments (Assets) 6,480 11,392,943 - 11,399,432
93,365,662 16,791,450 1,875,367 112,032 679
Term barrowings - 193,906 - 193,906
Derivative financial instruments (Liabilities) 18,770 14,922,561 . 14,941,331
18,770 15.116.467 - 15,135.237

There were no transfers between the falr value hierarchies for any financial asset or Hability except for three secarnties
in fair value throwgh OC dassification which moved from level 1 to level 2 amounting to AED 430 million and two
securities from level 3 to level 1 amounting to AED 59.1 million. In regards to financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss, one security was moved from level 1 to level 2 amounting to AED 12 million and two securities were moved
fram level 2 1o level 1 amaurnting ta AED 274 million and ane security was moved fram level 2 1o level 3 amounting 1o
AED 276 thousand.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
7 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)
[e}  Fair value of financial instruments [continued)
The following table shaws a reconciliation of instruments measured at fair value and classified as Level 3:
2018 2017
AED'D00 AED'D00
Balance as at 1 January LB75 367 1,683,720
Additions 113431 369,324
Effect of business cambination - 13,935
Settlements and other adjustments {142 866) {191.612)
Balance as at 31 December 1,845,932 1875367

Thee Level 3 financial instruments mainly comprise of private equity investments, and their valuations are based on the
last net asset published by the fund manager. The effect of changes inits valuation is covered as part of equity price risk
included in note 5 [ch,

B Cash and balances with central banks

2018 2017
AEDO0D AED'000
Cash an hand 1,696,420 1,778,162
Central Bank of the UAE

cash reserve deposits 12,496,362 20,732,467
certificates of deposits. 17,995,385 14,987,010
ather balances 4,926,819 4,505,644
Balances with ather central banks 136,050,534 56,107,771
183,165,520 138,111,054

Less: expected credit losses {256,793)

182,908,727 135,111,054

Cash reserve depasits are not available far the day to day operations of the Group.

8 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
2018 2017
AED 000 AED'000
Irvestrments inmanaged funds 3,917 55,719
Investment in private equity 1,823,506 .
Investments in equities 1,113,625 503,769
Dbl wecurities 11,679,960 18,761,276
14,620,910 15,320,764

91
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
L] Investments at fair value through profit or loss {continued)

In 2017, irvestments in private equities were reported a3 non-trading investments classified as available for sale, These
have now been reclassified under IFRS 9 a5 Investments at fair value through prefit er less.

10 Due from banks and financial institutions
2018 T
AED'O00 AEDO00
Current, call and notice depaosits 10,118,939 4,492 834
Margin deposits 5,635,525 7,491,982
Fixed deposits 3471,784 1844674
19,226,248 13,879,450
Less: expected credit losses {50,156) -
19,176,092 13,829,490
T _

11 Reverse repurchase agreements
Thee Growp enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party transfers
financlal assets to the Group for short term financing. The carrying amount of financial assets at the reporting date
armaounted ta AED 19,033 millian (2017 AED 21,347 milllan ).

Expected credit allowance of AED 15,356 thousand has been recognised against reverse repurchase agreements during
the year (2017 AED nll).

At 31 Decemnber 2018, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell ar re-
pledge in the absence of default was AED 19,378 million {2017 AED 20,985 milian).

A1 31 December 2018, the fair value of financal assets accepted as collateral that hane been sold or re-pledged was AED
11,903 million (201 7: AED 13,965 million). The Group (s obliged to return equivalent securities.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities
borrowing and lending activities.

12 Loans and advances

2018 017

AED'O00 AEDYDO0

Gross loans and advanoes 367,066,491 345,089,058
Less: interest suspended (1,968,015) (1,895,054}
Less: expected credit loss (11,883,248) (12,728,111}
Het loans and advances 353,205 228 330,465,888

92
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
12 Loans and advances (continued)
2018 207
AED'000 AED'DRD
By counterparty:
Gowvernment sector 5,780,419 5,006,234
Public sector 61,790,884 54,586,399
Banking sector 2E,472,001 21,099,155
Corporate [ private sector 203,461,407 193,175,957
Persanal f retail sector 67,551,820 71,221,313
Grass loans and advances 367,056,491 345,085,058
2018 2017
AED'D00 AEDO00
By product:
Overdrafts 24,223 265 15,357,085
Term loans 277,776,148 267,331,582
Trade related loans 27,930,930 22,970,550
Personal loans 29,049 08 30,250,597
Credit cards 7,154 605 £,035,270
‘ehicle financing loans 922,735 1,143,974

Gross loans and advances 367,056,491 345,089,058

Thee Group provides lending against investment in equity securities and funds, The Group is autharised to liquidate these
instruments [ their coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying value of such loans is AED 8,276
million (2017 AED 9, 316 million) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against such loans is AED 13,200
million (2017 AED 19,379 milllon]. During the year, the Group has liquidated insignificant amount of collateral due to
fall in the coverage ratic.

Islarnic financing

Incheded in the above loans and advances are the following Islamic financing contracts:

2018 w07

AED'000 AEDYOO0

ljara 8,172,431 7,051,924
Murabaha 23,174,504 19,500,917
Mudaraba 59,046 218177
Oithers 318422 168,561
Total lslamic financing contracts 31,724,403 26,939,579
Less: expected credit loss {704,387) (453,034}
Less: suspended profit [27,811) [32.671)
30,992,205 26,453 874

a3
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
13 Mon-trading Investments
2018 27
AED 000 AED'0O0
foailable-for-sale investments - 81,312,483
Fair value through other comprehendive income:
- with recycle to profit ar loss [Debt Investments) 84,344 609
- without recyde to profit or loss (Equity Investrments) 396,265 -
Held-to-maturity investments - 1.075,467
Amortised cost 5,630,195 -
Irvestment in associates and joint venture 65,141 69,760
90,436,310 BE.A57, 710
Less: expected credit losses {2,736) -

90,433,574 88,457,710

An analysis of non-trading investments by type at the repoarting date is shown below:

018 2017
AEDD00 AED'O00

Cuoted  Ungquoted Tatal Quoted Unquoted Tatal

Equity investments 373,752 87,654 461 406 450,356 134,364 BE4,TI0
Investrments in private

equity funds’ - - - - 1,703,524 1,703,524

Debt imestments 3,060,242 914,662 89974904 84330388 1,727,335 86057723

Funds - - - 11,743 - 11,743

£3,433,994 1,002,316 90436310 24,792 487 3,665,213 88457710

Less: expected credit lasses {2,411) {325) {2,736) - - -

89,431,583 1,001,991 90433574 84792487 3665221 88457710

Dbt instruments under repurchase agreements induded in non-trading investments at 31 December 2018 amounted
ta AED 22,971 millian (31 December 2017 AED 23, 781 millian),

Hm 2017, investments in private equities were reported as non-trading investments classified as available for sale. These
have now been reclassified under IFRS 9 as Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

The neon-trading investments include the following investments in associates of the Group:

Percentage of holding
2018 2017
Green Emirates Properties PISC - A0
Midmak Properties LLC 16% 16%
Emirates Digital Wallet LLC 23% 23%
BAERCLIRY 0% 30

Green Emirates Properties PISC ["GEP”] is 2 private joint stock company incorgorated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi and
engaged mainly in the management and brokerage of real estate properties in United Arab Emirates and overseas,

a4
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

13 Mon-trading investments (continued)
Midrnak Frogerties LLC [“Midmak™} is a limived liability company incorporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. Midmak is
imvotved Inreal estate activitles. Although the Group owns 16% of the outstanding shares of Midmak, the nvestment has
been classified as an associate as the Group exercises significant influence due to repeesentation of the Board of Directors.

MERCURY it a limited liability company incarporated in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi to carry an business af investments and
payment service schemes,

Emirates Digital Wallet LLC, established in 2017, is jointly owned by 16 of the leading WAE national banks, supported by
the UAE Central Bank.

14 investment Properties

2018 2017

AED'D00 AEDO00

Beginning of the year 6,927 602 BA422,502
Additions / transfer from PPE 576,004 553,203
Business Combination transaction - 45,106
Dispasals [ transfer to PPE [19.439) (273,035)
Fair value adjustment (95, 764) 1r9.916
End af the year 7,388,493 6,927,692

Amounts recognised in the consolidated ftaterment of income in resgect of net rental income of imeestrment praperties

are as follows:
2018 2017
AEDY'000 AEDDDD
Rental income derived from investment properties 52,328 34,642
Operating expenses {33,233) [29.035)
Het rental income from investment properties 15,095 5607

Investment properties are stated at fair value which represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly tranzaction between market participants under prevaiting market conditions at the
measurement date,

The Growp's investment properties consist of land, buildings and properties under development in Abu Dhabi and Dubai,
Management determined that these investment properties consist of two classes of commercial and retail assets, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property,

A5 a1 31 December 2018 and 2017, fair value of the properties is based on the valeations perfarmed by third party valuers
and all are level 3 under fair value hierarchy. The valuers are accredited with recognised and relevant professional
qualifications and with recent experience in the location and category of investment progerties being valued. The fair
values have been determined based on varying valuation models depending on the intended use of the investment
properties; in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards.

a5
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

14

Investment properties {continued)

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties as at 31 December 2018
and 2017

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs
Buildings Cemparable and Residual Method Comparable transactions
sales Comparison Methad Current market price of similar assets
Land Comparable and Residual Method Cost of construction
Developer’s profit
Financing cost
Properties under development Discounted cash flow method Discount rate
Cash inflows
Cash outflows
96
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
15 Property and equipment
Land, Computer Furniture,
buildings systems equipment, Capital
and and safes and work -in-
alterations  equipment virhicles Progress Total

AED'DOD AED'DO0 AED'DO0 AED'000 AED‘D0D

Corst
As at 1 fanuary 2017 1,155,345 625,587 195,258 91,754 2,067,544
Business Combination transaction
{ree 43) 1.B0B,405 418,224 232444 449,371 2,908,534
Additians 40,067 553,037 69,350 185,319 DdrEIZ
Allseations fram CWIP 51,015 107,907 5624 [264,546) -
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! (100,307) [244,234) [16,804) [161,635) [522.980)
At 31 December 2017 2,954,615 1,460,521 485,872 500,323 5,401,331
Additions 395,413 36,336 35,226 B70,805 1337870
Allocations fram CWIF 248,985 747,769 1,752 (998,506) -
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! (443,864) (251,798) (129,938) (75,9500 (801,550)
At 31 December 2018 3,155,149 1,992,E2E 392,912 296,762 5,837,651
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses
As at 1 January 2007 98,593 308,632 137464 . 535,689
Business Combination transaction
(mede 43) 477,026 405,027 185,174 = 1067227
Charge far the year 73,318 +01,850 36,250 - 311418
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs? {2,395) (a5, 740) [4,369) - [52.504)
At 31 December 2017 B4E,542 BED, 760 340,519 . 1.BGEEID
Charge far the year BL,447 125,073 29,066 - 235,586
Dispasals, transfers and

write offs! (20,239) (185,347} (49,394) = (254,980}
At 31 December 2018 707,750 BO09,455 329,191 - 1,B36436

SEE— — — 1 — e —

Carrying amounts
At 31 Decemnber 2017 2,308,073 590,752 136,353 500,323 3,535,501
At 31 December 2018 2,447,399 1,183,313 63,721 296,762 3,991,215

" adiusted for foreign exchenge tronsiation impoct

a7
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
16 Intangibles
Customar Core
Goodwill  relationship deposit License Brand Total
AEDO0D AED'0OD AED'000 AED'000 AED000 AED'000
Cost
At 1 Janwary 2017 36,868 10,000 10,000 22,000 FELE: ]
Business Combination
transadtegn 1r2805r 7 1,643,517 966,038 19,890,132
At 31 December 2017 17,317 445 1813517 976,038 22000 20,125,000
Business Combinatsen
rransaction (aote 43) 52,804 {38,801} {382,703} 368,700 - -
At 31 December 2018 17,370,289 1,774,716 593,335 368,700 22,000 20,129,000
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2017 60,509 4,478 31482 EBA70
Charge for the year L0776 31280 1100 158,156
At 31 December 2017 181,285 41,758 4533 217626
Chasge for the year - 151,761 45,802 - 1,100 201,663
At 31 December 2018 - 333,046 90,560 - 5683 429,289
Carrylng amounts
AL 31 December 2017 17,317 445 1,632,232 934,280 17417 19,901,374
At 31 December 2018 17,310,249 1441600 502,775 368,700 16,317 15,699,711
95
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
17 Other assets
2018 07
AED'DO0 AED'DO0
Interest receivable 9,169,190 7.195.037
Acceptances 6,855,761 5,463,959
Sundry debtors and ather receivables 4,534,080 2,976,835
Tax receivable and deferred tax asset 4,460 36,585

20,687,491 15,672,416
Less: expected credit losses (103,889) -

20,583,602 15,672,416

Thee Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.

Acceptances arise when the Group is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of
credit, After acceptanos, the instrument becames an unconditional iabitity of the Group and is therefore recognised as
a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. However, every acceptance has a correspanding
contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recognised a5 a financial asset,

18 Due to banks and financial institutions

2018 07
AED'000 AED'OOD

Bonks and finonciol institutions
Current, call and notice deposits 8,158,400 3,445,932
Blargin 897,242 1,131,317
Fined deposits 16,177,477 12,303,765
25,233,120 16,881,014

Central bonks

Current and call depasits 50,759 1417
Fixed and certificate of deposts 14,582 656 13,617,905
15,033,415 15,695,322
40,266,535 30,576,336

— = =
e to banks and finandal institutions are denaominated in various currencies and carry a rate of interest in the range of
-0.5% to 16.85% (2017 -0.6% to 5,15%).

19 Repurchase agreements

Thee Group enters into repurchase agreements in the normal cowrse of business by which it ransfers recognised financial
assets directly 1o third parties.

The carrying value that is also the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting date amounted to
AED 23,707 million (201 7: AED 23, 784 million] and their associated financial Eabdities amounted 1o AED 34, 770 million
(2017: AED 37,674 millian). The net difference between the fair value af the financial assets collateralised and the
carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 11,063 million (2017: shortoge AED 13891 mitlon). The
shortage Is covered by re-pledging finandal assets received as collateral against reverse repurchase agreements ar
through security borrowing arrangement from custodian.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

20 Commercial Paper

Thee Bank has established two Euro Commercial Paper Programmes with programme limits totaling up to USD 10.5 billian
im aggregate. The Bank has a "US Dallar commercial paper programme” with a pragramme limit of USD 5 billion,

Thee notes gutstanding as at the end of the reporting date amounted to AED 18,144 million (2007 AED 24,124 milion)
and have maturity period of less than 12 months,

Thee Growp has not had any defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its Commercial Faper during
2018,

21 Customer accounts and other deposits

2018 2017
AED‘000 AEDNO00

By occount:
Current accounts 148,584,905 137,005,200
Savings acoounts 10,125,980 13,323,504
Margin accounts 4,893,445 5,744,668
Hotice and time deposits 271,201,828 205,006,675
434,896,158 381,170,043
Certificates of deposit 30,579,716 34,673,621
465,475,874 395,843,664
2018 2017
AED‘O00 AEDYO00

By counterporty:

Gavernment sector 141,900,487 78,639,783
Fubdic sector 73,231,345 74,303,858
Corporate / private sector 145,319,566 135,281,622
Persanal / retail sectar 70,434,760 T2.544, 780
434,896,158 361,170,043
Certificates of deposit 30,579,716 34,673,621
465,475,874 395,843,664
2018 017
AED'000 AED'DDD

By location:
LMAE 333,263,298 253,909,510
Europe 35,862,559 45,941,151
Arab countries 27,451,582 28,292,139
Americas 31,768,355 22,494,962
Asia 5,411,063 8,711,746
Othirs 1,139,301 1,820,505
434,896,158 361,170,043
Certificates of deposit 30,579,716 34,673,621

465,475,874 395,843,664
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21 Customer accounts and other deposits (continved)
Islamic customers” deposits
Incheded in the above Customer accounts and other deposits are the following Islamic term deposits:
2018 2017
AED'000 AED'DDO
\Wakala deposits 1,213,380 781,321
Mudaraba deposits 523,985 623,727
1,737,365 1,805,048
22 Term borrowings
2018 017
AED'000 AED'OO0
At amortised cost
Corertible notes - 1,830,006
Other term notes 41,915,651 40,121,806
41,915,651 41,951,812
A fair value through profit or loss 352,522 193,906
42,268,173 42,145,718

Convertible notes inchaded USD 500 million notes that matured in March X018 and carried a fixed coupan that was paid
serni-annually in arrears The value of the conversion option at inception was AED 108,265 thousand and as such was
elasified a3 a part of equity under convertible note — equity component reserve. Upon the maturity and a4 nane of the
option was exerciced, the same has been transferred 1o General Reserve,

During the year, the Group has lssued various fived and floating rate notes. The Group hedges its currency and interest
rate exposure on these notes, The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated below:

2018 2017
AED'000 AEDFODD
AED - 95,530
CHF 744,638 565,454
CHH 36,861 62,015
ChyY 1,418,208 .
usD 5,176,396 -
GEP 117,564 =
HED 187,593 2
Elpating rate
Uso 1,384,631 297714
9,065,891 2,952,023

The Group has hedged the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on term borrowings. The nominal value hedged
are AED 33.52 billion (2017 AED 27.84 biltion] and the risks being hedged have a net negative fair value of AED 1264
millian (201 7: met negative foir value of AED 302 milllon), The Group has nat had any defaults of principal, interests, or
ather breaches with réspect ta its term barrawings during 2018 and 2017,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

22 Term borrowings (continued)

During the year, the Group has issued variows fixed and fleating rate notes. The nominal values of the notes issued
during the year are stated below:

2018 017
AED 000 AED'D00
Beginning of the year 42,145,718 18,294,545
Increase due to acquisition - 31,308,591
Mew issuances 9,076,645 3,135,955
Redemplions (7,735,417) [11,433,020]
Fair valuation, exchange and other adjustments (1,218,773) 839,647
End of the year 42,268,171 42,145,718
23 Subordinated notes

2018 2017
AED 000 AED'DO0

10 December 2002 issue (4,75 peroent fived rate maturing on
2 December 2027) 401,979 410,381

The Group has hedged the interest rate and forelgn currency exposure on the subardinated notes. The Growp has not
had any defaults of principal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated notes during the year ended
31 December 2015,

24 Other liabilities

2018 w017
AED'000 AED'DOO
Interest payable 5329375 6,108,042
Acceptances - net of discounting (note 17) 5,668,690 2,506,412
FPravision employees’ end of sendce benefits 472,607 512,346
Accounts payable, sundry creditors and other liabilities 10,943,162 11,745,645
Ohverseas income 1ax 192,546 160,854
25,606,380 21,033,335

Employees end of service benefits

Defined benefit obligations

Thee Group provides for end of senvice benefits for its digible employees, An actuarial valuation has been carried out s a1
December 31, 2018 to ascertaim present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered actuary in the UAE was
appointed 10 evaluate the same. The present valwe of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current and past
service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used to value the liabilities:

2018
Discaunt rate 1.53 % per annum
Salary increase rate 1.77 % per annum
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

24 Other liabilities (continued)

Demographic assumptions for martality, withdrawal and retirement were used invaluing the liabilities and benefits under
the plan. Because af the nature of the benefit, which is a lump sum payable on exit due to any cause, a cambined single
decrerment rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liab€lity by AED 9,725 thousand and
AED 10,231 thousand respectively. Similarly, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact
the liability by AED 10,390 thousand and AED 9,966 thousand respectively.

The mawemnent in the employees’ end of service obligation was as follows:

2018 w017

AED'000 AED'000

Balance at 1 January 512,346 75,934
Increase due to acquisition - 455,300
Met charge during the year 66, 285 47,920
FPaid during the year {111,353) 169, TEL}
Other adjustments 5,329 2,953
Balanoce at 31 December 472,607 512346

Defined cantribution plan

The Group pays contributions for its eligible employees which are treated as defined comribution plane. The charge for
the year imrespect of these contributions is AED 89,955 thousand (2017 AED 91,472 thowsand). As at the reporting date,
pension payable of AED 10,795 (2017 AED 16,576 thousond) has been dlassified under ot her labdlities.

Overseas income tax

The Group has provided for overseas income tax in accordance with management's estimate of the total amount payable
based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting date, Where appropriate the Group has made
payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated liabilities,

The owverseas income tax charge for the year is calculated based wpon the adjusted net profit for the year, The movernent

in the provision was as follows:

2018 07

AED'000 AED'DO0

Balance at 1 Jamuary 160,884 43,680
Increase due to acquisition . 171,411
Charge for the year 325,004 224, 989
Overseas income tax paid, net of recoveries (293,342) {278,196)
At 31 December 192,546 160,884

25 Capital and reserves
Share Capital

2018 w7

AED'000 AED'DO0

Ordinary shares af AED 1 each 10,897,545 10,897,545
Treasury shares of AED 1 each 25,530 42,433
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
25 Capital and reserves {continued)

Share Capital {continued}

At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held an 25 February 2018, the shareholders of the Bank approved a cash dividend
of AED Q.70 per ordinary shares amouwnting to AED 7,628 million.

Statutory and special reserves

In accordance with the Bank®s Articles of Assoclation and the requirements of the Union Law Mo. (10) of 1980, a minimum
of 10% of the annual net profit should be transferred to both statwtory and special reserve until each of these reserves
equal to 50% of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available for distribution to the
sharehalders,

Dividends

The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 December:

2018 2017
AED 000 AED'000
Dividend on ordinary shares paid during the year 7,578,784 4,489,524
Other reserves
Other reserves intlude the following:
Foreign
CEATemRY IFRS & IFRS &
Folr worlue General translohlo  Rewalvot FESETWE « FPSETVE —
e FEIERVE A FEREVE 0N reTRRA ipecific  collectine Total

AED OO0 AED" OO0 AEDC OO0 AED OO0 AED'DO0 AE D OO0 AED 000

As at 1 lanuanyg 2017 412,790 10,000 [&8,327) 280801 . . 75,064

Other comprehensive income
for thee period 212 A0 - 25,152 - - - 137,672
B4 5t 31 Decembser 2017 625,210 120,000 {63,075) 280,601 - - 962,736
A% at 1 lanuary 2018 625,210 120,000 {63,075] 280,601 = - 962,736

Irrpaet of adapting [ERS 9 at 1
January 2048 (nate ) {184,078 - - - - - [(184078)
441,132 120,000 {63,075) 280,601 - . TT8, 658

Other comprehensive incoms
for the period |1,039,153] - (247258 - - = {1,287,008]
Transfer during the year - 108,265 . - - . 108,385
IFRS 9 resersa movement - - - - 297 521 4 088 362,509
{558,021] 228265  (310,931) 20,601 297 611 64,988 (37477}
S — I — e — e

(i} Fair value reserve
Thee fair value reserve includes the curmulative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, until the investment

is derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve.
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25 Capital and reserves {continued)
(i} Fair value reserve
2018 017
AED'000 BED'QO0
Reveluation reserve — instraments af FYOCT
At 1 January 677,495 413171
Impact of adapting IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 {184,078) -
Festated balance at 1 lanuary 493417 413,171
Ret unrealised gains during the year {1,137 667} G35,883
Met curnulative realised gains recognised inthe
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the wear 136,412 {371,559}
Impact af ECL {5,029) -
At 31 December {512,867) 677,495
Hedging reserve — cash flow hedge
At 1 Jarwaary (52,285) 1381)
Changes in fair value (32,869) {51,904)
At 31 December (85,154} 152,285}
Total at 31 December {5598,021) 625,210

The hedging reserde comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
instrumens related 1o hedged transactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer frarn eash flow hedge
reserve 1o profit or loss,

(i) General reserve
The general reserve is avallable for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of Directors,

(Wi}  Revaluation resernve

The revaluation reserve of AED 280,601 thouwsand (2017 AED 280,601 thousand) is related 1o land included under
property and equipment,

[i¥h Foreign currency translation reserve
Fareign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from transtation of the net investment
in foreign operations. During the year, there has been no significant transfer from forelgn cwrrency translation reserve
to prafit or loss,

[w) IFRS 9 reserve

In accordance with CEUAE crcular, in case where provision under CBUAE guidance exceed pravision under IFRS 9, the
exoeid i required to be transferred 1o IFRS 9 reserve. The details of the same as below:

2018
AED'000

Impairment reserve - Specific
Specific pravisions under Circular 2872010 of CBUAE 6,723,798
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 6,426,177
Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve 297,621
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
25 Capital and reserves [rontinued)
Other reserves (continued)
[wv)  IFRS 9 reserve (continued)
s
AED'000
Impairment reserve — Callective
Collective pravisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 6,408,021
Less: Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9 6,343,033
Collective provision transferred to the impairment reserve 64,988
26 Tier 1 capital notes
2018 017
AED 000 AED'DOOD
Government of Aba Dhabi Notes AED £,000,000 8,000,000
[6 month EIBOR plus 2.3 percent per annum)
S0 750 million Motes usn 2,754,750 2,754,750
[5.25 percent fixed rate until 2020, thereafter 5 year mid
swap rate plus 3.35 percent per annum}
10,754,750 10,754,750

Tier 1 capétal nates are perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry coupons to be paid semi-annually in arrears. The
Bank may elect not ta pay a coupon at its own discretion. The note halder does not have a right 1o < airm the coupon and
an election by the Bank not to service coupan is not comsidered an event of default. In addition, there are certain
circumstances under which the Bank is prohibited from making 2 coupon payment on a relevant cougon payment date,

1 thee Bank makes a non-payment election of 3 non-payment event securs, then the Bank will not (a) declare ar pay any
digtribution or dividend or (b} redeern, purchase, cancel, reduce or atherwise acquire any of the share capital or any
securities of the Group ranking pari passu with or jundor 1o the Hotes except securities, the term of which stipulate a
mandatory redemption or conversion into equity, in each case unless or until two consecutive coupon payments have
been paid in full,

During the year, caupan payment election wat made by the Bank inthe amount of AED 495,047 thousand (31 December
2017 AED 381,089 thousand),

27 Share option scheme
NBAD had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme”) for selected employees which would vest
over three years and can be exercised within the next three years after the vesting period. The key vesting condition is
that the aption holder is in continued employment with the Group until the end of the westing period. The options lapse
sin years after their date of grant imespective of whether they are exercised or nat.

Thee Groug established a subsidiany to issee shares when the vested option is exercised by the employee, These shares
are treated as treasury shares until exercised by the option hoiders,

As part of the merger, the Group has cantinued the scheme with the same terms and conditions. Employees exercising
under the NBAD share option scheme shall be granted shares of the new entity.

107

299/337



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
Jall by dd iy

Firit Al Dbl Sl

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)

27 Share option scheme (continued)

Post-merger and up to the date of staternent of financial position, 16,903 thowsand options (31 December 2017: 4399
thousand) had been exercised by the option holders resulting in an increase in the total share capital by AED 16,5903
thousand (31 December 2017; AED 4,399 thousand] and share premium by AED 161,399 thousand (21 December 2017;
AED 29626 thowsand).

28 Interest income

2018 2017
AED'D00 AED'DO0

Interest fram;
Central banks 968 840 339,707
Banks and financial institutions 1,040,394 452 859
Reverse repurchase agreements 388,117 261,919
Inwestments at fair value through profit or loss 385,429 352,009
Mon-trading investments 1,310,733 1,738,032
Loans and advances 16,742,891 13,187.171

21,836,404 16,331,787

e
29 Interest expense
2018 2017
AED"000 AED'000
Interest ta:
Banis and financial institutions 800,414 SE3.EI0
Repurchase agreements 706,723 373,651
Commercial paper 432,428 163,419
Customer accounts and other deposits 5,307,623 2,648,424
Term borrowings 1,542 847 1,150,740
Subordinated notes 20,410 15,540
8,810,445 4,935,504
30 MNet fee and commission income

2018 2017
AED'000 AED000

Fee and commission income
Trade finance 1,053,033 B558,577
Collection services 33,569 34,756
Brokerage income 25,535 32,806
Asset management and investment services 141,906 82,837
Ireestments, desivatives and risk participation 7,080 4,516
Retail and corporate lending 1333257 1012525
Cards and e-services 1,885 819 1,585,675
Accounts related services 60,165 B4, 023
Commission on transfers 115,273 96,318
COthers 224,341 227,028
Total fee and commissicn income 4,873,988 4,026,061
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30 Net fee and commission income (continued)
2018 017
AED'000 AED'D00
Fes and commission expense
Brokerage cammission 42,530 218,224
Handling charges 32,548 23740
Credit card charges 1,086,500 815,540
Fetail and corporate lending 306,250 228,016
Cthers 19,348 33,686
Total fee and commission expense 1,487 616 1,125,206
Net fiee and commission income 3,392,372 2,897,855
31 Net foreign exchange gain
2018 2017
AED'000 AED'O00
Trading and retranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives! 1,776,161 B40,543
Dealings with custamers 266,319 287,645
2,042,480 928,188

! Due to effective hedging strategies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains from sale
of non-trading investments (nate 32).
Includes negative interest incorme of AED 285,44 million (2017 AED 213 million) arising from placement with ECB.

32 Net gain on investments and derivatives

2018 2017
AED'DO00 AED'O00

Met realised and unrealised gain on investments at fair valoe
through prefit or loss and derivatives 891,001 264,021
Met (loss) f gain fram sale of non-trading investments (135,412) 371,559
Dividend incame 71616 20,551
826,225 686,131
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
33 Other Operating Income
2018 07
AED'000 AED'000
Imvestment property (loss) [ income {75,574) 331,960
Leasing related income 106,905 95,824
Other income! 127,375 44,306
158,706 472,090
e
Includes gain on sale of property and equiprent amounting to AED 111.4 million (2017 AED 2.2 millian)
34 General, administration and other operating expenses
2018 w7
AED'000 AED'000
Staff costs 3,167377 2,782,316
Other general and administration expendes 1,686,352 1,611,022
Depredation (motels) 235,586 311,418
Intanmgible amortisation (nate 16) 201,663 159,156
Sponsorships and donations 37,577 37,584
5,328,555 4,901,4%
I e}
35 Met impairment charge
2018 am7
AED'000 AED'DO0
Impairment charge on
leans and advances 2,107,219 2,362,297
other financial aseets 33,147 843
unfunded exposure {326,543) -
Recoveries. {303,770) (297,777}
Write-off of impaired financlal assets 215,741 21,354
1,725,794 2,086,717

36 Overseas income tax expense

In addition ta adjustments relating to deférred taxation, the charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted
net profit for the year at rates of tax applicable in respective cwerseas locations.

The charge 1o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year was as fallows:

2018 2017

AED'000 BED'DOO

Charge for the year 325,004 224,989
I
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
37 Cash and cash equivalents
2018 2017
AED'000 AEDD00
Cash and balances with Central Banks 183,165,520 138,111,054
D from banks and financial institutions 19,226,248 13,829,490

202,391,768 151,940,544

Less: Balances with Central Banks maturing after theee months of placerment {1B,726,908) (10,186,771}
Less: Due fram banks and finandal institutions maturing after three months
of placement (7,987 484) (7,147 858}

175677376 134,605,917

38 Commitments and contingencies

The Groug, In the ordinary course of business, enters into various types of transactions that invole undertaking certain
cammitments such as letters of credit, guarantees and undrawn laan commitments,

There were no other significant changes in contingent Habilities and commitments during the year ather than thaose
arising out of normal course of business,

2018 2017

AED"O0 AED'D00

Letter of credit 58,955,337 48,863,532
Letters of guarantees 104,804,326 102,810,624
Financial guarantees 285,311 763,441
Trade contingencies 165,134,974 152,437,597
Undrawm commitment to extend credit 45,654,602 42,583,794
Commitments for future capital expenditure G91,968 1,051,386
Commitments for future private equity investments 773,322 GE5. 495
Commitments for operating lease payments 200,574 169,950
47,624,466 45,190,625

Total commitments and contingenches 212,755,440 197,628,222

Credit risk characteristics of these wnfunded facilities closely resemble the Ffunded facilities a5 described
in nate 5 are neither past due nor impaired.

Letters of credit and guarantee {*Trade contingencies™) caommit the Group to make payments on behalf of customers”
contingent upon the production of documents or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract.

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend loans and revalving credits, Commitrments
generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require a payment of a fee, Since

commitrments may expire without being drawn upon, the total contracted amounts do nat necessarily represent future
cash reguirements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
38 Commitments and contingencies (comtinged)
Commitmenits for operating lease payments are payable as follows:
2018 w7
AED'000 AED'000
Less than one year 62,058 594,707
Between one and five year 115,996 61,662
Maore than five year 18480 13,581
Total commitments 200,574 165,950

Financial guarantee contracts includes credit default agreements entered with banks and financial institutions
amounting to AED 73.46 million {201 7: AED 185 milion) which are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

Financial guarantee contracts mainly pertain 1o the banks and financial institutions,

Concentration by lacation:
Undrawn loan Trade contingencies
Commitments

2018 2017 2018 2017
AED'O0O0 AEDOO0 AED'O00 AED'O00
LIAE 24,865,542 19,803,169 118692398 105507814
Eurape 7,422,210 9,743,421 19,593,289 42,880,522
Arab countries 4,202,963 2,635,163 6,967,012 E.366,324
Americas 3035469 3,703,440 11,956,195 5.B43,811
Asia 3,659,085 2,814 846 7,755,276 B,954,804
Cthers. 2,474,333 4,283,755 169,804 787822

45,653,602 42,983,794 165134974 152,437,597

39 Derivative financial instruments

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that invalve derivative financial
instruments. Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of underlying items such as
equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commodities and equity or other indices. Derivatives
enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market risks, Derivative fnancial instruments incdude
forwards, futures, swaps and options. These transactions are primarily entered with banks and finandial institutions.

Forwards and futures

Currency forwards represent cammitments 1o purchase foareign andfor domestic currencies, including non -deliverabile
spot transactions (i.e, the frangaction is net settled), Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate
futures that call for a cash settlerment at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate of interest and the
current market rate, based on a notional principal amount. Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractwal
obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign
currency ar a financial instrument on a future date at a specified price, established in an organised financial market. The
credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as they are collateralised by cash or marketable securities, and changes in
the Futures” cantract value are settled daily with the exchange.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (confinued)
i9 Derivative financial instruments {continued)

Swaps

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments 1o exchange one set of cash flows for ancther. Swaps result in an
economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate} or a combination of all these
{i.e.. cross-currency interest rate swaps), No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain cross currency swaps.
The Groug's credit risk represents the potential loss if courterparties fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk (£ monitared
an an angoing basis with reference 1o the eurrent fair value, notional amourt of the contracts and the liquidity of the
market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses counterparties using the same techaiques as for its
lending acthvities.

Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller [writer) grants the purchaser (holder} the right, but not the
obligation, either to buy (a call option} or <ell (a put option) at ar by a set date or during a set period, 2 specific amaunt
af a financial instrument at & predetermined price. The seller receives a premium fram the purchaser in consideration
for the assumption of risk. Options may be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Group and 3 custormer
owver the counter [OTC).

Dwerivatives are measured at fair value by reference to published price quatations in an active market, Where there is no
active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components using appropriate
pricing or valuation models lfke counterparty prices or valuation technigques such as discounted cash flows, market prices,
yield curves and other reference marker data,

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to
their fair values, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The notional amount is the
amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured, The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions ocutstanding at year end and are
neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

39 Derivative financial instruments {cantinued)

The positive [ negative falr value in respect of derivatives represents the gain/loss respectively, arising on fair valuation
of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future losses, as a similar
pasitive [ negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged loans and advances, non-trading
investments, term borrowings and subardinated notes,

As at December 31, 2018, the Group recefved cash coflateral of AED 1,136.5 milllon (201 7: AED 1,017.2 mitllon) against
positive fair value of derivative assets from certain counterparties. Correspondingly, the Growp placed cash collateral of
AED 6,124.4 (2017 AED 7, 7221 miffion)] against the negative fair value of derivative liabilities.

Derivative related credit risk:

This is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group., These transactions are primarily
entered with banks and financial institutions.

Derivatives held for trading

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage its expasure 1o foreign currency,
Interest rate and credit risks or initiates positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable movement in prices,
rates or indices. The instruments used mainly include interest rate and currency swaps and forward contracts. The fair
values of those derivatives are shown in the table above,

Derivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses derivative financial Instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability management
strategy by taking offsetting positions in arder to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in exchange and interest rates.
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value arising from specifically identified interest
bearing assets such as laans and advances, non-trading investments, term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group
uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge against specifically identified currency risks.

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge

The Group uses farward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instraments. The Group
has substantially matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge relationship.

a0 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of four key Business sepments across Geographic segments that are driving the business
strategy, customer valee propositions, products and channel development and customer relationships in addition 1o
supparting the defivery of the Group’s financial performance.,

Business segments

Corporate & Investment Banking (“CIB")

Covers corporate and instinutional clients through dedicated client segments (Corparate Banking, Institutional Banking,
Cemmercial Banking, Privileged Clients Grougs and Financial Institutions). QB offers Credit facilities, Ghobal Tranzaction
Services, Corparate Finance, Islamic Finance and Global Markets products to both UAE and international clients.

Personal Banking Group (*PBG™)

The business targets retail, affluent, high net-worth customers, |slamic consumer finance and SME customer segments.
The products’ ranges affered indlude every day banking products such as current accounts, deposits, credit cards, loans,
sophisticated investnent solutions, business banking products and services, The business furnishes variety of
distribution and sales channels, induding mobile and internet banking, branches, direct sales agents and through its
banking subsidiaries namely Dubal First, Aseel and First Abu Dhabl kslamic Finance.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

40 Segmental information (continued)

Subsidiaries

The business includes a diversified business model supported by complementary offerings provided across real estate,
property management, brokerage and conventional banking. This business covers subsidiaries partally or fully awned
by the Group, namely FAB Properties, ADNP, Mismak, FAB Securities and First Gulf Libyan Bank.

Head office

The Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, operations, finance, strategy, investor
relations, risk management, credit management, corporate communications, legal & compliance, internal audit,
procurensent, Ireasury oparations, integratian management office and administrative support ta all of its business ungs.,

Geographlc segments

The Group s managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and representative
offices within the two defined geographic segments which are UAE and International. International business Is further
sub-divided into two sub-segments which are Evrope, Americas, Middle East and Africa ("EAMEA”) and Asia Pacific
("APACT).

=  Euvrope, Americas, Middle East and Africa [EAMEA)
FAB network in the EAMEA region is operated through its presence in United States of America, Brazil, United
Kingdom, France, Switzerland, Oman, Bahrain, Clatar, Egypt, Sudan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Jordan, and Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia,

= Asia Pacific [APAC])

FAB's business in the Asia region is run through its presence in Singapore, Hong Kong, Korea, China, Malaysia and
India.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

41 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period after deduction of Tier 1 capital notes payment
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissoe during the period as set out belaw:

2018 2017
Basic earnings per share:
Met prafit for the year (AED0D0) 12,010,820 9,132,648
Less: payment on Tier 1 capital notes (AED'000) {495,047) (381,085}
Net prafit afier payment of Tier 1 capital notes [AED OO0} 11,515,773 8,751,559
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Hurnber of shares issued  deemed 1o be outstanding
from the beginning of the period ('000) 10,855,112 5,543,000
‘Weighted average number of shares deemed
to be issued an reverse aequisition (000} - 3,923,620
Weighted average number of shares exercised
under the share options scheme (000) B399 3473
Weighted average number of ardinary shares {000} 10,863,511 9,570,093
Basic earnings per share (AED] 1.06 091
- — ] = o
Diluted earnings per share:
Met prafit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes [AED OO0} 11,515,773 8,751,559
Add: Interest on convertibie mote (AED'000) 18,801 25,683
Met prafit far the year for caleulating diluted earnings per share [AED000] 11,534,574 8,777,242
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ['000} 10,863,511 9,570,093
Effect af dilutive patential ordinary shares Bsued ('000) 28,606 97,861
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under share options schemse ['000) 10,468 5115
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in lssue for
diluted earnings per share ('000) 10,902,585 9,673,0m9
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 106 0.91
o —_—
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

42 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related IF one party has the ability to contral the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions, Related parties comprise major shareholder, directars
and key management personnel of the Group, Key management personnel comprise those execulive committes
members "EXCO™ of the Group whao are invalved incthe strategic planning and decision making of the Group. The terms
of thess transactions are approved by the Group’s management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors
or management.

28 m7
Senior
management
and related Major
entities sharcholders Total Tatal
AED 00D AED'D00 AED'000 AEDDOD

Balances with reloted parties ot the reporting date ane shown below:

Financial assets 2,054,256 11,003,008 13,057,304 12,575,875
Financial liabilities 5,770,117 7,026,995 16,797,112 16.664,072

_—— —— ——— _—
Cantingent liabilities 1,839,901 19,686,726 21,526,627 13,392,398

Tronsactions carried out during the yeor ended with reloted porties ore shown below:

2018 017

[tesest incame 91,863 398,410 490,273 301,388
N

Interest expense 406,519 137,901 544,420 224,799
A

43 Business Combination

On 7 December 2006, the shareholders of First Gulf Bank [“FGR”) and National Bank of Abu Dhabi [*"NBAD") approved
the merger of FGB and NBAD. The merger was effected through a share-swap tranzaction at an exchange ratio of 1,354
HBAD shares for every one share of FGB. The merger Is accounted for as a reverse acquisition.

FGB shares were delisted from the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange and NBAD issuved 5,643 million new shares to the
sharehalders of FGB. Following the completion of the merger, FGB sharehalders owned approximately 52 percent of the
combined Bank and HEAD shareholders owned appraximately 48 percent.

The merger transaction is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3 - Business Combinations. IFRS 3 requires that an
acquirer be identified in any business combination and acquisition accounting principles be applied. PGB was identified
as the "accounting acquirer” in this transaction, The principles of reverse acquisition were used to reflect the acquisition
of NBAD by FGB, effective 1 April 2017,

The merger was effected 1o ereate 3 new Bank with the financial strength, expertise and glabal network to aceelerate
growth in the UAE economy and drive the country's international business relationships,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
43 Business Combination {continued)
a. Purchase consideration

The purchase consideration is determined to be AED 53,572 million, calculated on the basis of FGR's dosing share price
of AED 12.90 per share on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange on 30 March 2017,

The consideration is computed as follows:

Cutstanding shares of FGB [units'000} 4,500,000
Divided by: FGB sharehalder's percentage ownership in the Group 52.01%
Total number of shares of the Group (units'000) B,652 881
Muiltiplied by NBAD sharehalder's percentage awnership in the Group 47.99%
Hurnber of shares issued by FGB to NBADS sharehalders units'000) 4,152,881

I
Mudtiplied by: Share price of FGB on transaction date 12.90
Tatal consideration (AEDDDO) 53,572,167

I

b. Integration related costs

The Group incurred Integration-related costs of AED 295 million (2017 AED 473 miffion} relating to consultant and
external begal fees and due ditigence costs, These costs have been incleded in ‘General, administrative and other
aperating expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

[ Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The follawing table summarises the fair value of assers scquired and liabilities assumed on the date of aequisitian.

31 Mar 2017
AED'000

Assets
Cash and balances with cenfral banks 112819619
Irvestments at fair value through profit or loss 16,077,659
Due fram banks and financial Institutions 9,356,896
Rewerse repurchase agréements 17,876,372
Dwerivative financial instruments 9,250,077
Loans and advances 207,807,269
Non-trading imeestments 47,105,716
Other assets 8,517,134
Investment properties 45,106
Progerty and equipment 1,841,308
Intangible assets = Custorner relationships 1,604,716
Intangible assets — Core deposits 5E3,335
Intangible assets - License 368,700
Total assets 433,693,907
L]
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
43 Business Combination {continued)

d. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed [continued)

31 Mar 2017
AED 0D

Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institutions 40,983,859
Repurchase sgréements 6,600,187
Commercial paper 11,576,634
Derivative financial instrements 11,727,613
Custarmer accaunts and othér deposits 172,994,885
Term borrowings 31,308,591
Oher liabilities 14,399,305
389,551,074
Subardinated notes. 365,234
Tier 1 capital notes 6,754,750
Share aption scherme 235,798
Convertible notes - equity component 108,265
Total liabilities 397,455,121
e
MNBAD net assets as at acquisition date attributable to its common equity holders 36,238,786

(-2 Goodwill and Intangibles

The Group has assumed the carrying value of MBAD s financial assets and lizbilities as a1 31 March 2017 10 be equal to
their fair value for the purpose of calculating goodwill:

AEDYO00
Tatal consideration 53,572,167
MBAD net assets value {36,238,785)
Goodwill 17,333,381

The Graug has completed a comprehensive purchase price allocation within twelve months from the acquisition date
and following items are covered:

valuation of intangible assets including core deposing, license and ather customer relationships;
valuation of properties and equipment;

valuation adjustments on other recognised financial and non-finandal assets and liabilities; and
initial adjustments to fair value of loans and advances,

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating NBAD into the Group,
f. Impact on Group's results

If the acquisition had occurred an 1 lanuary 2017, management estimate that consolidated operating income and profit
wauld be AED 19,533 millign and AED 10,915 million respectively for the period 1 lanuary 2017 till 31 December 2017,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

44 Change in accounting policy

Prior to the merger between FGB and NBAD, both banks maintained accounting records and prepared financial
staternents in accordance with IFRS and complied with the regulations of CBUAE. In order to facilitate compliance each
bank had in place their own st of accounting policies.

Following the merges, FAR's management embarked on a journey to harmonise these accounting policies in order to
determine a comman set of accounting polides to be adopted by FAB. Following were the three key accounting policies
which were harmaonised:

*  Harmonisation of the rating scales - the Customer Risk Rating ['CRR') scales of MBAD and FGB have been
harmonised to create one set of CRR scales to be followed by FAB. Key driver for the harmaondsation of the
policy is to provide the wsers of the financial statements with more refiable and consistent financial
information, Mo new information was used in determining the revised rating scales and for the adjustment
caleulated as result of the harmonisation of this palicy.

*  Fair volugtion odiustments — accounting palicies in refation 1o fair valuation adjustments, for instance bid-
offer reserves, were harmonised for the combdned bank, Accounting standards permits entities 1o use a choioe
of pricing conventions ar practical expedients in order o determine fair value of instruments. The Group has
harmonised fair valuation adjustments to ensure the pricing conventions used by the Group provide more
reliable approximation of the exit price for the securities held.

*  Recognition of fees income — the Group has harmonised the combined Bank's accounting policies in order 1o
consistently determine the fees which are recognised upfront or amortised aver the life of the Loans and
Advances and other finandal products provided by the Bank.

Changes in accounting policies have been accounted for retraspectively through an adjustment of opening retained
ERArNings.

45 Fiduciary activities

The Group held assets under management In trust or in a fiduciary capacity for its customers at 31 December 2018
amounting o AED 7,667.91 million (2017 7, 782.85 millfon). Furthermore, the Groug prowides custodian services for
some of its customers,

The undertying assets heldin 2 custodial or fiduciary capacity are excheded from these cansolidated financial statements
af the Group.

46 Special Purpose Entities

The Groug has created Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) with defined objectives to earry an fund management and
investment activities on behall af customers, The equity and imeestments managed by the SPEs are not controlled by the
Group and the Group does not obitain benefits from the SPEs operations, apart from commissions and fee income. In
addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or assume any liabilities of these entities. Consequently, the SPEs’
assets, liabilities and results of operations are not induded in these consolidated financial staternents of the Group. The
SPEs are a5 follows:

Country of Holding
Legal name Activities incarparation 2018
e share PLE Imwestment Company Republbc of lreland 100k
NEBAD Private Equity 1 Fund Management Cayman Island LB
NBAD {Cayman] Limited Fund Management Cayman Island 100%

47 Comparative figures

In addition to the changes in the accounting policy impact highlighted in Note 44, certain comparative figures have been
reclassified where appropriate to conform to the presentation adopted in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
48 Other disclosures

As at 31 December 2018, exposure of the Group in Abraaj Holdings amounted to AED 81 million. This exposure is Tully
collateralized by charge over interest in Abraaj Private Equity Fund IV, The Infrastructure and Growth Capital Fund and
Perfect Holding Limited,
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2014 12 31 2015 12 31 2016 12 31 2017 12 31 2018 12 31

33.07 34.20 32.98 32.06 31.08

27.49 31.64 27.19 29.36 28.54

28.84 32.96 29.61 30.54 30.08

32.58 32.74 31.86 30.68 29.88

2018 12 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019
30.95 29.93 30.33 30.49 30.49 30.33
29.87 29.44 29.84 29.93 30.20 29.58
30.53 29.68 30.08 30.26 30.39 29.94
29.39 2019 20

UFJ
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29 29 12 31 30 29

30 30 30 30 28
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2018 12 31
IFRS
2018 12 31
ISA
IESBA
( UAE )
IESBA
2 35
IFRS IFRS 2018 1 1
ECL
IFRS 2018 1 1
IFRS

ECL
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ECL
ECL
SICR
SICR
ECL
FRM
FRM
ECL IT
IT
ECL
SICR SICR
ECL

IFRS
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16 43

2018
2017

GCU

ceu

CGU

ceu

IT

IT
IT
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IFRS 2015 UAE

1SA

1SA
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2015 UAE
2015 UAE
13 2018 12 31
42
2018 12 31
2018 12 31 2015 UAE
34

2018 14
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Independent Auditors Report

To the Shareholders of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financid statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of First Abu Dhabi Bank P.J.S.C. (the
“Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “ Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Staterents section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the consolidated financial statementsin the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financia statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements asawhole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment of loans and advances

Refer to note 4 for transition impact and notes 12 and 35 of the consolidated financial statements
for year-end disclosures.

IFRS 9 “Financia Instruments’ (“IFRS 9") was adopted by the Group on 1 January 2018 and has
resulted in:

change in accounting for impairment from an incurred loss model to an expected credit loss

model (“ECL") which involves complex estimates and judgements;

0O  transition adjustments recognised in retained earnings on 1 January 2018, being the date of
adoption of IFRS 9;

0O use of statistical models and methodologies for determination of expected credit |osses;

0O  significant change in processes, data and control that have not been subject to testing

previoudly; and

0O complex disclosure requirements regarding impact of initial application of IFRS 9 and
explanation of key judgements and material inputs used in determination of expected credit
losses.

Given the inherently judgementa nature of computation of ECL for loans and advances, thisis
considered a key audit matter.

Our response

We have performed end to end process walkthroughs to identify the key systems, applications and
controls used in the ECL Process and to understand the governance framework around model
review, validation and approval of ECL model, data gathering and its integrity and underlying
estimates and assumptions used by management.

Our procedures included the following:

0O Testing key controls over the modelling process, including model review,

validation and approval;

0O Testing key controls over the accuracy of key inputs and appropriateness of key

assumptions and judgments used in the models;

Testing key controls over significant increase in credit risk (“ SICR”) criteria
involved testing controls relating to authorisation of the criteria and the application

of the criteriain the models;
O Testing key controls over internal credit grading (which isakey driver in
determining SICR) and monitoring process, to assess if the risk grades allocated to

counterparties were appropriately identified and updated on atimely basis,

O Testing key controls relating to the selection and implementation of material

economic variables and the controls over the scenario selection and probabilities;
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Testing key controls over the assessment of model outputs and authorisation and review of

post model adjustments and management overlays;

We involved our Financial Risk Modelling (“FRM”) specialiststo review the reasonableness
and appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions used in various components of

ECL modelling. Thisincluded challenging key assumptions/judgments relating to significant
increase in credit risk, definition of default, probability of default, recovery rates, use of
macro-economic variables and probability weighted outcomes. FRM specialists also re-
performed key elements of the Group’s models calculations and evaluated the models

performance results for accuracy;

We have involved our Information Technology (“1T”) specidiststo assist in testing the
relevant General 1T and Application Controls over Key Systems used in the ECL process;

Sample testing over key inputs and assumptions impacting ECL calculations including

economic forecasts and wei ghtages to confirm the accuracy of information used;

Re-performing key aspects of the Group’s SICR determinations and selecting samples of
financial instruments to determine whether a SICR was appropriately identified;

Selecting a sample of key post model adjustments and management overlays in order to
assess the reasonableness of the adjustments by challenging key assumptions, inspecting the
calculation methodology and tracing to source data on a sample basis;

Performing credit assessments for a sample of selected customers, including Stage 3
customers, to test the appropriateness of the credit grades at a given point in time and assess
the financia performance of the borrower, source of repayment and future cash flows of the
borrower to assess recoverability and ECL by comparing key assumptions to progress against
business plans and our own understanding of relevant industries and business environment
and where possible to externally derived evidence such as business performance and rea
estate valuations for assessing the appropriateness of collateral values held by the Group; and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure in relation to transition impact arising from
first time application of IFRS 9 and use of significant estimates and judgments by reference to

the requirements of the relevant accounting standards.
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Carrying value of goodwill

Refer to note 3 for significant accounting policies and notes 16 and 43 of the
consolidated financial statements for year-end disclosures.

During quarter one 2018, the Group finalised a purchase price allocation exercise in order to
calculate the carrying value of the National Bank of Abu Dhabi financial assets and liabilities as at
the date of acquisition being 1 April 2017. This resulted in the Group recognising goodwill within
its balance sheet which is subject to an annual impairment assessment.

Goodwill may be impaired if the carrying value of goodwill in the balance sheet is not supported
by the estimates of value-in-use of cash generating units ("CGUS") based on the estimated
discounted future cash flows of the underlying business.

The estimation of future cash flows and the assumptions involved in cal culating the discounted
value of these cash flows by CGUs both involve the application of management judgment and
estimation which is considered to be a significant risk.

Our response

Our proceduresincluded the following:

0O  For each of the CGUs we assessed the reasonabl eness of the cash flow projections
alongside with the growth rate assumption to externally available industry, economic

and financial data;
We involved our valuation specialists to critically assess the appropriateness of the discount
rates used in order to determine estimated discounted cash flows and benchmarking these

against external data sources and peer banks data;

O We performed sensitivity analysis over the estimated discounted future cash flows on

the sensitivity to the change in discount and growth rate estimates;

We performed an assessment over management’s ability to accurately forecast compared
to actual results based on historic data available; and

O We reviewed budgets approved by the Board Management Committee to critically assess
whether projected cash flows for the CGUs are in line with approved plans.
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IT systemsintegration and controls over financial reporting

Following the merger, we assessed the Group’s IT systems, including controls over financial
reporting due to the increased risk of error arising from the integration of some financial accounting
and reporting systems (“systems”) in the current financial year and also maintaining separate
systems after the merger up to the date of systems integration, in accordance with the phasing of
the system integration plan, resulting in the existence of manual elements within the process of
consolidation of the financial information from various sources. Those systems are dependent on
complex technology due to the extensive volume and variety of transactions which are processed
daily and thereis arisk that automated accounting procedures and related internal controls are not
accurately designed and operating effectively. Due to the complexity involved intheIT
environment, heightened by changes in the systems as a result of the merger, itis considered asa
key audit matter.

Our response

Our audit approach relies on automated controls and therefore our procedures are designed to test

access and control over relevant IT systems. We performed a combination of controls testing and

substantive testing in order to determine whether we could place reliance on the completeness and
accuracy of system generated information. We involved our IT audit specialists in the audit of the
Group's IT systems.

Our procedures included the following:

Obtained an understanding of management’s plans, processes and controlsin relation to
the Group IT systemsincluding detailed integration plans;

Reviewed the governance framework over the Group’s IT organization and testing the
controls over the program development and changes, access to programs and dataand I T

operations, including compensating controls where required;

0O  Assessed the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the controls over the integrity
of the IT systemsthat are relevant to financial reporting;

O Reviewed and tested the data migration process from decommissioned systems to target

systems used in the preparation of financial reporting;

O Reviewed and tested the detailed reconciliations performed by management to ensure all
balances transferred from the decommissioned systems to the relevant target systems are

complete and accurate; and

0O Tested the consolidation process and reconciled the audited in scope component
information to the consolidation workings of the Group to verify the completeness of the
information in the financial reporting systems used to prepare the consolidated financial
statements.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
Chairman’s statement, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our audit
report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this audit report, and the Group’s Annual
report which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility isto read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained prior to
the date of this auditors report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governarnice for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the applicable
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as awhole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is ahigh level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAswill aways
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materia if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

d

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of interna control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether amaterial uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosuresin the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financia statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financia statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin our auditors report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

) the consolidated financia statements have been prepared and comply, in all materia
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

) thefinancia information included in the Chairman’s statement, in so far asit relates to
these consolidated financial statements, is consistent with the books of account of the
Group;

) asdisclosed in notes 9 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has
purchased or invested in shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2018;

) note 42 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions
and the terms under which they were conducted;

) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federa Law
No.(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Group, its Articles of Association, which would
materially affect its activities or its consolidated financia position as at 31 December 2018;
and

) note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions made

during the year.
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Further, asrequired by the Decretal Federal Law No.(14) of 2018, we report
that we have obtained all the information and clarifications deemed necessary
for the purposes of our audit.

/9 Emilio Pera

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited
Emilio Pera

Registration number: 1146

Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates

Date: 31/01/2019
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